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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court No. Electronically Filed

District Court Case No. A-18-77278ag 15 2020 10:14 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerkof Supreme Court
VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company;

LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,
Petitioners,

V.

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, IN AND
FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK, AND THE HONORABLE KATHLEEN
DELANEY 1n her capacity as District Judge,

Respondent,

JOYCE SEKERA, an individual,

Real Party in Interest

APPENDIX TO PETITIONERS' REPLY BRIEF
Volume 14 (Exhibits 57-61)

Michael A. Royal, Esq. (SBN 4370)
Gregory A. Miles, Esq. (SBN 4336)
ROYAIL & MILES LLP
1522 W. Warm Springs Rd.
Henderson, Nevada 89014
Telephone: (702) 471-6777
Facsimile: (702) 531-6777

Email: mroyal@royalmileslaw.com

gmiles@royalmileslaw.com

Docket 80816-COA Document 2020-18568
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Petitioners, VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC and LAS VEGAS SANDS,

LLC, by and through their counsel of record, Royal & Miles LLP, hereby submit is

Appendix in compliance with Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 30.

INDEX/TABLE OF CONTENTS

Tab Document/Exhibit Description Bate Vol.
Number
1 | Complaint (filed April 14, 2018), Case A772761 VEN 001- 1
004
2 | Venetian Security Narrative Report, No. VEN 005- 1
1611V-0680 006
3 | Acknowledgment of First Aid Assistance & Advice | VEN 007 1
to Seek Medical Care, No. 1611V-0680
4 | Venetian Security Scene Photos VEN 008- 1
014
5 | Transcript of Joyce Sekera Deposition VEN 015- 1
(taken March 14, 2019) 032
6 | First Amended Complaint (filed June 28, 2019) VEN 038- 1
41
7 | Plaintiff’s Request for Production of Documents and | VEN 042- 1
Materials to Defendant (served August 16, 2018) 049
8 | Fifth Supplement to Defendants” 16.1 List of VEN 050- 1
Witnesses and Production of Documents For Early 053
Case Conference (served January 4, 2019)
9 | Defendants’ Motion for Protective Order VEN 054- 1
(filed February 1, 2019) 083
10 | Declaration of Peter Goldstein, Esq. VEN 084- 1
(Dated February 13, 2019) 085
11 | Defendants’ Reply to Plaintiff’s Opposition to VEN 086- 1
Motion for Protective Order (filed March 5, 2019) 139
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Tab Document/Exhibit Description Bate Yol.
Number

12 | Sekera’s Reply to Defendant Venetian Casino Resort, | VEN 140- 1
LLC’s Opposition to Sekera’s Motion for 185
Terminating Sanctions, in the matter of Smith v.
Venetian, case no. A-17-753362-C
(filed March 12, 2019)

13 | Recorder’s Transcript of Hearing [On] Defendant’s VEN 186- 1
Motion for Protective Order (March 13, 2019) 200

14 | Discovery Commissioner’s Report and VEN 201- 1
Recommendation (filed April 4, 2019) 206

15 | Transcript of Hearing on Objection to Discovery VEN 207- 2
Commissioner’s Report (May 14, 2019) 266

16 | Order (filed July 31, 2019) VEN 267- 2

270

17 | Motion for Leave to File Motion for Reconsideration | VEN 271- 2
on Order Reversing Discovery Commissioner’s 488
Report and Recommendation and Motion to Stay
Order Until Hearing On Reconsideration or,
Alternatively, Motion to Stay All Proceedings
Pending Application for Writ of Mandamus On
Order Shortening Time (filed August 12, 2019)

18 | Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order VEN 449- 2
Granting Petitioners’ Motion for Partial Summary 452
Judgment on Mode of Operation Theory of Liability
(filed July 23, 2019)

19 | Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Sekera’s | VEN 453- 2
Motion to Extend Discovery Deadlines and Continue | 455
Trial (Second Request) on Order Shortening Time
(filed August 28, 2019)

20 | Transcript of Hearing on Motion for Leave to File VEN 456- 3
Motion for Reconsideration (September 17, 2019) 483

21 | Court Minutes, Discovery Commissioner VEN 484- 3
(September 18, 2019) 485
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Tab Document/Exhibit Description Bate Yol.
Number

22 | Privacy Policy, The Venetian Resort Las Vegas (July | VEN 486- 3
7, 2019), https://www.venetian.com/policy.html 495

23 | Order Regarding Plaintiff’s Motion for Terminating | VEN 496-° 4
Sanctions for Willful Suppression of Evidence 498
Pursuant to Rule 37; and Defendant’s Related
Motion(s) to Strike

24 | Defendants’ Initial 16.] List of Witnesses and VEN 499- 4
Production of Documents for FEarly Case Conference | 508
(July 6, 2018)

25 | Documents Related to Termination of Gary Shulman | VEN 509- 4

514

26 | Notice of Taking Deposition (Gary Shulman) (April | VEN 515- 4
1,2019) 517

27 | Appendix to Petitioners’ Emergency Petition for Writ | VEN 518 - 5
of Mandamus and/or Writ of Prohibition Under 532
NRAP Rules 21(a)(6) and Emergency Motion
Staying Execution, Volume 1, 2 & 3, filed September
27,2019

28 | Appendix to Petitioners’ Reply Brief, Volume 4, VEN 533 - 5
filed October 28, 2019 537

29 | Petitioners’ Emergency Petition for Writ of VEN 538 - 5
Mandamus and/or Writ of Prohibition Under NRAP | 606
Rules 21(a)(6) and 27(e), filed September 27, 2019

30 | Emergency Motion Under NRAP § Staying VEN 607 - 5
Execution of Order Directing Petitioners to Disclose | 625
Private, Protected Information of Guests Not
Involved in Underlying Lawsuit, filed September 27,
2019

31 | Order Directing Answer and Imposing Temporary VEN 626 - 5
Stay, filed October 1, 2019 627

32 | Joyce Sekera’s Motion for Extending Briefing, filed | VEN 628 - 5
October 8, 2019 631
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Tab Document/Exhibit Description Bate Vol
Number
33 | Joyce Sekera’s Opposition to Appellants’ Emergency | VEN 632 - S
Motion for Stay Under NRAP 27(e), filed October 8, | 648
2019
34 | Joyce Sekera’s Answering Brief, filed October 11, VEN 649 - 5
2019 701
35 | Reply to Joyce Sekera’s Opposition to Petitioners’ VEN 702 - 5
Emergency Under NRAP 27(e), filed October 135, 710
2019
36 | Order Granting Stay, filed October 17, 2019 VEN 711 - 5
712
37 | Petitioners’ Reply Brief, filed October 28, 2019 VEN 713 - 5
749
38 | Defendants’ Motion for Protective Order as to VEN 750 - 6
Plaintiff’s Request for Production of Incident 936
Reports from May 1999 to Present, Motion to
Compel Information and Documents of Prior
Incident Reports Provided to Plaintiff Expert Thomas
Jennings and Identified in His May 30, 2019 Rebuttal
Report and for Leave to Retake the Jennings
Deposition to Address the 196 Prior Claims
Referenced in His Report at Plaintiff’s Expense, filed
August 5, 2019 |
39 | Notice of Hearing on Defendants® Motion for VEN 937 6

Protective Order as to Plaintiff’s Request for
Production of Incident Reports from May 1999 to
Present, Motion to Compel Information and
Documents of Prior Incident Reports Provided to
Plaintiff Expert Thomas Jennings and Identified in
His May 30, 2019 Rebuttal Report and for Leave to
Retake the Jennings Deposition to Address the 196
Prior Claims Referenced in His Report at Plaintiff’s
Expense, filed August 5, 2019
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- Tab Document/Exhibit Description Bate Vol.
Number
40 | Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel Testimony and VEN 938 - 6
Documents, filed August 5, 2019 988
989-1005 7
41 | Notice of Hearing on Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel VEN 1006 7
Testimony arid Documents, filed August 5, 2019
42 | Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel VEN 1007 7
Testimony and Documents and Countermotion to - 1228
Strike False Accusations Levied by Plaintiff in “I. 1229 2
Introduction” and “Legal Argument” Section “III.D.” 1476 )
With Appropriate Sanctions, filed August 14, 2019
1477 - 9
1486
43 | Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for a VEN 1487 9
Protective Order and Opposition to Defendants’ - 1719
Motion to Compel, filed August 30,2019
44 | Reply to Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendants’ VEN 1720 10
Motion for a Protective Order and Reply to - 1896
Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendants” Motion to
Compel, filed September 10, 2019
45 | Reply to Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendants’ VEN 1897 10
Countermotion to Strike False Accusations Levied by | - 1917
Plaintiff in “I. Introduction” and “l.egal Argument”
Section “l1I1.D.” With Appropriate Sanctions and
Opposition to Plaintiff’s Countermotion for Rule 11
Sanctions, filed September 11, 2019
46 | Plaintiff’s Reply in Support of Countermotion for VEN 1918 10
Rule 11 Sanctions, filed September 12, 2019 - 1921
47 | Hearing Transcript of Proceedings re: All Pending VEN 1922 10
Motions, dated September 18, 2019 - 1964
48 | Discovery Commissioner’s Report and VEN 1965 11
Recommendation, filed December 2, 2019 - 1975
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Tab Document/Exhibit Description Bate Vol
Number
49 | Defendants’ Limited Objection to Discovery VEN 1976 11
Commissioner’s Report and Recommendation dated | - 2204
December 2, 2019, filed December 16, 2019 2205 - 12
2222
50 | Plaintiff’s Objection to Discovery Commissioner’s VEN 2223 12
Report and Recommendation dated December 2, - 2391
2019, filed December 16, 2019
51 | Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiff’s Objection to VEN 2392 12
Discovery Commissioner’s Report and - 2444
Recommendation dated December 2, 2019, filed
December 23, 2019 2445 - 13
’ 2593
52 | Plaintiff’s Response to Defendant’s Limited VEN 2596 13
Objection to Discovery Commissioner’s Report and | - 2602
Recommendation dated December 2, 2019, filed
December 23, 2019
53 | Order for Hearing, filed January 2, 2020 VEN 2603 13
- 2615
54 | Court Minutes re: Objection to Discovery VEN 2616 13
Commissioner’s Report, January 21, 2020
55 | Hearing Transcript re: Objection to Discovery VEN 2617 13
Commissioner’s Report, January 21, 2020 - 2660
56 | Order on Objection to Discovery Commissioner’s VEN 2661 13
Report, filed March 13, 2020 - 2664
57 | Responses to Plaintiff's Requests for Production of | VEN 2665 14
Documents and Materials to Defendant, served -2671
October 9, 2018
58 | Supplemental Responses to Plaintiff's Requests for VEN 2672 14
Production of Documents and Materials to - 2678
Defendant, served January 4, 2019
59 | Email Correspondence Between Keith Galliher, Esq., | VEN 2679 14
and Michael Royal, Esq., dated August 16, 2019, - 2682
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Tab Document/Exhibit Description Bate Yol.
Number

60 | Stipulation and Order (filed August 30, 2019) VEN 2683 14
- 2687

61 | Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Compel (filed VEN 2688 14
July 12, 2019) - 2904

VEN 2905 15
- 3005

62 | Register of Actions VEN 3006 15

63 | Petition Granted in Court of Appeals matter No. VEN 3007 15
79689-COA (filed May 14, 2020) - 3020

The Appendix shall be contained in additional 2 separate volumes (15

volumes in total) in accordance with NRAP 30(c)(3) (2013), each volume

containing no more than 250 pages.

DATED this 2 ("Z day of May, 2020.

ROYAL & MILES LLP

Wbiand

h el Al Rdyal, Esq. (SBN 4370)
r . Miles, Esq. (SBN 4336)
1522 W Warm Springs Rd.
Henderson, NV 89014
(702)471-6777
Counsel for Petitioners
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby certify that I am an employee of the law firm of Royal & Miles LLP,
attorney's for Petitioners, VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC and LAS VEGAS
SANDS, LLC, and that on the jcl day of May, 2020, I served true and correct
copy of the foregoing APPENDIX TO PETITIONERS' REPLY BRIEF
Volume 14 (Exhibits 57-61), by electronically filed with the Clerk of the Court by
using ECF service which will provide copies to all counsel of record registered to

the receive CM/ECF notification to the following:

Keith E. Galliher, Jr., Esq.
THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM
1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Suite 107
Las Vegas, NV 89014

and
Sean K. Claggett, Esq.
William T. Sykes, Esq.
Geordan G. Logan, Esq.
CLAGGETT & SYKES LAW FIRM
4101 Meadows Lane, Suite 100
Las Vegas, NV §9107

Attorneys for Real Party in Interest

MMy it

A e

An employee 0@ Royal & Miles LLP
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ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
10/9/2018 2:01 PM

RFP

Michael A. Royal, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 4370

Gregory A. Miles, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 4336

ROYAL & MILES LLP

1522 West Warm Springs Road
Henderson Nevada 89014

Tel:  702-471-6777

Fax: 702-531-6777

Email: mroyal‘@royalmileslaw.com
Attorneys for Defendants
VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC and
LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JOYCE SEKERA, an Individual: CASE NO.: A-18-772761-C
DEPT. NO.: XXV
Plaintiff,

V.

VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC, d/b/a
THE VENETIAN LAS VEGAS, a Nevada
Limited Liability Company; LAS VEGAS
SANDS, LLC d/b/a THE VENETIAN LAS
VEGAS, a Nevada Limited Liability Company;
YET UNKNOWN EMPLOYEE; DOES 1
through X, inclusive,

Defendants.

RESPONSES TO PLAINTIFE’S REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS
AND MATERIALS TO DEFENDANT

TO:  Plaintiff JOYCE SEKERA; and
TO: Keith E. Galliher, Jr., Esq.; her attorney:

Pursuant to Rules 26 and 36 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, Defendant VENETIAN
CASINO RESORT, LLC, and LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC, by and through their counsel, ROYAI &
MILES LLP, responds to Plaintiff’s first requests for production of documents and materials as

follows:
R:\Master Case Folder\383718'\Discevery\3Produce {Plaintiff) ist.wpd

Case Number: A-18-772761-C

VEN 2665
Docket 80816-COA Document 2020-18568
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REQUEST NO. 1:

All written, oral, or recorded statements made by any party, witness, or any other person or
persons with knowledge of the incident described in Plaintiffs Complaint.

RESPONSE NOQ. 1:

Defendants object to the extent this request secks information protected by attorney/client
privilege and/or attorney work product privilege. Without waiving said objection, Defendants refer
to their disclosures pursuant to NRCP 16.1, documents 2-9, and all supplements thereto. Discovery
is continuing.

REQUEST NO. 2;

Any and all accident and investigative reports, films, video tapes, charts, plats, drawings, maps
or pictures and/or photographs of any kind which has, as its subject matter, the incident described in
Plaintiffs Complaint.

RESPONSE NO. 2:

See Response No. 1,

REQUEST NO. 3:

A complete copy of the Defendant's insurance carriers and/or risk management pre-litigation
claim file.

RESPONSE NO. 3:

Objection. Thisrequest lacks foundation, assumes facts notin evidence, seeks information that
is protected from disclosure by the attorney/client and/or attorney work product doctrine. Without
waiving said objection all known discoverable documents regarding the investigation ofthe loss have
been produced. See Defendants’ NRCP 16.1 early case conference disclosures, documents 2-9, and

all supplements thereto. Discovery is continuing.

R:AMaster Case Folder\383718\Discovery\3Produce (Plaintiff) 1st.wpd - 2-

VEN 2666
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REQUEST NO. 4.

The names of all expert witnesses or consultants that Defendant will use at the time of trial
along with any reports produced by the same,

RESPONSE NO. 4:

Objection. This request is premature. Defendants’ expert disclosures containing the requested
information will take place as set forth in the court's scheduling order. It is also an improper request
for production of documents.

REQUEST NQ. §:

Any and all sweep sheets, sweep logs, or other similar documentation which reflects the
maintenance and/or cleaning of the flooring located within the VENETIAN CASINO RESORT
described in Plaintiffs Complaint for the day before, day of, and day after the incident described
therein.

RESPONSE NO., S:

Defendants object to the extent this request lacks foundation, assumes facts not in evidence,
is overly broad, vague and ambiguous. This request also presupposes that there was a foreign
substance on the floor causing Plaintiff's fall, which Defendants deny. It also incorrectly identifies the
subject premises as VENETIAN CASINO RESORT. This request further secks information not
reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence (ie. documents related to
November 5, 2016). Without waiving said objection, Defendants respond as follows: See documents
identified pursuant to NRCP 16.1, bates numbers VEN 044-106. Discovery is continuing.

REQUEST NO. 6:

True and correct copies of any and all manuals, documents, pamphlets, flyers, or other

memorandum which has, as its subject matter, the standard operating procedures with respect to the

R:\Master Case Folder\383718\Discovery\3Produce (Plaintiff) 1st.wpd - 3-

VEN 2667
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maintenance, cleaning and sweeping of the floors with respect to the VENETIAN CASINO RESORT
in which the fall occurred.

RESPONSE NO. §:

Defendant objects to the extent this request lacks foundation, assumes facts not in evidence,
and is further overly broad, vague and ambiguous. This request also presupposes that there was a
foreign substance on the floor causing Plaintiff's fall, which Defendants deny. also incorrectly identifies
the subject premises as VENETIAN CASINO RESORT. This request further seeks information not
reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Without waiving said objection,
Defendant responds as follows: See Response No. S,

REQUEST NO. 7:

True and correct copies of any and all claim forms, legal actions, civil complaints, statements,
security reports, computer generated lists, investigative documents or other memoranda which have,
as its subject matter, slip and fall cases occurring on marble floors within the subject VENETIAN
CASINO RESORT within three years prior to the incident described in Plaintiffs Complaint, to the
present,

RESPONSE NO. 7:

Defendants object to the extent this request lacks foundation, assumes facts not in evidence,
is overly broad, vague and ambiguous, unduly burdensome and presupposes there was a foreign
substance on the floor causing Plaintiff's fall, which Defendants deny. It also incorrectly identifies the
subject premises as VENETIAN CASINO RESORT. This request further seeks access to information
which is equally available to Plaintiff via public records, and otherwise seeks information that is not
reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Defendant objects as the request

as over broad and not properly tailored to the issues in this case. Without waiving said objection,

R:tMaster Case Folder\383718\Discovery\3Prochuce (Plaintiff) 1st.wpd = 4 -

VEN 2668
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Defendant responds as follows: Defendant is in the process of making a good faith effort to identify
information responsive to this request and will respond as soon as the information is collected.
Discovery is continuing.

REQUEST NO. 8:

Any and all documents, information, memoranda, paperwork, or other material which relates
to establishes, or otherwise pertains to the affirmative defenses alleged by the Defendant herein.

RESPONSE NO. §:

See Response No. 1.

REQUEST NO. 9:

Any surveillance video showing the Plaintiffs fall at the VENETIAN CASINO RESORT
from any other angle, other than the one shown in the video surveillance produced by the
Defendants thus far.

RESPONSE NO. 9:

.Defendants object to the extent this request incorrectly identifies the subject premises as
VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, and further that the term “surveillance video” is itself overly broad
and seeks information outside Defendants” knowledge, custody and control (i.e. videos taken by other
persons on the subject premises at the time). Without waiving said objection, Defendants respond as
follows: All known surveillance related to this matter was produced as Document No. 9 in Defendants’
NRCP 16.1 disclosure. Discovery is continuing.

REQUEST NO. 10:

Any other witnesses, documents, or other disclosures required by NRCP 16.1,
Iy
Iy

iy

R:\Master Case Folder\383718\Discovery\3Produce (Plaintiff) 3¢, wpd = 5-

VEN 2669
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RESPONSE NO, 10:

See Response No. 1.
DATED this i day of chober, 2018.

R YAL & MILES LLP
By: mm
/A s ]§sq.
Bar N
Grego . Miles, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 4336

1522 W, Warm Springs Road
Henderson, NV 89014

Attorneys for Defendants

VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC and
LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC

R:\Master Case Folder\383718\Discovery\3Produce (Plainti(l) Ist.wpd ~ 6 -

VEN 2670




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

[ HEREBY CERTIFY that on the i day of October, 2018, and pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I
caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing RESPONSES TO PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTS FOR
PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS AND MATERIALS TO DEFENDANT to be served as

follows:

by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed
envelope upon which first class postage was prepaid in Las Vegas, Nevada; and/or

to be served via facsimile; and/or

\/ pursuant to EDCR 8.05(a) and 8.05(f), to be electronically served through the Eighth
Judicial Court’s electronic filing system, with the date and time of the electronic service

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

substituted for the date and place of deposit in the mail; and/or

to be hand delivered;

to the attorneys and/or parties listed below at the address and/or facsimile number indicated below:

Keith E. Galliher, Jr., Esq.

THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM

1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Suite 107

Las Vegas, NV 89014

Atiorneys for Plaintiff

Facsimile: 702-735-0204

Email: kgalliher@galliherlaw(irm.com

O ohbin Schudd

An empldyee of ROYAL & MILES LLP

R:\Master Case Folder\3837 18\Discovery\3Produce (Plaintiff) Ist.wpd - 7-

VEN 2671
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ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
1/4/2019 10:33 AM

RFP

Michael A. Royal, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 4370

Gregory A. Miles, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 4336

ROYAL & MILES LLP

1522 West Warm Springs Road
Henderson Nevada 89014

Tel:  702-471-6777

Fax: 702-531-6777

Email: mroyalt@royalmileslaw.com
Arttorneys for Defendants
VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC and
LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JOYCE SEKERA, an Individual; CASE NO.:  A-18-772761-C
DEPT.NO.: XXV
PlaintifT,

Y.

VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC, d/b/a
THE VENETIAN LAS VEGAS, a Nevada
Limited Liability Company; LAS VEGAS
SANDS, LLC d/b/a THE VENETIAN LAS
VEGAS, a Nevada Limited Liability Company;
YET UNKNOWN EMPLOYEE; DOES I
through X, inclusive,

Defendants.

SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSES TO PLAINTIFF’S REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION OF
DOCUMENTS AND MATERIALS TO DEFENDANT

TO:  Plaintiff JOYCE SEKERA; and
TO: Keith E. Galliher, Jr., Esq.; her attorney:

Pursuant to Rules 26 and 36 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, Defendant VENETIAN
CASINO RESORT, LLC, and LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC, by and through their counsel, ROYAL &
MILES LLP, responds to Plaintiff’s first requests for production of documents and materials as

follows:

R:\vlaster Case Folder\383718\Discovery Produce (Plaintitl) !st (Defendants} - Supp.wpd

Case Number: A-18-772761-C

VEN 2672
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REQUEST NO. 1:

All written, oral, or recorded stafements made by any party, witness, or any other person or
persons with knowledge of the incident described in Plaintiffs Complaint.

RESPONSE NO. 1:

Defendants object to the extent this request seeks information protected by attorney/client
privilege and/or attorney work product privilege. Without waiving said objection, Defendants refer
to their disclosures pursuant to NRCP 16.1, documents 2-9, and all supplements thereto, Discovery
is continuing.

REQUEST NO. 2:

Any and all accident and investigative reports, films, video tapes, charts, plats, drawings, maps
or pictures and/or photographs of any kind which has, as its subject matter, the incident described in
Plaintiffs Complaint.

RESPONSE NO. 2:

See Response No. 1.

REQUEST NO. 3:

A complete copy of the Defendant's insurance carriers and/or risk management pre-litigation

claim file.

RESPONSE NO. 3:

Objection. Thisrequest lacks foundation, assumes facts not in evidence, seeks information that
is protected from disclosure by the attorney/client and/or attorney work product doctrine. Without
waiving said objection all known discoverable documents regarding the investigation of the loss have
been produced. See Defendants' NRCP 16.1 early case conference disclosures, documents 2-9, and

all supplements thereto. Discovery is continuing,

R\vlaster Case Folder\383718\Discovery\3Produce (Plaintift) 1st (Defendants) - Suppwpd =~ 2 =

VEN 2673
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REQUEST NO. 4:

The names of all expert witnesses or consuitants that Defendant will use at the time of trial

along with any reports produced by the same.

RESPONSE NO. 4:

Objection. This request is premature, Defendants® expert disclosures containing the requested
information will take place as set forth in the court's scheduling order. It is also an improper request
for production of documents.

REQUEST NO. 5:

Any and all sweep sheets, sweep logs, or other similar documentation which reflects the
maintenance and/or cleaning of the flooring located within the VENETIAN CASINO RESORT
described in Plaintiffs Complaint for the day before, day of, and day after the incident described
therein.

RESPONSE NQO. 5:

Defendants object to the extent this request lacks foundation, assumes facts not in evidence,
is overly broad, vague and ambiguous. This request also presupposes that there was a foreign
substance on the floor causing Plaintiff's fall, which Defendants deny. Italso incorrectly identifies the
subject premises as VENETIAN CASINO RESORT. This request further seeks information not
reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence (i.e. documents related to
November 5, 2016). Without waiving said objection, Defendants respond as follows: See documents
identified pursuant to NRCP 16.1, bates numbers VEN 044-106. Discovery is continuing.

REQUEST NO. 6:

True and correct copies of any and all manuals, documents, pamphlets, flyers, or other

memorandum which has, as its subject matter, the standard operating procedures with respect to the

RMaster Case Folder\3$83718\Discovery\3Produce (Plaintiff) Ist (Defendants) - Suppwed = 3 -

VEN 2674
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maintenance, cleaning and sweeping of the floors with respect to the VENETIAN CASINO RESORT
in which the fall occurred.

RESPONSE NO. 6:

Defendant objects to the extent this request lacks foundation, assumes facts not in evidence,
and is further overly broad, vague and ambiguous. This request also presupposes that there was a
foreign substance on the floor causing Plaintiff's fall, which Defendants deny. also incorrectly identifies
the subject premises as VENETIAN CASINO RESORT. This request further seeks information not
reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Without waiving said objection,
Defendant responds as follows: See Response No. 5.

REQUEST NO. 7:

True and correct copies of any and all claim forms, legal actions, civil complaints, statements,
security reports, computer generated lists, investigative documents or other memoranda which have,
as its subject matter, slip and fall cases occurring on marble floors within the subject VENETIAN
CASINO RESORT within three years prior to the incident deseribed in Plaintiffs Complaint, to the
present.

RESPONSE NO, 7:

Defendants object to the extent this request lacks foundation, assumes facts not in
evidence, is overly broad, vague and ambiguous, unduly burdensome and presupposes there was
a foreign substance on the floor causing Plaintiff's fall, which Defendants deny. It also
incorrectly identifies the subject premises as VENETIAN CASINO RESORT. This request
further seeks access to information which is equally available to Plaintiff via public records, and
otherwisc seeks information that is not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of
admissible evidence. Defendant objects as the request as over broad and not properly tailored

to the issues in this case. Without waiving said objection, Defendants respond as follows: Please

R:AMaster Case Folder\38371 $\Discovery\iProduce (Plaintifl) 1st (Defendants) - Supp.wpd ~ ~ 4 -
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see Defendants’ Sth Supplement to NRCP 16.1 Disclosure and all supplements thereto.
Discovery is continuing.

REQUEST NO. 8:

Any and all documents, information, memoranda, paperwork, or other material which relates
to establishes, or otherwise pertains to the affirmative defenses alleged by the Defendant herein.

RESPONSE NO. 8:

See Response No. 1.

REQUEST NO. 9:

Any surveillance video showing the Plaintiffs fall at the VENETIAN CASINO RESORT
from any other angle, other than the one shown in the video surveillance produced by the
Defendants thus far.

RESPONSE NO. 9:

Defendants object to the extent this request incorrectly identifies the subject premises as
VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, and further that the term “surveillance video” is itself overly broad
and seeks information outside Defendants’ knowledge, custody and control (i.e. videos taken by other
persons on the subject premises at the time). Without waiving said objection, Defendants respond as
follows: All known surveillance related to this matter was produced as Document No. 9 in Defendants’
NRCP 16.1 disclosure. Discovery is continuing.

REQUEST NO. 10:

Any other witnesses, documents, or other disclosures required by NRCP 16.1.
/1
/1

Iy

R:\Master Case Folder\383718\Discovery3Produce (Plaintiff) 1st (Defendants) - Supp.wpd  ~ 5 -
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RESPONSE NO. 10:

See Response No. 1.

DATED this day of January, 2019,
YAL & MILES LLP
j @
Royal
ar No. 43
egoly A. Miles, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 4336

1522 W. Warm Springs Road
Henderson, NV 89014

Attorneys for Defendants

VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC and
LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC

R:\Master Case Folder\333718\Discovery\IProduce (Plaintift) 15t (Defendants) - Supp.wpd ~ ~ 6 -
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the ':’ day of January, 2019, and pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I
caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSES TO
PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS AND MATERIALS TO

DEFENDANT to be served as follows:

by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed
envelope upon which first class postage was prepaid in Las Vegas, Nevada; and/or

to be served via facsimile; and/or

\/pursuant to EDCR 8.05(a) and 8.05(f), to be electronically served through the Fighth
Judicial Court’s electronic filing system, with the date and time of the elecironic service
substituted for the date and place of deposit in the mail; and/or

to be hand delivered;
to the attorneys and/or parties listed below at the address and/or facsimile number indicated below:

Keith E. Galliher, Ir,, Esq,

THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM

1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Suite 107

Las Vegas, NV 89014

Attorneys for Plaintiff

Facsimile: 702-735-0204

E-Service: kgalliher@galliherlaw(irm,com
dmoonevfiigalliherlawfirm.com
gramos(gallibherlawdirm.com

sravicdgalliherlawfirm.com

Dl Sl

An'employee AROYAL & MILES LLP

RiMaster Case Folderd837 I R\Discovery\3Produce (Plaintith) kst (Defendants) - Suppwpd — ~ 7 -
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From: Keith Galliher

To: Mike Royal

Cc: Kathleen Gallagher

Subject: Sekera

Date: Friday, August 16, 2019 3:03:31 PM

Mike: We will need extensions on the pending motions in this case. Kathleen starts a medical
malpractice trial with my brother Jeff on Monday which is supposed to last 2 weeks before Crockett.
Can we have a 2 week extension on our oppositions and replies? We can then move the hearing
dates 2 weeks out from their present dates. Please let me know. Thanks.

Kelth €. Galliher, Jr., Esq.
THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM

1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Ste. 107
Las Vegas, Nevada 89104
kgalliher@galliherlawfirm.com
Tele: 702-735-0049

Fax: 702-735-0204

PLEASE BE ADVISED that due to my Court schedule and the volume of emails | receive daily, | am
unable to read the majority of my emails on a daily basis. Therefore, your email is not deemed by
our firm as being “received” by me unless | respond to the same, nor does it constitute service on, or
notification to, our firm. Unless your email is of a personal/private nature to me, please copy my
Paralegal Deena Mooney, at dmooney@galliherlawfirm.com ON ALL EMAILS TO ENSURE RECEIPT.
For personal emails, a follow up by telephone may be appropriate and necessary. | apologize for this
inconvenience. Thank you for your cooperation.

CONFIDENTIAL. This e-mail message and the information it contains is intended only for the named
recipient(s) and may contain information that is a trade secret, proprietary, privileged, or attorney
work product. This message is intended to be privileged and confidential communications protected
from disclosure. If you are not the named recipient(s), any dissemination, distribution or copying is
strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail message in error, please notify the sender by e-
mail and permanently delete this message and any attachments from your workstation or network
mail system.

TAX OPINION DISCLAIMER. To comply with IRS regulations, we advise that any discussion of Federal
tax issues in this e-mail was not intended or written to be used, and cannot be used by you (i) to
avoid any penalties imposed under the Internal Revenue Code; or (ii) to promote, market or
recommend to another party any transaction or matter addressed herein.
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From: Mike Royal

To: "Keith Galliher"

Cc: Kathleen Gallagher

Subject: RE: Sekera

Date: Friday, August 16, 2019 3:04:00 PM
Certainly.

Michaet A Tyt oy

Royal & MilesLLP

1522 W. Warm Springs Rd.
Henderson, NV 89014

(702) 471-6777 (0)

(702) 531-6777 (f)

mroyal @royal mileslaw.com
http://www.roya mileslaw.com/

PERSONAL AND CONFIDENTIAL: This message originates from the law firm of Royal & MilesLLP. This message and
any file(s) or attachment(s) transmitted with it are confidential, intended only for the named recipient, and may contain
information that is atrade secret, proprietary, protected by the attorney work product doctrine, subject to the attorney-client
privilege, or is otherwise protected against unauthorized use or disclosure. This message and any file(s) or attachment(s)
transmitted with it are transmitted based on a reasonable expectation of privacy consistent with ABA Formal Opinion No. 99-
413. Any disclosure, distribution, copying, or use of thisinformation by anyone other than the intended recipient, regardless
of address or routing, is strictly prohibited. If you receive this message in error, please advise the sender by immediate reply
and delete the original message. Personal messages express only the view of the sender and are not attributable to Royal &
MilesLLP.

From: Keith Galliher [mailto:kgalliher@galliherlawfirm.com]
Sent: Friday, August 16, 2019 3:02 PM

To: Mike Royal

Cc: Kathleen Gallagher

Subject: Sekera

Mike: We will need extensions on the pending motions in this case. Kathleen starts a medical
malpractice trial with my brother Jeff on Monday which is supposed to last 2 weeks before Crockett.
Can we have a 2 week extension on our oppositions and replies? We can then move the hearing
dates 2 weeks out from their present dates. Please let me know. Thanks.

Kelth €. Galliher, Jr., Esq.
THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM

1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Ste. 107
Las Vegas, Nevada 89104
kgalliher@galliherlawfirm.com
Tele: 702-735-0049

Fax: 702-735-0204

PLEASE BE ADVISED that due to my Court schedule and the volume of emails | receive daily, | am
unable to read the majority of my emails on a daily basis. Therefore, your email is not deemed by
our firm as being “received” by me unless | respond to the same, nor does it constitute service on, or
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notification to, our firm. Unless your email is of a personal/private nature to me, please copy my
Paralegal Deena Mooney, at dmooney@galliherlawfirm.com ON ALL EMAILS TO ENSURE RECEIPT.
For personal emails, a follow up by telephone may be appropriate and necessary. | apologize for this
inconvenience. Thank you for your cooperation.

CONFIDENTIAL. This e-mail message and the information it contains is intended only for the named
recipient(s) and may contain information that is a trade secret, proprietary, privileged, or attorney
work product. This message is intended to be privileged and confidential communications protected
from disclosure. If you are not the named recipient(s), any dissemination, distribution or copying is
strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail message in error, please notify the sender by e-
mail and permanently delete this message and any attachments from your workstation or network
mail system.

TAX OPINION DISCLAIMER. To comply with IRS regulations, we advise that any discussion of Federal
tax issues in this e-mail was not intended or written to be used, and cannot be used by you (i) to
avoid any penalties imposed under the Internal Revenue Code; or (ii) to promote, market or
recommend to another party any transaction or matter addressed herein.
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From: Keith Galliher

To: Mike Royal

Cc: Kathleen Gallagher

Subject: RE: Sekera

Date: Friday, August 16, 2019 3:07:33 PM

Thank you. We'll prepare the Stipulations for your review.

Ketth €. Galliher, Jr., Esg.
THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM

1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Ste. 107
Las Vegas, Nevada 89104
kgalliher@galliherlawfirm.com
Tele: 702-735-0049

Fax: 702-735-0204

PLEASE BE ADVISED that due to my Court schedule and the volume of emails | receive daily, | am
unable to read the majority of my emails on a daily basis. Therefore, your email is not deemed by
our firm as being “received” by me unless | respond to the same, nor does it constitute service on, or
notification to, our firm. Unless your email is of a personal/private nature to me, please copy my
Paralegal Deena Mooney, at dmooney@galliherlawfirm.com ON ALL EMAILS TO ENSURE RECEIPT.
For personal emails, a follow up by telephone may be appropriate and necessary. | apologize for this
inconvenience. Thank you for your cooperation.

From: Mike Royal <mroyal@royalmileslaw.com>

Sent: Friday, August 16, 2019 3:04 PM

To: Keith Galliher <kgalliher@galliherlawfirm.com>

Cc: Kathleen Gallagher <kathleen.hannah.gallagher@gmail.com>
Subject: RE: Sekera

Certainly.

Michael A Tyl oy

Royal & MilesLLP

1522 W. Warm Springs Rd.
Henderson, NV 89014

(702) 471-6777 (0)

(702) 531-6777 (f)

mroyal @royal mileslaw.com
http://www.roya mileslaw.com/

PERSONAL AND CONFIDENTIAL: This message originates from the law firm of Royal & MilesLLP. This message and
any file(s) or attachment(s) transmitted with it are confidential, intended only for the named recipient, and may contain
information that is atrade secret, proprietary, protected by the attorney work product doctrine, subject to the attorney-client
privilege, or is otherwise protected against unauthorized use or disclosure. This message and any file(s) or attachment(s)
transmitted with it are transmitted based on a reasonable expectation of privacy consistent with ABA Formal Opinion No. 99-
413. Any disclosure, distribution, copying, or use of thisinformation by anyone other than the intended recipient, regardless
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THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM
1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Suite 107

Las Vegas, Nevada §9104
702-735-0049 Fax: 702-735-0204

N~ &

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

\

THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM
Keith E. Galliher, Jr., Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 220

Jeffrey L. Galliher, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8078

George J. Kunz, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 12245

1850 East Sahara Avenue, Suite 107
Las Vegas, Nevada 85104
Telephone: (702) 735-0049
Facsimile: (702) 735-0204

kgalliher@galliberlawfirm.com
jgalliher@galliherlawfirm.com

gkunz(@lvlawguy.com
Attomeys for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JOYCE SEKERA, an Individual,
DEPT. NO.: 25
Plaintiff,

V.

)
)
)
)
)
)
VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC, )
d/b/a THE VENETIAN LAS VEGAS, a )
Nevada Limited Liability Company; )
LLAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC d/b/a THE )
VENETIAN LAS VEGAS, a Nevada )
Limited Liability Company; YET )
UNKNOWN EMPLOYEE; DOES 1 )
through X, inclusive, )]
)

)

)

Defendants.

STIPULATION AND ORDER

IT IS HEREBY STIPTULATED AND AGREED that the oppositions and hearing will be

moved as follows:

1. Move the hearing on Defendants’ motion for reconsideration on order reversing|

discovery commissioner's report and recommendation and motion to stay order until hearing on

Page 1 of 4

Case Number: A-18-772761-C

CASE NO.: A-18-772761-C

Electronically Filed
8/30/2019 1:32 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
. g |

AUG 2 § 2019
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THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM
1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Suite 107

Las Vegas, Nevada 89104
702-735-0049 Fax: 702-735-0204

=R - s T =

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

reconsideration or, alternatively, motion to stay all proceedings pending application for writ of

mandamus on order shortening time, from August 27, 2019, to September 18, 2019 or as soon

thergafter as the Court can hear the matter.

2. Extend Plaintiff’s opposition to Defendants’ motion for protective order as to
Plaintiff’s request for production of incident reports from May 1999 to present, motion to compel
information and comments of prior incident reports provided to Plaintiff expert Thomas Jennings and
retake the Jennings deposition to address the 196 prior claims reference in his report at Plaitmiff’s
expense from August 15, 2019, to and including August 29, 2019;

3. Extend Plaintiff’s opposition to Defendants’ countermotion to strike false accusations
levied by Plaintiff in “I. Introduction” and “Legal Argument” section “lII.D.” with appropriate

sanctions from August 24, 2019, to and including September 6, 2019;

4, Extend Plaintiff’s time to object to the Discovery Commissioner’s Report and
Recommendation of June 26, 2019, from August 21, 2019, to and including September 4, 2019;

5. Extend Plaintiff’s opposition to motion for leave to file motion for reconsideration on
order reversing discovery commissioner's report and recommendation and motion to stay order until
hearing on reconsideration or, alternatively, motion to stay all proceedings pending application for|

writ of mandamus on order shortening time, from August 22, 2019, to and including September 3,

2019;
6. All replies will remain due 5 days before the hearings in accordance with EDCR
2.20(h).
IT IS SO STIPULATED BY:
DATED this ﬁ‘/?e{y of August, 2019 DATED this _ day of August, 2019
THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM ROYAL & MILES, LLP

- —

Keith E. Gallthef, Jr., Esq. Michael A. Royal, Esq.
Nevada Bar Number 220 Nevada Bar Number 4370
1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Suite 107 1522 W. Warm Springs Road
Las Vegas, Nevada 89104 Henderson, Nevada 89014
Attorney for Plaintiff Attorney for Defendant

Page2 of 4
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il Wit of mandainus on otder shottening time, from August 22,2019, to and includin

1 2.20¢h).
I ITISSOSTIPULATED BY:

2| DATED this_ |

' teconsideration or, alternatively, motion o siay all ‘proceedings pending application for wiit of

- mandamus on order shortening: time, from. August. 27, 2019, o

 Plaintifs request for-production of incident reports from May 1999 to: prasent, motion to compel

sanctions from August-24-2019; o

 Attorney for Plaintiff

2. Extend: Phaintiffs opposifion to- Defendints’ motion for protestive order &' tof

" information and:-cemments of prior incident reports providedio Plaintiff expert Thomas Jennings and,.

- retake the Jennings deposition 1o address the 196 prior claims reference in his repart af Plainiffs|

expense from Angust 15, 2019, toand i

4, Extend Plaintiff’s opposition to Défendants’ couritérmotion to strike false accusations|

levied by Plaintiff in *J. byroduction” and *Legal Argument™ seotion “ILD," ‘with. appropiate

September 18, 2019 or as soon)

4, Extend PlaintifPs time %o objeet to the Discovery Cotimissiondr’s. Report and)

Retommendation of June 26, 2019, from August 21, 2019, to und including Septémber 4, 2019;

5 Extend Plaintiff’s-oppositionto.motion forleave to file motion fof reconsideration on

order reversing diseovery commissioner’s report-and recommendation and métion to stay ordér usitil

heating on reconsiderafion or; alternatively; miotion to stay all proceedings pendirig application. for

Septeniber's,

2019;
6 Al replics will remain due § days before the hearings. in accordance with EDCR

& ) .
DATED: his ! [ day of August, 2019

ROYAL & MILES, LLP

= / yof August; 2019

THE GALLEHER LAW FIRM

Keith E. Gallibe#, Jr., Esq.
Nevada Bar Ninnber 220

1850 E. Sghara Avenue, Suite 107
Las - Vegas, Nevada 83104

ofal, ﬁ‘;sq
Tumber 4370

1522 W, Warm Springs Road
Henderson, Nevada §9014
Attorney for Defendant
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THE GALLTHER LAW FIRM
1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Suite 107

Las Vegas, Nevada 89104
702-735-0049 Fax: 702-735-0204
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ORDER
This Court, having reviewed and considered the above Stipulation by the parties and for
good cause shown, enters the following ORDER:
1. The hearing on Defendants® motion for reconsideration on order reversing discovery
commissioner's report and recommendation and motion to stay order until hearing on reconsideration

or, alternatively, motion to stay all proceedings pending application for writ of mandamus on order

shortening time is moved from August 27, 2019, to Sul?t?,m ‘D.Q)f I'7 , 2019.

2. Plaintiff’s opposition to Defendants’ motion for protective order as to Plaintiff’s
request for production of incident reports from May 1999 to present, motion to compel information|
and comments of prior incident reports provided to Plaintiff expert Thomas Jennings and retake the
Jennings deposition to address the 196 prior claims reference in his report at Plaintiff’s expense is duej
August 29, 2019;

3. Plaintiff’s opposition to Defendants’ countermotion to strike false accusations levied

by Plaintiff in “I. Introduction” and “Legal Argument” section “IIL.D.” with appropriate sanctions is

dug September 6, 2019;

4. Plaintiff's time to object to the Discovery Commissioner’s Report and

Recommendation of June 26, 2019 is extended to September 4, 2019;

5. Plaintiff’s opposition to motion for leave to file motion for reconsideration on order|
reversing discovery commissioner's report and recommendation and motion to stay order until hearing
on reconsideration or, alternatively, motion to stay all proceedings pending application for writ of]

mandamus on order shortening time, is due September 3, 2019;

/
1

Page 3 of 4

VEN 2686




THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM

1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Suite 107

Las Vegas, Nevada 89104
702-735-0049 Fax: 702-735-0204
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6. All replies will remain due 5 days before the hearings in accordance with EDCR]

2.20(h).

Dated this day of August, 2019
Submitted by:
THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM

Keith E. Gallihet, Jr., Esq.
Nevada Bar Number 220

1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Ste. 107
Las Vegas, Nevada 89104
Attorney for Plaintiff
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ROYAL & MILES LLP
1522 W Warm S$prings Road

Henderson NV 89014
Tel: (702) 471-6777 # Fax: (702) 531-6777
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Electronically Filed
7/12/2019 11:50 AM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
OPPS %"—A ﬁuﬂ-——.«

Michael A. Roval, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 4370

Gregory A. Miles, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 4336

ROYAL & MILES LLP

1522 West Warm Springs Road
Henderson Nevada 89014

Tel:  (702)471-6777

Fax: (702) 531-6777

Email: mroyal@royalmileslaw.com
Attorneys for Defendants
VENETIAN CASING RESORT, LLC and
LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JOYCE SEKERA, an Individual; CASENO.. A-18-772761-C
DEPT. NO.:. XXV
Plaintiff,

V.

VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC, d/b/a
THE VENETIAN LAS VEGAS, a Nevada Before the Discovery Commissioner
Limited Liability Company, LAS VEGAS
SANDS, LLC d/b/a THE VENETIAN LAS | Hearing Date: August 2, 2019
VEGAS, a Nevada Limited Liability Company; | Hearing Time: 9:00 am

YET UNKNOWN EMPLOYEE; DOES 1
through X, inclusive,

Defendants.

OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION TO COMPEL TESTIMONY AND
DOCUMENTS AND COUNTERMOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER AS TO
~ PLAINTIFF’S REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OF INCIDENT REPORTS FROM
JANUARY 1, 2000 TO PRESENT, COUNTERMOTION TO COMPEL INFORMATION
AND DOCUMENTS OF PRIOR INCIDENT REPORTS PROVIDED TO PLAINTIFF
EXPERT THOMAS JENNINGS AND IDENTIFIED IN HIS MAY 30,2019 REBUTTAL
REPORT AND FOR LEAVE TO RETAKE THE JENNINGS DEPOSITION TO ADDRESS
THE 196 PRIOR CLAIMS REFERENCED IN HIS REPORT

R:iMaster Case Folder\383718\Pleadings'2Motion to Compe! (Incident Repoits). wpd

Case Number: A-18-772761-C
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COMES NOW, Defendants, VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC, and LAS VEGAS
SANDS, LLC (collectively referenced herein as Fenetian), by and through their counsel, ROYAL &
MIILES LLP, and hereby file this OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO COMPEL
TESTIMONY AND DOCUMENTS AND COUNTERMOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER AS
TO PLAINTIFF'S REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OF INCIDENT REPORTS FROM JANUARY
1,2000 TO PRESENT, COUNTERMOTION TO COMPEL INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS
OF PRIOR INCIDENT REPORTS PROVIDED TO PLAINTIFF EXPERT THOMAS JENNINGS
AND IDENTIFIED IN HIS MAY 30,2019 REBUTTAL REPORT AND FOR LEAVE TO RETAKE
THE JENNINGS DEPOSITION TO ADDRESS THE 196 PRIOR CLAIMS REFERENCED IN HIS
REPORT.

This Opposition and Countermotion is based on the pleadings and papers on file, the
memorandum of points and authorities contained herein, the affidavit of counsel, the attached exhibits
and any argument permitted by this Court at the time set for hearing.

DATED this ,{ﬂ’&ay of Tuly, 2019,

fgz’éh /Royal, Esq. (SBN: 4370)

e . Miles, Esq. (SBN: 4330)
1525 W Warm Springs Rd.

Henderson, NV 89014

Attorney for Defendants

VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC and
LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC

R:\Masier Case Folder1383718'\Pleadings2Motion to Compel (Incident Reporis).wpd - 2 -
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DECLARATION OF MICHAEL A. ROYAL. ESQ.
STATE OF NEVADA )
) ss.
COUNTY OF CLARK )

MICHAEL A. ROYAL, ESQ., being first duly sworn, under oath deposes and states:

1. I am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada and I am counsel
for Defendants Venetian in connection with the above-captioned matter. I have personal knowledge
of the following facts and if called upon could competently testify to such facts.

2. This action arises out of an alleged incident involving a floor located within a common
area of the Venetian casino on November 4, 2016, when Plaintiff slipped and fell on a dry marble floor.

3. Plaintiff worked as a kiosk employee for Brand Vegas which required her to come upon
the Venetian property daily to park and then walk to her work station in the Grand Canal Shops.
Plaintiff has presented testimony in this matter that she worked thousands of hours in and around the
Venetian property from December 28, 2015 to November 4, 2016, and walked the subject area
hundreds of times without ever seeing a spill on the floor, without ever having come upon a scene
where someone had fallen, or even heard of such an event occurring prior to the subject incident.
(See Exhibit A, Transcript of Joyce Sekera Deposition (taken March 14, 2019) at 86, In 13-25; 87, In
1-5; 88, In 7-14.)

4. The incident report does not provide evidence that there was anything on the floor
causing Plaintiff to fall other than the following: “She [Plaintiff] stated she was walking through the
area when she slipped in what she believed was water on the floor.” (See Exhibit B, Venetian Security
Narrative Report (IR 1611V-0680), November 4, 2016, VEN 008-09.)

5. Plaintiff admits that she never saw any foreign substance on the floor at any time on the

date of the subject incident. (See Exhibit B, Transcript of Joyce Sekera Deposition at 19,1n 23-25; 20,

In1-25; 21, In 1-21,)
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6. The area where Plaintiff slipped as depicted on the surveillance footage is identified at
12:36:50. (See Exhibit C, Surveillance Footage, VEN 019; see also Exhibit D, marked Venetian
security scene photo (VEN 043), for demonstrative purposes.)

6. Surveillance footage of the subject incident (attached hereto as Exhibit C), reveals that
there was absolutely nothing on the floor in the thirty (30) minutes preceding the subject incident, as
more than 400 people walk through the area from 12:06:49 to the incident of 12:36:50. The video
depicts multiple Venetian personnel patrolling the subject area, including former employee porter
Maria Cruz, who is seen walking over the subject area at 12:33:53, less than three (3) minutes prior
to Plaintiff’s fall,

7. Multiple persons responding to the scene after Plaintiff’s fall, including Ms. Cruz,
testified that they did not observe any liquid substance on the floor where Plaintiff slipped. (See
Exhibit E, Transcript of Maria Cruz Deposition (taken 04.17.19) at 33, In 8-17; 34, In 20-22; 39, In
21-25; 40, In 1-9; 41, In 11-17; 42, In 10-25. See also Exhibit F, Transcript of Milan Graovac
Deposition (taken 04.22,19) at 15-17, 23-25; 31, In 14-22; Exhibit G, Transcript of Louie Calleros
Deposition (taken 04.22.19) at 14-15; 18-19, 22, In 16-20; 24, In 16-25; 25, In 1-11; 27, In 1-19; 29,
In 21-25; 30, In 1; Exhibit H, Transcript of Sang Han Deposition (taken 05.06.19) at 15, In 6-14; 16,
In 11-25;17,1n 1-7; 18, 1n 25; 19, In 1-18; 23, In 6-25; 24, In 1-2; 25, In 18-21; Exhibit I, Transcript
of Christopher Johnson Deposition (taken 05.06.19) at 17, In 6-10; 18, 1n 9-23.)

8. A careful review of the post scene surveillance footage further demonstrates the absence
of any liquid substance on the floor. (See Exhibit C.)

9. In his deposition of July 2, 2019, Plaintiff’s expert Thomas Jennings testified that after
having been retained by Plaintiff in October 2018 and been provided a copy of the security report,

scene photos, and surveillance footage, he was unable to objectively identify any evidence of a foreign
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substance on the floor beyond the fact that Plaintiff fell and told security she believed she slipped in
water.

10.  On January 4, 2019, Defendants provided Supplemental Responses to Plaintiff’s
Requests for Production of Documents and Materials to Defendant related to Plaintiff’s request for
prior incident reports from November 4, 2013 to present. (See Exhibit J, Response No. 7.) Defendants
objected to the vast overreaching scope of Plaintiff’s request, which was not limited to any factually
similar event in or around the same area prior and subsequently to the subject incident, and was
therefore not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. (See id.)
Nevertheless, Defendants provided Plaintiff with sixty-four (64) prior incident reports in redacted form.

11.  Defendants filed a motion for protective order related to the prior incident reports on
February 1, 2019 related to the sixty-four (64) redacted prior incident reports. The Discovery
Commissioner agreed that the prior incident reports were to remain in redacted form and that they were
not to be shared by Plaintiff. However, while the motion was pending, Plaintiff shared them all with
attorneys representing clients in other presently pending cases against Defendants. In fact, the day
preceding the March 13, 2019 hearing before the Discovery Commissioner, all sixty-four (64) redacted
prior incident reports were filed by Peter Goldstein, Esq., plaintiff’s counsel in another case to support
amotion against Venetian in the matter of Carol Smithv. Venetian Casino Resort, LLC, caseno. A-17-
753362-C. Plaintiff’s counsel did not advise Defendants or the Discovery Commissioner of the
disclosure and public filing of the very same documents the Court then determined to be afforded
production under NRCP 26(c).

12. Atthe March 13, 2019 hearing, Mr. Galliher advised the Discovery Commissioner that
when comparing Venetian’s prior incident reports with those received by Peter Goldstein, Esq., in the

Smith matter, there were only four (4) additional reports he felt should have been part of the sixty-four
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(64) prior incident reports disclosed by Defendants in this matter. {See Exhibit K, Transcript of
Hearing Before Discovery Commissioner, dated 03.13.19, at 7, In 13-21.)

13. On March 25, 2019, T sent correspondence to Mr. Galliher responsive to his
representation at the March 13, 2019 hearing related to the alleged four (4) undisclosed prior incident
reports. (See Exhibit L.)

14, Plaintiff’s objection to the DCRR regarding the redacted prior incident reports was
heard on May 14, 2019, in which the District Judge reversed the DCRR and ordered production of
unredacted reports by Defendants. However, the parties submitted competing proposed orders to the
Court and, at present, no order has been filed. Defendants reserve their right to bring this matter again
before the District Court as provided for under local rules.

15.  During a May 28, 2019 hearing regarding Plaintiff’s motion for leave to amend the
Complaint to add a claim for punitive damages, Plaintiff’s counsel represented to the Court that he had
evidence that expert David Elliott, PE, had provided deposition testimony about ten (10) years ago in
the matter of Farina v. Desert Palace, Inc., case no. A542232, in which he made recommendations
to Venetian about its flooring which were ignored. More specifically, Plaintiff’s counsel asserted the
following:

And that is the Venetian in the mid-2000s -- 2005, 2006, 2007 -- hired David

Elliot . . . to evaluate their floors at the Venetian and make recommendations

concerning how they can make the floors safer. The one thing we've determined so

far. Mr. Elliot fold him that under no circumstances is marble an acceptable surface
for a floor such as a hotel/casino like the Venetian, He made recommendations

concerning how they could go from marble to tile and increase the co-efficient of
friction -- slip resistance -- to the .5 industry standard from where it is now.

(See Exhibit M, Reporter’s Transcript of the May 28, 2019 hearing, at 14, In 10-23, emphasis added.)
16.  Duringthat May 28, 2019 hearing, Mr. Galliher represented to the Court that the David
Elliott deposition testimony from 2009 presented: “a smoking gun big time,” (See id. at 17, In 2-3,

emphasis added.)
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17.  Based onthese new allegation represented by Plaintiff at the May 28, 2019 hearing, the

Court noted: “I think at the end of the day, with what's been alleged, it would do a disservice to this
case if I didn't allow there to be some exploration to see if there's evidence that could support the
damages claim. ” (See id. at 24, 22-25, emphasis added.)

18. A transcript of the David Elliott deposition was obtained subsequent to the May 28,
2019 hearing. (Exhibit N, Transcript of David Elliott (taken February 13, 2009), in Farina v. Desert
Palace, Inc., case no. A542232, attached hereto.)

19.  Mr. Elliott presented the following testimony in his February 13, 2009 deposition
related to the Venetian:

0. Essentially if you don't have carpet down, it's slippery when it's wet,

right?

A No, sir. There's other tile that you can use that is very aesthetically
pleasing that will meet that standard.

. Grive me some examples, if you don't mind.

A. You can go into the Venetian. Ido alot of work for the Venetian and

consulting and litigation, and their tile is slip resistant when wet, and it looks good.
0. But it's not marble flooring?
A. No, it's not marble flooring.
0. Is it tile?
A. It's a ceramic tile.
(See id. at 34, In 12-25, emphasis added.)

20.  The February 13, 2009 deposition testimony of David Elliott is not the “smoking gun
big time” Plaintiff’s counsel made it out to be before the Court in the May 28, 2019 hearing. To the
contrary, the above-cited deposition testimony of Mr. Elliott confirms that he found the Venetian
flooring to be slip resistant and safe, even exemplary.

21 Defendants filed a motion for reconsideration related to the Court’s granting Plaintiftf’s

motion for leave to add a claim of punitive damages on July 3, 2019, with a hearing set for July 16,

2019,
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22. On June 25, 2019, Mr. Galliher and I had a brief meet and confer outside the courtroom
of Department 25 following a hearing related to this matter. During that conference, Mr. Galliher
inquired about production of the unredacted reports related to those previously produced. 1 advised
that I was waiting for the Court to sign and file one of the competing proposed orders submitted. Mr.
Galliher advised that he would be filing a motion to compel. He further asserted entitlement to
subsequent incident reports. However, Mr. Galliher did not make reference to a reported batch of other
incidents occurring at the Venetian between November 4, 2013 and November 4, 2016. Our EDCR
2.34 conference was limited to the production of unredacted versions of previously produced incident
reports and post incident reports.

23.  Subsequent to the above discussion, I received correspondence from Mr. Galliher dated
in which he quite vaguely produced a table of information purportedly relating to prior incidents. (See
Exhibit O, Correspondence from Keith Galliher, Esq., to Michael Royal, Esq., dated 06.25.19.) Mr.
Galliher did not produce any documents supporting the information presented in the chart produced
inhis June 25, 2019 correspondence, nor did he discuss the issue with me pursuant to EDCR 2.34. The
number of events set forth in the table within counsel’s June 25, 2019 letter is similar to the number
previously identified and produced in this matter, it did not occur to me that the table of incidents was
different from those previously disclosed, as I noticed some events which appeared familiar.!

24.  Defendant previously provided a Rule 34 request of Plaintiff to produce the entire file
of all experts she identified in this matter. (See Exhibit P, Plaintiff, Joyce Sekera’s, Responses to
Defendant Venetian Casino Resort, LLC's First Set of Request for Produciion of Documents (served

08.27.18), No. 18.)

'As discussed further herein below, after investing hours to review Plaintiff’s accusations,
managed to identify only five (5) events not previously produced by Defendants, only two (2) of which
occurred within the Venetian casino level area of the property.
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25. As earlier noted, the deposition of Plaintiff expert, Thomas Jennings, was taken on July
2, 2019. Prior to the deposition, Mr. Jennings was served with a subpoena duces tecum, which
required him to bring the following documents: “Your entire file pertaining to Joyce Sekera vs.
Venetian Casino Resort, LLC. {See Exhibit Q, Second Subpoena Duces Tecum for Tom Jennings,
served 06.10.19.)

26. Mr. Jennings had produced a written report dated May 30, 2019, in which he made the
following proclamation:

It should also be noted that the Venetian Hotel-Casino has experienced 196 slip and

Jfall events between January 1, 2012 to August 5, 2016 with the majority of those

events occurring on the marble flooring within the same approximate area as
plaintiff’s slip and fall.

(See Exhibit R, Rebuttal Report by Thomas Jennings, dated May 30, 2019) at 3.)

27.  Atthe July 2, 2019 deposition, Mr. Jennings appeared with reportedly his entire file in
response to the subpoena; however, he did not produce any documents related to the information
related to the 196 slip and fall events referenced in his May 30, 2019 report. When asked about this
information, Mr. Jennings responded that it was sent to him via email from Mr. Galliherin May, 2019,
prior to drafting his rebuttal report. When asked to produce a copy of the same pursuant to the
subpoena duces tecum, Mr. Jennings responded that he was no longer in possession of the information,
confirming it was not preserved. Iasked Mr. Jennings to describe the information provided to him by
Mr. Galliher. He was vague and could not recall details, other than he concluded that the 196 prior
incidents occurred not just somewhere on Venetian property, but within the Grand Lux rotunda area
where the Plaintiff fell in this matter. Plaintiff’s counsel present for the deposition did not commit to
producing the missing documents.

28, I'sent correspondence to Mr. Galliher on July 2, 2019 following the Jennings deposition

demanding production of the prior incident information he produced to Mr. Jennings in or about May
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2019. (See Exhibit S, Correspondence from Michael Roval, Esq., to Keith Galliher, Esq., dated
07.02.19.) To date, there has been no response.

29, In this matter, Defendants have produced a total of sixty-six (66) identified prior
incident reports related to stip and falls in the Venetian casino level area. Defendants did not limit
production to just the Grand Lux area where the subject incident occurred. Plaintiff claimed to have
identified another sixty-five (65) in the June 25, 2019 correspondence. However, in the pending
motion, Plaintiff now only identifies forty-six (46) other incidents, apparently paring the number down
by nineteen (19) without any explanation.

30.  In reviewing the forty-six (46) prior incidents identified by Plaintiff in the pending
motion, [ have determined that all are among the sixty-six (66) previously produced by Defendants but
for only five (5}. Thus, the number Plaintiff claims withheld by Defendants is not 196, sixty-five (65)
or forty-six (46), but appears to be, at best, five (5).

31, In Plaintiff’s motion, she has presented a table of alleged 46 Undisclosed Incident
Reports in a deceptive manner. For example, item no. 6 on page 5 of the mation was previously
produced to Plaintiff. Therefore, Plaintiffhas the omitted information for time and the report no. Yet,
Plaintiff has presented the motion as though she has only partial information from some source other
than Defendants. That is misleading. Plaintiff provided the Court with further omissions on page 6
of the pending motion (nos. 10, 13, 14, 17 and 17), page 7 (nos 26, 27, 28, 30, 33, and 34, and page
8 (nos 39, 41, and 45),

32.  Thaveidentified the five (5) reports found in the duplicate prior incidents documented
by Plaintiff in the table found within the pending motion, and offer the following by way of response:

a. 11/7/13 (Grand Lux Café; Marble slip and fall) (no event no. provided by Plaintift);

This event involves a patron who claims to have slipped and rolled his ankle two days earlier

(November 5, 2013) while walking just outside the Grand Lux Café, without claiming the involvement
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of a liquid substance. No evidence of a foreign substance was ever identified. This incident is
arguably not responsive to Plaintiff’s request, as it is not factually similar; however, in the spiﬁt of
cooperation, Defendants will produce a redacted version of this report pursuant to NRCP 16.1 and
NRCP 34.

b. 12/27/13 (WOW Fountain Feature) (no event number provided by Plaintiff};

The WOW Fountain Feature is not located within or anywhere near the Venetian casino area,
but is on the Palazzo side of the property. Defendants would not have produced this report from its
initial search for like falls occurring on marble flooring within the Venetian casino level of the property
and maintain that it is not relevant today.

C. 04/20/15 (Lobby 1 Trip/Fall) (no event number provided by Plaintiff),

Information provided in Plaintiff’s summary in the Opposition on page 6, In 13-15, describes
this as a trip and fall on a metal strip. Since the alleged incident does not involve a foreign substance
on the floor, nor does it involve a slip, Defendants would not have produced it since it is not at all
factually similar,

€. 03/18/16 (5th floor of garage elevator lobby) 1603V-3584

This report was not produced to Plaintiff by Defendants in this action; however, it is already
in Plaintiff’s possession by way of Peter Goldstein, Esq., in the Smith vs. Venetian litigation. Tt was
one of the four reports Mr. Galliher claimed were not provided by Venetian when the parties were
before the Discovery Commissioner on March 13, 2019, Taddressed this in my March 25, 2019 letter
to Mr. Galliher following the March 13, 2019 hearing, advising that it is an event located on an exterior
area of the property on a different floor (parking garage), that is not deemed relevant to the subject area
of the Grand Lux rotunda. Plaintiff did not object to this explanation, but merely added this event

again in the instant motion without advising the Court that it was previously addressed by Defendants.
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f. 06/11/16 (Venetian front office, puddle of water) 1606V-2353

This incident involves a reported slip/fall on water in the front desk area of the Venetian
property, which is nowhere near the Grand Lux rotunda area where the subject incident occurred nor
doesitinvolvea factually similar circumstance. Thisis also a case presently litigated against Venetian,
identified by Plaintiff in Exhibit 16 of Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel Testimony and Documents, where
Plaintiff clearly is already in possession of this information. Regardless, in the spirit of cooperation,
Defendants will produce a redacted version of this report pursuant to NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 34,

33, Thus, after wading through the sixty-five {65) reports allegedly undisclosed by
Defendants in this matter, per the June 25, 2019 correspondence, which was refined to forty-six (46)
in ths subject motion (without explanation by Plaintiff’ s counsel), there are actually only five (5) which
were not part of the sixty (66) prior incident reports previously produced to Plaintiff by Defendants in
this matter. Of those five (5) reports, only two (2) would be potentially factually similar and located
within the Venetian casino level area. These two (2) additional reports have now been provided to
Plaintiff,

34. Mr. Galliher has not explained how he obtained information related to the alleged 196
prior incident reports of events occurring in the Venetian Grand Lux rotunda area referenced by Mr.
Jennings in his May 30, 2019 rebuttal report. Mr. Galliher has not revealed what he produced to Mr.
Jennings to support his gold factual assertion, whether information included duplicates of previously
identified and produced events, such as what Plaintiff has done on pages 5-8 of the pending motion,
how he compiled the information June 25, 2019 and the motion of July 1, 2019, or whether he is
presently in possession of all of these incident reports.

35, If Plaintiff is in possession of 196 prior incident reports she produced to her expert, Mr.

Jennings, it is Defendants’ contention that they must be provided immediately.
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36.  AlthoughIwas present with Plaintiff’s counsel for the Tom Jennings deposition on July
2,2019, there was no discussion about the production of previously undisclosed prior incident reports
beyond that described above. In other words, Plaintiff’s counsel did not advise that he was in
possession of information that there were any previously undisclosed prior incident reports as set forth
in the June 25, 2019 correspondence. Plaintiff filed the pending motion to compel in the hours
following the Jennings deposition.

37. Mr. Jennings testified in his July 2, 2019 deposition that he is also a disclosed expert
in the Smith v. Venetign litigation, where he tested the marble flooring at a site approximately 100 fect
away from the subject incident and came up with vastly different numbers for his coefficient of friction
testing. (Mr. Jennings tested the subject fall area dry at .70 CQF vs. .90 COF in Smith, and Mr.
Jennings tested the subject fall area wet at .33 COF vs. .40 COF in Smith.) Mr. Jennings acknowledged
that different areas of the property can test for coefficient of friction differently based on a number of
factors, including cleaning methods to foot traffic, among others.

38. On May 31, 2019, Plaintiff served Rule 34 requests which include the production of
incident reports from January 1, 2000 to the present. (See Exhibit T, Plaintiff's Sixth Request for
Production of Documents and Malerials (o Defendants, served 05.31.19, Nos. 23-26, 29.)

39, Exhibit 15 to Plaintiff’s motion, identified as Plainsiff"s Notice of Motion and Motion
for Terminating Sanctions, et al filed by Peter Goldstein, Esq., on February 13, 2019 in the Smith
matter, was denied by the District Court in a hearing held on May 7, 2019. Therefore, the relevance
of that motion referenced on page 17 of the motion to compel is unclear.

40.  Onluly9,2019, Iattempted to have an EDCR 2.34 conference with Plaintiff’s counsel
about the issues addressed herein above, and was advised that any such conferences must be held only
with Mr. Galliher, who has not responded to my request for the documents he provided to Tom

Jennings to support an expert opinion but has not produced to me.
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41. On fuly 11, 2019, I spoke with Mr. Galliher regarding the 196 prior incident reports
provided to Mr. Jennings and the request for production of prior incident reports back to January 1,
2000. Mr. Galliher advised that he would be producing the information he provided to Tom Jennings;
however, I have not yet received them as of the date of this filing, Mr. Galliher and I also discussed
his intent to insist that Venetian produce records related to prior incidents for the preceding twenty (20)
years. We disagree that Venetian is obligated to produce records in the broad scope of the production
request.

42, I have met the requirements of EDCR 2.34 to confer with Plaintiff’s counsel about
issues surrounding the Tom Jennings deposition and failure to produce copies of the 196 prior incident

reports as related in his report of May 30, 2019 and the.

43.  This opposition and countermotion is not brought in bad faith, or for any improper
purpose.
44, I declare that true and correct copies of the following exhibits are attached hereto in

support of this Opposition.

EXHIBIT TITLE
A Transcript of Joyce Sekera Deposition (03.14.19) pp. 19-21, 75-79, 109
B Venetian Security Narrative Report (IR 1611V-0680) (10.04.16) (VEN 008-09)
C Surveillance Footage of Subject Incident (VEN 019)
D Marked Venetian security scene photo (VEN 043) for demonstrative purposes
E Transcript of Maria Cruz Deposition (04.17.19)
F Transcript of Milan Graovac Deposition (taken 04.22.19)
G Transcript of Louie Calleros Deposition (taken 04.22.19)
H Transcript of Sang Han Deposition {taken 05.07.19)
I Transcript of Christopher Johnson deposition (taken 05.07.19)
J Supplemental Responses to Plaintiff’s Requests for Production of Documents and
Materials to Defendant, served 01.04.19
K Transcript of Hearing Before Discovery Commissioner, dated 03.13.19, select pp
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L Correspondence from Michael Royal, Esq., to Keith Galliher, Esq., dated 03.25.19

Reporter’s Transcript of May 28, 2019 hearing

N Transcript of David Elliott (taken February 13, 2009), in Farina v. Desert Palace,
Ine., case no, AS42232, selected pages

Correspondence from Keith Galliher, Esq., to Michael Royal, Esq., dated 06.25.19

P Plaintiff, Joyce Sekera’s, Responses to Defendant Venetian Casino Resort, LLC’s
First Set of Request for Production of Documents, served 08.27.18

Q Second Subpoena Duces Tecum for Tom Jennings, served 06.10.19

R Expert Rebuttal Report, Thomas Jennings (dated 05.30.19)

S Correspondence from Michael Royal, Esq., to Keith Galliher, Esq., dated 07.02.19

T Plaintiff’s Sixth Request for Production of Documents and Materials to
Defendants, served 05.31.19

U Complaint, filed 04.12.18

v First Amended Complaint, filed 06.28.19

w Discovery Commissioner’s Report and Recommendation (filed 07.09.19), Boucher

v. Venetian Casirzo Resort, LLC, Case No. A-18-773651-C

%Eﬁi j&o&@L ESQ.
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS KU HORITIES

I

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

This litigation arises from a November 4, 2016 incident occurring when Plaintiff fell in a lobby
area of the Venetian while taking a break from her work station where she was employed as a
salesperson for Brand Vegas, LLC, working pursuant to an agreement between Venetian and her
employer to sell tickets to Venetian events. At around 12:37 pm, as Plaintiff was en route to the
women’s bathroom located on the Venetian casino level near the Grand Lux Café, while carrying a

covered beverage in her left hand, Plaintiff stepped with her left foot, then slipped and fell to the floor.
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(See Exhibit C at 12:36:50.) Plaintiff testified that she had walked that same path hundreds of previous
times without ever seeing evidence of any foreign substance on the floor. (See Exhibit B at 19-21, 75-
79, 109.)

The cause of Plaintiff’s fall is in dispute, as Venetian denies that there was any foreign
substance on the floor at the time the incident occurred. This is very clear from surveillance footage
of the incident and related testimony by responders. (See id.; see also Declaration of Michael A.
Royal, Esq. paragraphs 4-9.) Regardless, Venetian produced sixty-six (66) prior incident reports from
November 4, 2013 through November 4, 2016 related to incidents occurring in the common area of
the Venetian casino level area where the subject incident occurred.

I1.

NATURE OF GPPOSITION

Defendants contend that the issue surrounding the production of unredacted reports to those
produced responsive to Plaintiff’s Production Request No. 7 remains an open issue, as there is no order
and Defendants are awaiting filing of the order, where competing orders were presented to the District
Judge. As for the alleged other four (4), forty-seven (47), sixty-five (65) or 197 prior incident reports
allegedly not produced (depending on which numbers Plaintiff chooses to assert on any given day),
Defendants only very recently became aware of this alleged issue and there was no meet and confer
with Plaintiff pursuant to EDCR 2.34 prior to filing of the instant motion. If Plaintiff already has the
information, then it is unclear what Plaintiff expects Defendants to do. Regarding Plaintiff’s demand
for subsequent incident reports, this is a simple negligence case arising from an alleged temporary
transitory condition on the Venetian floor. Plaintiff argues in the motion to compel that this litigation
is akin to a products defect claim. Itisnot. That is simply not the case. In fact, Plaintiff has pled and
continues to plead this as a simple negligence case. (See Exhibits T and U.) There is no reascnable

basis to allow Plaintiff to obtain other incident reports subsequent to her fall.
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III.

LEGAL ANALYSIS

A Plaintiff Failed to Comply With EDCR 2.34 Regsarding Alleged Undisclosed Reports

Prior to filing this Motion, Plaintiff failed to comply with her meet-and-confer obligation
pursuant to EDCR 2.34, which is sets forth in pertinent part as follows:
Discovery motions may not be filed unless an affidavit of moving counsel is attached
thereto setting forth that after a discovery dispute conference or a good faith effort to
confer, counsel have been unable to resolve the matter satisfactorily. A conference
requires either apersonal or telephone conference between or among counsel, Moving
counsel must set forth in the affidavit what attempls to resolve the discovery dispute
were made, what was resolved and what was not resolved, and the reasons therefor.

If a personal or telephone conference was not possible, the affidavit shall set forth the
2
Feasons.

Similarly, Rule 37 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure mandates as follows:

On notice to other parties and all affected persons, a party may move for an order

compelling disclosure or discovery. The motion must include a certification that the

movant has in good faith conferred or atiempted to confer with the person or parly

failing to make disclosure or discavery in an effort to obtain it without court action.’

Plaintiff’s motion lacks any declaration or affidavit whatsoever in compliance with the above-
stated rules. Therefore, the motion should not be considered. Plaintiff’s counsel did not attempt a
meaningful, good-faith discussion regarding the alleged undisclosed prior incident reports, and she has
not attached an affidavit of any kind to the pending motion. Tt is therefore defective and the motion
should be denied in its entirety. However, if the Court 1s inclined to consider Plaintiff’s motion to

compel.

B. Unredacted Reports

The Discovery Commissioner previously ruled in Defendants’ favor on this issue and it was

thereafter presented to the District Court on May 14, 2019. Counsel prepared competing orders for the

’EDCR 2.25(a).

*NRCP 37(a)(1).
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judge’s signature. To date, there has been no order signed. Defendants have rights that do not accrue
until after an order is signed and filed by the Court and notice of entry provided. That has not yet
occurred.

At the time of the May 14, 2019 hearing, Defendants were unaware that the Discovery
Commissioner’s Report and Recommendation related to redaction of information on prior incident
reports was affirmed by Judge Jones in the Smith matter on May 7, 2019, based on a ruling by the
preceding Discovery Commissioner. Judge Delaney appeared to be of the understanding that the April
2, 2019 DCRR related to the protection of prior incident reports in this matter was a novel, isolated,
outlier decision; therefore, she granted the objection and ordered that unredacted reports be produced.
The rules allow Defendants to bring this new information before the judge. Since this issue remains
open, and Defendants have not exhausted their rights, where production of unredacted reports will
result in irreparable harm to Defendants as Plaintiff shares the private information of Venetian guests
freely with the world (thus far without any specific limitation), Defendants have not yet produced
unredacted reports.*

C. Other Allegedly “Undisclosed” Prior Incident Reports

1. Plaintiffs Claim of Four (4) Missing Reports at the March 13,2019 Hearing is Not
Properly Befere the Court; However, it Was Long Ago Resolved

The Discovery Commissioner will recall that during the March 13, 2019 hearing, Plaintifs
counsel complained that although Defendants provided sixty-four (64) prior incident reports, he
compared production provided by Venetian in the Smith litigation and identified a total of four (4) prior
incident reports Mr. Galliher claimed were not produced by Defendants in this matter, (See Exhibit
K at 7, 1n 13-21.) That issue was raised by Plaintiff for the first time during the March 13, 2019

hearing. There was no EDCR 2.34 Conference and the matter was not briefed. Nevertheless, the

*It is noteworthy that Plaintiff did not serve the First Amended Complaint until after the order
granting her leave to do so was executed and filed with the District Court.
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Discovery Commissioner responded that parties were to address it and then bring it before her later
after an EDCR 2.34 conference if it remained unresolved. (See id. at 14-15.) Defendants reviewed
the issue of the four (4) alleged missing reports and addressed it in correspondence of March 25, 2019.
(See Exhibit L.) There has been no further discussion regarding those four (4) reports pursuant to
EDCR 2.34 as directed by the Discovery Commissioner. Therefore, this issue is not properly before
the Court. Ifthe Court chooses to address it, Defendants explained that three (3) of the four (4) prior
incident reports were outside the three (3) years requested by Plaintiff and that one (1) of the reports
within the three year time period was an exterior lobby in the parking garage area of the property, not
remotely close to the subject Grand Lux rotunda area.

2. The Issue of Sixty-Five (65) Allesedly Undisclosed Reports (June 25, 2019 Letter)
is Not Properly Before the Court

On June 25, 2019, following a brief EDCR 2.34 Conference held earlier on the same date to
address the issue of when unredacted reports would be produced, Plaintiff’s counsel sent
correspondence addressing the status of unredacted reports. (See Exhibit O.) In the same
corresponded, Plaintiff presented a table of sixty-five (65) incident reports, which Defendants initially
presumed related to the previously produced unredacted reports. Since Plaintiff had never previously
advised that she was in possession of an additional sixty-five (65) prior incident reports, Defendants
did not readily identify this as a new issue. To date, Plaintiff has not addressed this with Defendants
pursuant to EDCR 2.34. Had that occurred, Plaintiff’s counsel may have realized that his list of sixty-
five (65) prior incident reports was by and large a restatement of information already in Plaintiff’s
possession. The pending motion does not contain an affidavit affirming any attempt to comply with
meet and confer requirements as per local rules and as otherwise required by EDCR 2.34, NRCP 37,
or otherwise.

Asnoted above, Defendants have reviewed the list of sixty-five {65) reports and identified only
two (2) of which relate to incidents occurring within the Venetian casino area level of the property (and
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that neither are, frankly, factually similar). Thus, Plaintiff’s claim that Defendants did not produce
sixty-five (65) prior incident reports in the June 25, 2019 was blatantly false.

3. The Issue of Forty-Six (46) Allegedly Undisclosed Reports (July 2. 2019 Motion)
is Not Properly Before the Court

Since Plaintiff did not comply with EDCR 2.34 requirements prior to filing the instant motion,
Defendants have no idea why she pared down the sixty-five (65) allegedly undisclosed prior incident
reports to forty-six (46). However, Defendants believe that Plaintiff’s counsel reviewed the list of
sixty-five (65) and found nineteen (19) duplicates, which were ¢liminated prior to filing this motion,
Had Plaintiff taken a little more time, she would have discovered that of the forty-six (46) alleged
undisclosed reports, there were really only five (5) - and of those five (5), only two (2) of which relate
to a slip and fall on a foreign substance within the Venetian casino level area of the property.

Plaintiff acknowledges that she has been exchanging information with counsel in other ongoing
cases against Venetian. This is particularly why an EDCR 2.34 conference would have been helpful
here, since counsel for the parties could have discussed this alleged new information and potentially
resolved the issues. For example, if Plaintiff’s counsel had taken time to actually review the evidence
before filing this motion, he would likely have discovered that Defendants have already produced forty-
one (41) of the forty-six (46) prior incident reports very carefully set forth and numbered in the pending
motion. The parties may have discovered that there were actually only five (5) other events not
previously disclosed, then could have had a discussion to review them as set forth in Paragraph thirty-
two (32) of the above Declaration. Since Plaintiff was in possession of most of the security reports
identified on pages 5-8 of the pending motion, it is unclear why she withheld information in the table
thereby presenting the illusion of missing information due to non-production. It is rather rich that
Plaintiff has accused Defendants of intentionally withholding information from her in their discovery

responses while at the same time Plaintiff is withholding information from the Court.
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The subject incident occurred in the Grand Lux rotunda of the Venetian, which itselfis subject
to a lot of pedestrian traffic as it is located at the base on the escalators to and from the parking garage
and third floor valet, and is also a main artery between the front desk and the guest tower elevator
lobby. In his deposition of July 2, 2019, Plaintiff’s expert Tom Jennings acknowledged that issues
surrounding coefficient of friction can vary depending on factors which include the amount of foot
traffic.’

Recall that Mr. Jennings testified on July 2, 2019 that Plaintiff is in possession of 196 prior
incident reports related to incidents occurring solely in the Grand Lux rotunda area where the subject
incident occurred. Those reports were produced to Mr. Jennings by Plaintiff but never to Defendants.

During the March 13, 2019 hearing, the Discovery Commissioner noted the following after
ruling that the reports produced to Plaintiff could remain in redacted form:

With that said, if the Plaintiff goes through the reports and identifies incidents that

occurred in substantially the same location as this incident occurred or have

substantially similar facts as to the incident atissue -- because The Venetian is a huge

place, and so it needs to be sufficiently identified to be in the same location or under

similar facts -- then I'd ask that the two of you have a 2.34 conference about disclosing

the contact information for those particular incidents because I'm sure that’s a much

more narrow scope than all of them. And if you cannot agree following that 2.34

conference, then bring it back to the Commissioner’s attention and we will have a

hearing regarding the disclosure of the contact and privacy information with regard

to those individuals.

(See Exhibit K at 12, In 12-23, emphasis added.) Plaintiff has made no effort to comply with this
instruction. She has not limited her request for prior incident reports to the Grand Lux rotunda or to
substantially similar facts. She has just unleashed a shotgun blast of prior incidents, relying on sheer

numbers (most of them wholly contrived) to bolster her notice argument - which is especially

important to her here, since she actually fell on a dry marble floor.

*This was Mr. Jennings’ explanation of why his coefficient of friction measurements were so
different in the Smith v. Venetian litigation in an area less than 100 feet away.

R;\Master Case Folder\3837 1 8'Pleadings\2Motion to Contpe? {Incident Reports).wpd - 21 -

VEN 2708




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

At this point, Defendants need some guidance from the Discovery Commissioner as to what
exactly Plaintiff'is entitled to. Defendants have produced sixty-six (66) redacted prior incident reports
related to falls occurring at the Venetian casino level area from November 4, 2013 - November 4, 2016
and has agreed to provide two (2) additional reports as noted above. Plaintiff is now apparently
expanding it to the entire property, including different floors, different towers, and obviously different
circumstances, when her own expert, Mr. Jennings, testified that Venetian flooring in different areas
can test differently based on a variety of circumstances.

Plaintiff s request for prior incident reports should be limited to the area of the subject incident.
If there are, in fact, 196 prior incident reports related to the area of Plaintiff’s fall for the four-and-a-
half preceding years, as Mr. Jennings has both reported and testified, then Plaintiff has sufficient
information upon which to make a notice argument - even to suppbrt punitive damages. However,
obtaining reports from different areas throughout the property, different floors, different circumstances,

etc., is a mere fishing expedition.

4, Plaintiff’s Motion Oddly Fails to Address the 126 Prior Incident Reports Provided
to Plaintiff Expert Tom Jennings

In addition to Plaintift withholding information in readily in her possession to create a false
impression the Court, as set forth above, there is another glaring omission in the pending motion; o
wit: Plaintiff claims to already have 196 prior incident reports (from January 1, 2012 to August
5, 2016) which relate solely to the area of the Grand Lux rotunda. (See Exhibit R at 3.) Mr.
Jennings testified in deposition on July 2, 2019 that he received these reports from Plaintiff’s counsel
in May 2019. However, Mr. Jennings could not produce any information related to these alleged 196
prior incident reports at the deposition in response to a subpoena duces tecum.

D. Plaintiff is Not Entitied to Subsequent Incident Reports in a Simple Neglisence Case
Arising From an Allesed Temporary Transitory Condition on an Interior Floor
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Plaintiff is moving to compel Defendants to produce incident reports from January 1, 2000 to
the present. (See Exhibit T, Nos. 23-26, 29.) Plaintiff’s counsel has made it clear that every document
obtained via discovery (or otherwise) in this litigation goes into arepository and is shared with multiple
attorneys/firms presently litigating cases against Venetian, Plaintiff now seeks to attain post incident
¢laim information which is clearly not relevant to show notice and would not be admissible at trial.

In Schiatier v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 93 Nev. 189, 561 P.2d 1342 (1977), the trial court
issued a pretrial discovery order permitting blanket discovery of the petitioner's medical records and
income tax returns where the plaintiff had brought an action for personal injuries. The Nevada
Supreme Court limited the discovery to only those matters addressing issues raised in the complaint,
stating that the trial court abused its discretion by allowing carte blanche discovery of all information
contained in those materials without regard to relevancy. That is exactly what Plaintiffis doing here
against Defendants.

This is a simple negligence action, arising from an alleged slip and fall from a temporary
transitory condition. (See Exhibit U, Complaint (filed 04.12.18); Exhibit V, First Amended Complaint
(filed 06.28.19).) Plaintiff has not set forth a claim for product defect, for example; yet, that is the kind
of discovery course Plaintiff is following here. As noted above, Defendants dispute the existence of
a foreign substance on the floor as the cause of Plaintiff’s fall on November 4, 2016.

Plaintiff’s demand for subsequent incident reports is based on a claim for punitive damages
which the Court allowed Plaintiffto file in an Amended Complaint during a hearing on May 28, 2019,
where Plaintiff’s counsel made representations related to the 2009 testimony of David Elliott which
were later discovered to be unfounded. A motion for reconsideration has been filed and is set to be
heard on July 16, 2019. Even if the punitive damages claim remains, it does not entitle Plaintiff to
obtain the kind of discovery she is demanding here to address not only an alleged temporary transitory

condition, but one where the clear evidence suggests there was no such condition at all. There is

R:Master Case Folder3837 18\Pleadings 2Moiion to Compel {Incident Reperts).wpd = 23 -

VEN 2710




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

simply no basis for punitive damages in a simple negligence case arising from a temporary transitory
condition.

Subsequent incidents have no value or relevance to establish notice. They will do nothing to
establish whether there was a foreign substance on the floor causing Plaintiff’s fall and, if so,
how/when the substance was introduced to the floor, how long it was there, and the procedures
followed by Venetian staff to patrol the subject area.

Plaintiff has cited cases from multiple other jurisdictions to support her motion to compel
subsequent incident reports; however, she has quite notably failed to present any cases from Nevada.
Also, none-of the cases cited by Plaintift stand for the propesition that the production of subsequent
incident reports is required in a simple negligence action arising from an alleged transitory condition.

The leading case cited by Plaintift, Hilliard v. A. H Robins Co., 148 Cal. App. 3d 374,196 Cal.
Rptr. 117 (Ct. App. 1983), is a product defect case. None of the string of cases cited by Plaintiff
thereafter support her assertion that she is entitled to subsequent incident reports in a simple negligence
case such as this. (See Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel at 15-16 (Schaffer v. Edward D. Jones & Co.,
1996 SD 94, 552 N.W.2d 801 (1996) (securities fraud); Roth v. Farner-Bocken Co., 667 N.W.2d 651
(5.D.2003) (wrongful termination, discrimination}; Boshears v. Saint Gobain Calmar, Inc., 272 8.W.3d
2135, 226 (Mo. Ct. App. 2008) {(negligence action arising from explosion with discovery allowed to
address subsequent remedial measures); Bergeson v. Dilworth, 959 F.2d 245 (10th Cir. 1992) {relates
to the admission of post incident letters written by others related to the subject incident relevant to the
subject eventy; Smith v, Ingersoll-Rand Co.,214 F.3d 1235, 1249 (10® Cir, 2000) (product defect case);
GM Corp. v. Mosely, 213 Ga. App. 875 (Ga. Ct. App. 1994) (product defect case); Wolfe v.
McNeil-PPC Inc., 773 F. Supp.2d 561 (E.D. Pa. 2011) (product defect case); Coale v. Dow Chem. Co.,

701 P.2d 885 (Colo.App. 1985) (product defect case); Palmer v. A.H Robins Co., 684 P.2d 187 (Colo.
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1984) (product defect case);, Hoppe v. G.1. Searle & Co., 779 F.Supp. 1413 (S.D.N.Y. 1991) (product
defect case).)

Defendants cannot find one Nevada case supporting Plaintiff’s motion to compel them to
produce subsequent incident reports in a simple negligence action such as this one. The expert
disclosure deadline has passed and Plaintiff has not identified an expert who will present testimony
that the flooring at Venetian is defective - nor has Plaintiff even made that allegation. (See Exhibits
U and V.) The Discovery Commissioner recently provided the following in a Discovery
Commissioner’s Report and Recommendation (filed 07.09.19), in the case of Boucher v. Venetian
Casino Resort, LLC, Case No. A-18-773651-C: Subsequent incident reports do not need to be
provided, because liguid on a walkway Is a transient condition. (See Exhibit W.)

Thereis no basis to support Plaintiff’s motion to compel the production of subsequent incident
reports in a slip and fall case from a temporary transitory condition based on negligence.

COUNTERMOTION TO COMPEL INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS OF PRIOR
INCIDENT REPORTS PROVIDED TO PLAINTIFF EXPERT THOMAS JENNINGS AND
IDENTIFIED IN HIS MAY 30,2019 REBUTTAL REPORT AND FOR LEAVE TO

RETAKE THE JENNINGS DEPOSITION TO ADDRESS THE 196 PRIOR CLAIMS
REFERENCED IN HIS REPORT

Defendants hereby file this countermotion for NRCP 26(c) protective order as to Plaintiff’s
demand for incident reports from January 1, 2000 to present as set forth in Plaintiff’s Sixth Request
for Production of Documents and Materials to Defendants served on May 31, 2019. (See Exhibit T,
Nos. 23-26, 29.) Defendants further file this countermotion to compel Plaintiff to produce a copy of
all incident reports provided to expert Tom Jennings used to support his factual assertion that there
have been 196 prior incidents occurring in the Grand Lux rotunda area of the Venetian property from
January 1, 2015 to August 5, 2015. Defendants further move the Court to compel Plaintiff to produce

all prior incident reports related to the sixty-five (65) matters identified in her correspondence of June

225 -
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25, 2019, or which are otherwise in Plaintiff’s possession beyond those produced by Defendants

pursuant to NRCP 16.1 or otherwise in response to an NRCP 34 request.

A, Defendants Move for Protection Under NRCP 26(c) From Plaintiff’s Expansive Discovery

of Incident Reports from January 1, 2000 to Present

Rule 26, Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, governs the scope of discovery, and provides for

protection of both parties and other persons, against annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue

burden or expense. More specifically, NRCP 26(b)(1) provides as follows;

Unless otherwise limited by covirt order, the scope of discovery is as follows: Parties
may obiain discovery regarding any nonprivileged matter that is relevan! to any party’s
claim or defense and proportional to the needs of the case, considering the importance
of the issues at stake in the action, the amount in controversy, the parties' relative
access to relevant information, the parties' resources, the importance of the discovery
in resolving the issues, and whether the burden or expense of the proposed discovery
outweighs its likely benefit.

Rule 26(c), Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, reads as follows in pertinent part:

Protective Orders. Upon motion by a party or by the person from whom discovery is
sought, accompanied by a certification that the movant has in good faith conferred or
attempted to confer with the other affected parties in an effort to resolve the dispute
without court action, and for good cause shown, the court in which the action is
pending may make any order which justice requires to protect a party or person from
annoyance, embal Tassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense, including one

or more of the following:

(1) that the discovery not be had;

(2) that the discovery may be had only on specified terms and conditions, including a
designation of the time or place;

(3) that the discovery may be had only by a method of discovery other than that selected
by the party seeking discovery,

(4) that certain matters not be inguired into, or that the scope of the discovery be limited
o certatn matters,;

3) that discovery be conducted with no one present except persons designated by the
Court;

(6) that a deposition after being sealed be opened only by order of the couri;

(7} that a trade secret or other confidential research, development, or commercial
information not be revealed or be revealed only in a designated way;

8 that the parties simultanecusly file specified documents or information enclosed in
sealed envelopes to be opened as dirvected by the court,
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The objective of discoveryrulesis to limit discovery to relevant matters, and to prevent "fishing
expeditions” by restricting litigants to discovery that only implicates matters raised by them in the
pleadings. (See FED. R. CIV. P. 26(b), Advisory Committee Note, Amendments to Federal Rules
of Civil Procedure, at 388-90). Pursuant to the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, the court in which
the action is pending may make any order/recommendation which justice requires to protect a party
so that certain discovery abuses do not occur. (See NRCP 26). The compulsion of production of
irrelevant information is an inherently undue burden. (See Jimenez v. City of Chicago, 733 F. Supp.
2d 1268, 1273 (W.D. Wash. 2010) {citing, Compag Computer Corp. v. Packard Bell Elecs., 163
F.R.D. 329, 335-336 (N.D. Cal. 1995)).

In Plaintiff’s Request No. 29, she seeks the following information: Any and all complaints
submitted by guests or other individuals regarding the safety of marble floors, (See Exhibit T, No. 29.)
This request is preceded by numerous requests for information dating back to January 1, 2000. (See
id., Nos, 23-26.) In other words, Plaintiff is seeking anything and everything related to Venetian
flooring dating back twenty (20) years. As such, Plaintiffis seeking a massively expanded amount of
information beyond her initial request for prior incident reports from November 4, 2013 to the present,
which Defendants have produced in redacted form up to and including November 4, 2016.
(See Exhibit J at 4-5, Request No. 7.) Defendants have always objected to Plaintiff’s demand for
subsequent incident reports. (See id.) Plaintiff’s latest request is overly broad in that it is not
sufficiently limited in time, limited to the subject fall area, limited to factually similar facts, etc.
Plaintiff simply demands anything and everything.

Defendants therefore move this Honorable Court for an order protecting it from Plaintiff’s
ongoing demands for past and present incident reports. Defendants move for the Court to provide the
parties with a scope limited to three (3} years preceding the subject incident to the date of the subject

incident, occurring in the Grand Lux rotunda. As noted, Plaintiff’s expert claims he has seen 196 such
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reports from January 1, 2012 to August 5, 2016. Plaintiff therefore presumably has all the information
regarding prior incident she needs to establish notice.

B. Defendants Move to Compel Production of All Prior Incident Reports Produced by
Plaintiff to Expert Tom Jennings

Defendants have properly requested that Plaintiff produce a copy of the entire file for any
experts retained in this matter. (See Exhibit P at 6, no. 18.) Defendants further requested that Mr.
Jennings produce a copy of his entire file at the July 2, 2019 deposition. (See ExhibitQ.) Mr, Jennings
confirmed in deposition that he received a copy of information from Plaintiff’s counsel identifying the
196 prior incident reports set forth in his May 30, 2019 rebuttal. Mr. Jennings further stated that he
is no longer in possession of this information. Defendants have demanded that this be provided by
Plaintiff. It remains a contested issue. Therefore, Defendants hereby move this Honorable Court for
an order compelling Plaintiff to produce all information provided to Mr. Jennings to support his
conclusion that there were 196 prior incidents occurring in the Grand Lux rotunda area from January
1, 2012 to August, 5 2016.°

Defendants further move for an order to compelling Plaintiff to provide all information
supporting her claim that there were sixty-five (65) prior incident reports not previously disclosed by
Defendants as set forth in her correspondence of June 25, 2019, which would obviously be in addition
to the 196 prior incident reports occurring on ly in the Grand Lux area she provided exclusively to Mr.
Jennings as related in his May 30, 2019 report and July 2, 2019 deposition. If Plaintiff is indeed
already in possession of 260 other prior incident reports (a combined total of the 196 prior incident
reports and those identified in Plaintiff’s June 25, 2019 correspondence), then Defendants should not

have to go through the expense and effort to produce them a second time.

Mr. Jennings could not confirm whether the prior incident reports were in redacted form,
whether names of those involved were included, how he knew they were all within the Grand Lux
rotunda area, etc. This is a very critical fact and inexcusable omission by Mr. Jennings and Plaintiff,
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If the 196 prior incident reports relied upon by Mr. Jennings and his May 30, 2019 rebuttal
report are ultimately produced by Plaintiff, Defendants move for leave under NRCP 30(a)(2)(A)(ii)
to retake Mr. Jennings’ deposition for the purpose of reviewing this information, which should have
been available to Defendants at the July 2, 2019 deposition of Mr. Jennings, and that Plaintiff be
responsible for all costs associated with that deposition, to be limited in time to one (1) hour.

Iv.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Defendants hereby respectfully submit that Plaintiff’s Motion to
Compel Production of Testimony and Documents must be denied. Defendants further hereby move
by way of countermotion for a protective order pursuant to NRCP 26(c¢) related to Plaintiff’s request
for documents related to incident reports from opening of the Venetian to date.

Defendants further move by countermotion for an order directing Plaintiff'to produce the 196
prior incident reports provided to Tom Jennings, as related in his May 30, 2019 report, and for Plaintiff

to provide copies of all prior incident reports in her possession not produced by Defendants.

DATED this Z Alay of Tuly, 2019.

Chiel Al R%&al, Esq. (SBN: 4370)
. Miles, Esq. (SBN 4336)
. Warm Springs Rd.
Henderson, NV 89014

Attorney for Defendants

LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC, and
VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

ITHEREBY CERTIFY thaton the _@day of July, 2019, and pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I caused
atrue and correct copy of the foregoing OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION TO COMPEL
TESTIMONY AND DOCUMENTS AND COUNTERMOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER
AS TO PLAINTIFF’S REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OF INCIDENT REPORTS FROM
JANUARY 1,2000 TO PRESENT, COUNTERMOTION TO COMPEL INFORMATION AND
DOCUMENTS OF PRIOR INCIDENT REPORTS PROVIDED TO PLAINTIFF EXPERT
THOMAS JENNINGS AND IDENTIFIED IN HIS MAY 30,2019 REBUTTAL REPORT AND
FOR LEAVE TO RETAKE THE JENNINGS DEPOSITION TO ADDRESS THE 196 PRIOR
CLAIMS REFERENCED IN HIS REPORT to be served as follows:

by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed
envelope upon which first class postage was prepaid in Las Vegas, Nevada; and/or

to be served via facsimile; and/or

\/"  pursuant to EDCR 8.05(a) and 8.05(f), to be electronically served through the Eighth
Judicial Court’s electronic filing system, with the date and time of the electronic service
substituted for the date and place of deposit in the mail; and/or

to be hand delivered;

to the attorneys and/or parties listed below at the address and/or facsimile number indicated below:

Keith E. Galliher, Jr., Esq.

THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM

1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Suite 107

Las Vegas, NV 89104

Attorneys for Plaintiff

Facsimile; 702-735-0204

E-Service: kealliher@galliherlawfirm.com

dmooney(@galliherlawfirm.com

gramos(@galliherlawfirm.com
sray(@galliherlawfirm.com M M ﬁ/l/ tf’,
iy

An employee of ROYAL & MILES LLP
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EXHIBIT “A”



Joyce P. Sekera Joyce Sekerav. Venetian Casino Resort, LLC d/b/aThe Venetian Las Vegas, et al.

1 DI STRI CT COURT
2 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
3
JOYCE SEKERA, an | ndi vi dual,
4
Plaintiff,
5
VS. CASE NO.: A-18-772761-C
6 DEPT NO.: XXV

VENETI AN CASI NO RESORT, LLC,
7 d/ b/ a, THE VENETI AN LAS
VEGAS, a Nevada Limted

8 Liability Company; LAS VEGAS
SANDS, LLC d/b/a THE

9 VENETI AN LAS VEGAS, a Nevada
Limted Liability Conpany;

10 YET UNKNOWN EMPLOYEE; DOCES |
t hrough X, inclusive,

11
Def endant s.

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

12

13
14
15
16 DEPCSI TI ON OF JOYCE P. SEKERA
17 Taken on Thursday, March 14, 2019
18 By a Certified Court Reporter

19 At 1522 West Warm Springs Road
20 Hender son, Nevada

21 At 10:00 a.m

22
23
24

Reported by: Blanca |I. Cano, CCR No. 861, RPR
25 Job No.: 31775

702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 1
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Joyce P. Sekera Joyce Sekerav. Venetian Casino Resort, LLC d/b/aThe Venetian Las Vegas, et al.

1 27th. I'"mnot sure. But at any rate, in August of

2| 2018, this says you reviewed the answers to

3 interrogatories, you verified that they were accurate,
4 and that's your signature?

5 A Yes.

6 Q kay. So having | ooked at these again, did it

7 refresh your recollection?

8 A Yes.

9 Q Did you see any of your responses that appeared
10 i naccurate or --

11 A Yes.

12 Q Let's go --

13 MR, KUNZ: You're tal king about the

14 | interrogatories or the adnm ssions?

15 MR. ROYAL: Yes, the interrogatories.

16 MR KUNZ: So there are two different --

17 THE WTNESS: Onh.

18 BY MR ROYAL.:

19 Q Yeah. Let's just focus on the interrogatories.
20 Did you see anything in the interrogatories you
21 | wanted to change?

22 A No.

23 Q Okay. Did you see sonething in the adm ssions
24 | that you wanted to change?

25 A. Yes.

702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 19
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Joyce P. Sekera Joyce Sekerav. Venetian Casino Resort, LLC d/b/aThe Venetian Las Vegas, et al.

1 Q kay. That's -- the admissions are Exhibit B,

2 so let's just | ook at those.

3 Was there nore than one?

4 A Yes.

5 Q Ckay. Let's go to the first one.

6 Wi ch one did you note that is not correct?
7 MR KUNZ: Page 2, No. 2.

8 THE W TNESS: Thank you.

9 BY MR ROYAL.:

10 Q "Il read it. "Admt that you did not see

11 liquid on the floor of the subject area after your fall
12 on Novenber 4, 2016," and then it says, "Deny."

13 A Yes, because | didn't see it. | was | ooking

14 | through the people to walk to the restroom | felt it

15 when | fell.

16 Q kay. So --
17 A | renmenber nmy pants being wet.
18 Q Ckay. So | get it. So you would change that

19| to "Admt"?

20 "Il read it to you again. Request No. 2 in
21 Exhibit B, page 2, says, "Admt that you did not see
22 liquid on the floor of the subject area after your fall

23 on Novenber 4, 2016."

24 You would adnmit that; is that correct?
25 A. I felt it.
702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 20
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Joyce P. Sekera Joyce Sekerav. Venetian Casino Resort, LLC d/b/aThe Venetian Las Vegas, et al.

1 Q No. | get that you -- | understand. Look, the

2 guestion is you did not see it?

3 A Right. Correct.

4 Q Ckay. So you would admt you did not see it?
5 A Correct.

6 Q kay. | understand you felt it, and we'll get
7] into the specifics of that.

8 WAs t here anot her change?

9 MR KUNZ: Page 7.

10 BY MR ROYAL.:

11 Q Before we get to that one, let ne | ook at

12 Request No. 3 and have you | ook at that.

13 Request No. 3 reads, "Admt that you did not

14 | see a foreign substance on the floor potentially causing
15| your fall on Novenber 4, 2016, at any tine."

16 Again, | know you said you felt it, but the

17 question is did you see it?

18 A No, | did not.

19 Q Ckay. So the answer to No. 3, would that also

20 be "Admt" instead of "Deny"?

21 A Correct.

22 Q Okay. Those were kind of the sane.

23 VWi ch one are we on now?

24 MR KUNZ: Page 7.

25 MR. ROYAL: \Which nunber?

702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 21
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Joyce P. Sekera Joyce Sekerav. Venetian Casino Resort, LLC d/b/aThe Venetian Las Vegas, et al.

1| enploynent?

2 A No. Only if we had a question which the guest
3| wanted that particular seat and they couldn't have it

4 | because it was reserved for the hotel, so...

5 Q Ckay. The tinme that -- it sounds to ne |ike

6 | you were spending anywhere from40 to 60 hours a week at

7 t he Veneti an.

8 A Yes.

9 Q Does that sound right?

10 A Yes.

11 Q. And that would be pretty nmuch from Decenber 26,

12 2015, until the date of the incident?

13 A Yes.
14 Q Did you take any vacati ons?
15 A No, | did not. And | was always there at |east

16 | an hour or two prior.

17 Q VWhat does that nean? Prior to what?
18 A Prior to ny shift starting.
19 Q So if your shift started at 9:00, you would

20 arrive at 7:007?
21 A Yeah, because | would set up all the conputers

22 | for everybody.

23 Q And you're not paid for that tine?

24 A No.

25 Q So you actually woul d have been there from
702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 75
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Joyce P. Sekera

Joyce Sekerav. Venetian Casino Resort, LLC d/b/a The Venetian Las Vegas, et a.

1| like, what, 7:00 to 7:00?
2 A Pretty much, or at least 8:00 to 7:00.
3 Q Ckay. |I'mjust doing the math in nmy head here.
4 | That's a lot of hours. So you're talking about -- you
5 could actually be working 80 hours a week.
6 A Yeah.
7 Q Does that sound right?
8 A Yes.
9 Q Ckay.
10 A And that wasn't every day, but | tried to help
11 peopl e because -- and have it all ready for them when
12 t hey wal ked on the shift.
13 Q So during the tinme that you work there for
14 | sounds like -- 1"'mgoing to say 50 to 70 hours a week
15 | maybe --
16 Does that sound about fair?
17 A Fair.
18 Q -- were you ever aware of any incidents where
19 guest or enployees would slip and fall?
20 A No.
21 Q The times that you were working at this booth,
22 | you don't recall ever responding to soneone who had
23 | fallen; is that correct?
24 A I would say yes. | don't renenber hel ping
25 | anybody.
702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 76
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Joyce P. Sekera Joyce Sekerav. Venetian Casino Resort, LLC d/b/aThe Venetian Las Vegas, et al.

1 Q Ckay. When you would go to -- let's say on
2 breaks, use the restroomand stuff, do you recall ever
3 seeing security responding to sonebody on the fl oor,

4 anything |ike that?

5 A No.
6 Q Did you ever have any conversations that you
7 can recall prior to your fall with hotel -- Venetian

8 | hotel security about incidents occurring on property?

9 A No. | didn't really know anybody there.

10 Q Okay. So prior to your incident of Novenber 4,
11 2016, is it fair to say that you were never aware of

12 anyone slipping and falling at the Venetian property?

13 A Yes.

14 Q Ckay. That was a correct statenent; is that
15 right?

16 A Yes.

17 Q So for all the tine that you were at the

18 | Venetian working for Allstate Ticketing and Tours and
19 then for Brand Vegas, the only fall that you re aware of

20 occurring at the Venetian property was your fall?

21 A That's correct.
22 Q kay. Do you recall during the tine that you
23 | worked at the Venetian property -- now |I'mgoing to

24 | expand it fromany tinme that you' re working there from

25 1995 until 2016, I'mjust going to ask you all of your

702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 77
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Joyce P. Sekera Joyce Sekerav. Venetian Casino Resort, LLC d/b/aThe Venetian Las Vegas, et al.

1 experi ence as an enpl oyee where you were working at a

2 ki osk at the Venetian property, do you recall ever

3 seei ng foreign substances on the floor?

4 A | have to just say this. Wen | worked for

5| Alstate Ticketing, they didn't acquire the Venetian

6 kiosk till a few years before, so earlier they weren't

7| there. From'96 to -- | just can't remenber the date.

8| You said from'96 to...

9 Q kay. Thank you. But what I'mtrying to do is
10 | you said you were probably at the Venetian 10 to 20

11 times over the 15 years --

12 A Yeah, not a |ot.

13 Q Ckay. That's when you were at Allstate?

14 A. Ri ght .

15 Q And then you were there it sounds |ike al nost

16 | every day for alnpst close to a year --

17 A Ch, for Brand, yes.

18 Q -- for Brand Vegas; correct?

19 A Yes.

20 Q Al right. And during all that tine,

21 collectively, you don't recall ever seeing a substance

22 | on the floor, |ike sonmebody spilled a drink or sonething
23 | like that?

24 A Oh, sure, | mght have and | m ght have called

25 housekeeping. See, | don't renenber that. |If that
702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 78
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Joyce P. Sekera

Joyce Sekerav. Venetian Casino Resort, LLC d/b/a The Venetian Las Vegas, et a.

1 happened, it was, |ike, once.
2 Q Ckay. But I'masking if you have a specific
3 menory --
4 A No.
5 Q -- of something like that.
6 A Oh, no.
7 Q kay. So that's -- that's one of those things
8| where | don't want you to speculate. If you have a
9 speci fic nenory, "Ch, yeah, | renenber once or tw ce" --
10 A kay.
11 Q Do you have a specific nenory?
12 A No.
13 Q Ckay. Al right. Ddyou -- in all your tine
14 | working at the Venetian talking with people, selling
15| tickets, people wal king by, casual conversation, even
16 | people that you were working with in your kiosk with
17 t hat ot her conpany, okay, do you recall speaking with
18 anyone who nade any reference to any slip-and-falls that
19 occurred on the conpany?
20 A No.
21 Q This would be a good tine to take a break
22 because |I'm going to nove into something el se.
23 Let's go off the record.
24 (A short recess was taken from 11:41 a. m
25 to 11:48 a.m)
702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 79
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Joyce P. Sekera Joyce Sekerav. Venetian Casino Resort, LLC d/b/aThe Venetian Las Vegas, et al.

1 Q This particul ar photo, this represents the

2 bat hroom t hat you were going to at the time of the

3 i nci dent ?
4 A Yes.
5 Q And this is the bathroomthat you would

6| typically use at |east once a day when you were worKking
7 | at the Venetian?

8 A Yes.

9 Q And typically to get to the bathroom you would
10 either go down the elevator or go down the escal ator,

11 both of which would be off to the |eft of the photo in

12 this vantage point?

13 A Yes.
14 Q kay. Let's go to the next photo. [|'l]I
15 represent to you nmy understanding is is that you'll see

16 | the columm here and that this VEN 040 represents the

17 | area where you fell

18 Do you recognize it?
19 A Yes.
20 Q As you | ook at this photo, does anything about

21 this photo refresh your recollection to anything you

22 | testified to at this point?

23 A I"mlooking at the pillar and I know they have

24 | a pillar. 1 don't remenber the floor per se, but |

25 | fell --

702-476-4500 OASISREPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 109
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MARIA CONSUELO CRUZ 4/17/2019

Page 1

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JOYCE SEKERA, an Tndividual,

Plaintiff,
Case No. A-18-772761-C

vs. Dept. 25

VENETIAN CASTNO RESORT, LLC,
d/b/a THE VENETIAN LAS VEGAS,
a Nevada Limited Liability
Company; LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC
d/b/a THE VENETIAN LAS VEGAS,
a Nevade Limited Liability
Company; YET UNKNCOWN EMPLOYEE;
DOES I through X, inclusive,

Defendants.

DEPOSTTION O MARTA CONSUELO CRUZ

Taken at the Galliher Law Firm
1850 East Sahara Avenue, Suite 107
Las Vegas, Nevada 89104

On Wednesday, April 17, 2019
At 2:00 p.m.

Reported By: PAULINE C., MAY
CCR 286, RPR

Canyon Court Reporting, Inc. (702) 419-9676
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MARIA CONSUELO CRUZ 4/17/2019

Page 2
1 APPERARANCES:
2 PFor the Plaintiff: KEITH E. GALLIHER, JR., ESQ.
Galliher Law Firm
3 1850 East Sahara Avenue
Suite 107
4 Las Vegas, Nevada 89104
(702)735-0049
5
6 For the Defendants: MICHAEL A. ROYAL, ESQ.
Royal & Miles LLP
7 1522 West Warm Springs Road
Henderson, Nevada 89014
8 (702)471-6777
9
10
11
12
13
14
15 * ok ok ok %k
16
17
18 I NDRX
19
20 WITNESS PAGE
MARIA CONSUBELO CRUZ
21 Examination By Mr. Galliher 3
Examination By Mr. Royal 30
22 Further Examination By Mr. Galliher 41
23
24
25 -o00o-
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MARIA CONSUELQO CRUZ 4/17/2019

Page 3 Page 5
1 GRACIA M. FELDMAN, SPANISH INTERPRETER, 1 A Yes.
2 having been first duly sworn to interpret Spanish into 2 Q How many?
3 English and English into Spanish, interprefed as 3 A Three.
4 follows: 4 Q And how old are you?
5 MARIA CONSUELO CRUZ, 5} A 34,36, and 39,
6 having been first duly sworn to tell the fruth, the 6 Q Do any of your children still live with you?
7 whole truth and nothing but the truth, was examined 7 A One lives with me.
8 and testified as follows: 8 Q And which one would that be?
9 9 A The middle one.
10 EXAMINATION 10 Q Allright. Are you presently working?
11 BY MR. GALLIHER: 11 A Oh,yes. [ 'work,
12 Q Would you state your name, please. 12 Q And where do you work now?
13 A Maria Consuelo Cruz. 13 A Me?
14 Q Your address. 14 Q Yes.
15 A 1live at 911 Melrose Drive, Las Vegas, 15 A At the Plaza Hotel.
16 Nevada 89101. 16 Q The Plaza downtown?
17 Q [sthat a home? 17 A Yes.
18 A Yes. 18 Q How long have you been at the Plaza?
19 Q Do you own the home or rent it? 19 A It's going to be two years and two months,
20 A It'smine. 20 Q What do you do at the Plaza?
21 Q@ Have you ever had your deposition taken 21 A Casino porter.
22 Dbefore? 22 Q Were you ever employed at the Venetian?
23 A No. 23 A Yes, for 13 years.
24 Q Do you understand today we're going to take 24 (@  And why did you leave Venetian and go to the
25 your testimony under oath? 25 Plaza?
Page 4 Page 6
1 A Yes. 1 A Problems,
2 Q The oath you've taken today carries with it 2 Q  Were they problems with you at the Venetian?
3 the same solemnity as if you were testifying in court 3 A Yes.
4 before a judge or a jury. 4 Q Can you tell me what the problems were?
5 Do you understand that? 2 A It's personal.
6 A Yes. 6 Q Well, I understand that. Did you leave the
7 Q Italso carries with it the penalties of 7 Venetian voluntarily or were you fired?
8 perjury, Do you know what "perjury"” means? g8 A 1wasfired.
9 A [ would be fined. 9 Q  And do you believe the firing was justified?
10 Q Perjury means lying under oath. 10 A No, but -- but if they do it, there's
11 A Oh. Okay. 11 nothing that [ could say.
12 Q Do you understand? 12 Q How long were you out of work before you
13 A Yes. 13 went to the Plaza afier leaving the Venetian?
14 Q A little general background on you first. 14 A A week,
15 How long have you lived in Las Vegas? 15 Q So let's back up, then, to your time at the
16 A Almost 16 ycars, 16 Venetian.
17 Q Where did you come from? 17 What was your position when you worked at
18 A T came from my country in Guatemala, but | 18 the Venetian?
19 lived in California for about 13 years before. 19 A Casino porter.
20 Q So you have lived 29 years in the United 20 Q  Were you a casino porter for the entire 13
21 States? 21 years you worked at the Venetian?
22 A Yes. 22 A No, I was a maid for onc year,
23 Q Are you married? 23 Q Isthat -- were you a maid when you first
24 A No. [ was married. 24 started at the Venetian for one year?
25 Q Do you have any children? 25 A Yes.

o]

s T

3 (Pages 3 Lo 6)
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MARITA CONSUELQO CRUZ 4/17/2019

Page 7 Page 9
1 Q  Then, were you a casino porter for the next 1 to 8:00.
2 12 years? 2 Q Anddid it ever change?
3 A Yes. 3 A Those were shifts, you know, that for a
4 Q Tell me what a casino porter does at the 4 seascn you would work like that, and then they would
5 Venetian, 5 be switched.
6 A Cleans slot machines, takes care of the 6 Q My question is, was the graveyard shift ever
7 floors, no spills, no trash, vacuum, clean bathrooms, 7 from 11:00 to 7:00 and then changed from 12:00 to
8 pick up the trash and customer service. 8 8:00 like the other shifts?
9 Q  When you say "customer service," what do you 9 A Yes. When one shifls, the three of them
1C mean? 10 change.
11 A We are aware if the customer needs something 11 Q Did you work one shift more than any of the
12 and offer assistance. 12 other shifts?
13 Q  When you worked at the Venetian, did you 13 A No.
14 work in a specific area of the hotel? 14 Q  When I say worked more, did you spend more
15 A No, they moved us around. They switched us 15 time working the day shift versus the afternoon shift
16 to adifferent station every day. 1% versus the evening shifi?
17 QDo you know how many stations there are on 17 A [ was more at night,
18 the ground floor at the Venetian? 18 Q And when you talk "more at night," you are
19 A Gosh, so many. That's a very large casino. 19 talking about the 11:00 a.m ~- or 11:00 p.m. to
20 Q Do you know how many casino porters worlk the 20 7:00 am. or 12:00 a.m. to 8:00 a.m. shift?
21 same shift that you worked at the Venetian when you 21 A What happened is, while we worked from
22 worked there? 22 11:00 to 7:00 and then somehow we were switched from
23 A Like 20, maybe, or 24, 23 midnight to 8:00 a.m, It was not me, the one who was
24 Q s that your best estimate? 24 switched.
25 A Approximation, 25 @ But it's your recollection that most of the
Page 8 Page 10
1 Q Allright. So when you were working at the 1 time when you worked at the Venetian, you worked the
Z ¥enetian as a casino porter, there were approximately 2 evening shift?
3 20 other casino porters working the same shift? 3 A Yes,
4 A Yes. 4 Q Wecall it graveyard. Do you understand
5 Q And do you understand I'm talking strictly 5 what I mean?
& about the Venetian and not the Plaza? 6 A Yes.
7 A Yes, 7 (3 You talked earlier about one of your duties
8 Q So when we're talking about 20 casino 8 as a casino porter was to clean and maintain the
9 porters, we're talking strictly about the Venetian? 9 floors,
10 A Yes. 10 A Yes.
11 Q Did you have a specific shift that you 11 (3 When you talk about the floors, I'm talking
12 worked at the Venetian? 12 strictly now about the ground floor, Is that where
13 A [ was working for some time in the 13 you worked?
14 afternoon, then later on in the night shift, and then 14 A Yes.
15 during toward the end, in the morning, 15 QQ  So for the 13 years that you were employed
16 Q So you actually worked all three shifts at 16 atthe Venetian, you would work on the ground floor?
17 the Venetian when you were employed there as a casino 17 A When I was in the day shift; ves.
18 porter? 18 Q And--
19 A Yes, yes. 19 A Also when [ was in the graveyard shift. But
20 Q What are the hours of the morning shift? 20 since they would switch us around to different
21 A Ttused to be from 7:00 to 3:00, and then it 21 stations, there were times when 1 was assigned to the
22 was switched to from 8:00 to 4:00 in the daytime, 22 small tower and another day I would be assigned close
23 Q  And then what about the afternoon shift? 23 to the food court,
24 A It was from 3:00 to 11:00, and then it was 24 But they were the ones -- say somebody does
25 3:00 -- 4:00 to 12:00, and graveyard was from midnight 25 not show up for a shifi, and then we are placed in a

o
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MARIA CONSUELO CRUZ 4/17/2019

Page 11 Page 13
.1 different station. 1 (@ Did you have a specific area that you were
2 Q Allright. So as | understand it, you are 2 supposed to keep watch on when you were working as
3 saying most of the time you would work on the ground 3 casino porter?
4 floor, but on occasion you would be called upon to 4 A Usually by the restaurants or around the
5 work near the food court or, as you referred to it, 5 restaurants in the food court, because that also
6 the small tower? & includes the area where the dealers are.
7 A Oh, no. Food court is the ground floor, 7 Q  And was that - when you talk about the
8 yes. 8 restaurants, are we talking about the Lux Cafe?
9 (Q lunderstand. When you worked the small 9 A All of that, all around it. The stations
10 tower, did you work the ground floor or did you work 10 were pretty large.
11 another floor? 11 Q When you say pretty large, can you give me
12 A No. [ was on the third floor, below the 12 anidea of how large the stations were?
13 fourth floor. 13 A Like - I don't know if you know the place.
14 Q Did you ever work the same floor as the 14 From where the bathrooms are, all the way around the
15 Bouchon Restaurant was located? 15 corner where the bathrooms are going by the security
16 A Oh, yes. 16 podium. It also includes where the escalators are,
17 Q Is the Bouchon Restaurant in the small 17 close to the elevators.
18 tower? 18 Q And does it include the areas that are next
19 A Yes. 19 o the Lux Cafe in the food court?
20 Q So when you worked in the small tower, did 20 A Yes.
21 you work on the same floor as the Bouchon Restaurant? 21 Q So when you worked that area, were you the
22 A Yes. 22 only person responsible for making sure that area was
23 Q How would you describe the floors at the 23 clean? ‘
24 Venetian? In other words, what their composition is. 24 A No. From the stairs where the escalators,
25 A Well, I guess they are floors, they call it 2% to that side, there was someone else.
Page 12 Page 14
1 tileor-- 1 Q And when you say "to that side," are you
2 Q Marble? 2 talking about the side that's adjacent to the food
3 A -~ marble, and they shampoo a lot -- no, no, 3 court and the Bouchon Bakery?
4 not shampoo. There is wax. 4 A No, the Grand Lux Cafe.
5 Q Allright. So the floors, the ground fioor 5 Q And so what I'm trying to determine is, it
6 of'the Venelian, the floors are marble? 6 sounds like you are splitting the area in two
7 A They are marble. 7 stations. Would that be correct?
8 Q And the floor where the Venetian is located B A Correct, yes. Uh-huh.
9 or the Bouchon Restaurant is located, is that also 9 Q Were you ever responsible for making sure
10 marble? 10 that one station versus the other station was safe?
11 A Yes. Allaround it. 11 A Yes. That's our duty.
12 Q You talked earlier about the marble floors 12 Q Was there a concern on your part about what
13 being cleaned. Can you tell me how that's done? 13 would happen if there was water or liquid on these
14 A Me or who? 14 floors?
15 Q Well, if you did the cleaning. 15 A Yes, even though it wasn't my station,
16 A We were just trying to sec that there were 16 Q And were these floors - when they were wet,
17 no spills and no trash, but the special cieaning was 17 were they slippery?
18 done by their graveyard shift. 18 A Yes, because we are pretty careful. Even
19 Q And when we talk about "special cleaning," 19 just a little tiny spill of coffee, we would clean it
20 did you ever do any special cleaning yourself? 20 up.
21 A No, not me. That's done with a special 21 Q And why would you do that?
22 machinery. I can't use them, 22 A It was -- otherwise, we would have been
23 Q And that's a machine that you did not 23 disciplined. That was our job.
24 operate? 24 Q And did you -- did you have an understanding
25 A No, no. Icouldn't. 25 that the floors, when they were wet, were dangerous to

e s e B O e L L e
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MARIA CONSUELO CRUZ 4/17/2019

Page 15

Page 17

.1 your customers? 1 A Yes.
2 MR. ROYAL: Objection, form. 2 Q@ Allright. So you carried cloth towels, a
3 THE WITNESS: Yes, yes. 3 broom and a dust mop with you when you worked as a
4 BY MR. GALLIHER: 4 casino porter?
5 (Q So you knew the floors, when they were wet, 5 A Yes. We also had a locker as well.
6 they were slippery and dangerous to customers? 6 Q So what was in the locker?
7 MR. ROYAL: Same objection. 7 A More towels, glass cleaner, towels for vomit
8 THE WITNESS: Yes. 8 and red bags.
9 BY MR. GALLIHER: 9 Q And what?
10 Q Anddid you -- 10 A Red bags.
11 A You don't move away from them. 11 Q Red bags?
12 Q Did you find that yourself, or did anyone at 12 A For - for throw-ups.
13 the Venetian tell you that the floors were dangerous 13 Q Anything else?
14 when they were slippery? 14 A No, not that I can remember.
15 MR. ROYAL: Objection, form, 15 Q So when you saw a larger spill on the floor
le THE WITNESS: No, We are pretty 16 atthe Venetian and called for help, did that usually
17 conscientious about it and we have seen videos. 17 mean that someone would come to the spill with a mop?
18 BY MR. GALLIHER: 18 A Yes, with a bucket,
19 Q So my guestion is, do you know if -- who 19 @ So for the larger spills, someone would come
20 were your supervisors? 20 by and clean it up with a mop and a bucket; is that
21 A Oh, gosh, I had so many. 21 right?
22 Q Do you know what their titles were -- job 22 A Yes, uh-huh. And also the security would be
23 titles were? 23 close by,
24 A Supervisor. 24 Q Allright. So what I'm trying to get at is,
25 Q Did your supervisors ever tell you that the 25 when you talked about calling for help earlier when
Page 16 Page 18
1 floors at the Venetian, the marble floors, were 1 you saw a larger spill, that would usually mean that
2 slippery and dangerous when wet? 2 another casino porter would come to the scene of the
3 A Ofcourse. 3 spill with a mop and a bucket?
4 Q Is that why you kept a close -- you tried to 4 A Yes. If it was large, we would say: Please
5 keep aclose eye on the floors, to make sure they 5 send someone with a bucket,
6 didn't get wet? 6 Because there are people that have
7 A Yes. We had a radio. Ifthey were pretty 7 containers with ice and sometimes they drop it on the
8 wet, we needed (o call to have someone come help us. 8 floor, so we have to call someone.,
9 Q And when you see a floor that was pretty 9 Q Have you ever seen situations where people
10 wet, who did you call to come help you? 10 spill water on the floor?
11 A Our supervisor, that we call the supervisor 11 A Yes, yes. That's why we are keeping an eve.
12 to ask for someone to come, 12 Otherwise, you have to follow them to see where that
13 @ And when you asked for someone to come, who 13 spill is coming from,
14 would usually come? 14 Q What about soft drinks?
15 A Whoever it was close by. 15 A Same; we clean. It's just the same; we're
16 Q So was it another casino porter? 16 cleaning everything.
17 A Yes. 17 Q But what I'm trying to get at, though, is
18 Q MNow, when you worked as a casino porter, did 18 have you ever seen spills at the Venetian, when you
19 you use or carry around any specific equipment? 19 were employed there as a casino porter, involving soft
20 A Yeah, our cleaners, a broom and a dust mop. 20 drinks? ’
21 Q Did you say "cleaners"? 21 A No, not that. Mostly water, because people
22 A No, no, towels. 22 carry some ice coolers.
23 Q So how many towels would you carry? 23 Q Have you ever seen people carrying water
24 A Two. 24  bottles?
25 Q Were they cloth towels? 25 A Yes.
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Page 19 Page 21
1 Q Sodo you actually know where the water 1 (Q So are you saying that on rare occasions,
2 would come from? Whether it would come from the ice 2 you would see spills on the floor, the marble floors,
3 or whether it would come from a bottle? 3 next to the Lux Cafe or the food court?
4 MR. ROYAL: Objection, form. 4 A Not spills -- spills, but say that someone
5 THE WITNESS: No. When the water spill is 5 just dropped a little bit of a soda.
© from a water cooler, you can see the water coming from 6 Q And if someone dropped a little bit of soda,
7 it 7 that's something that you would clean up?
8 BY MR. GALLIHER: 8 A Yes, yes.
9 Q When you say water cooler, what do you mean? 9 Q And why would you do that?
10 A Anice cooler. 10 A Because | had to. I was being paid to do
11 Q So people carry ice coolers over those 11 that.
12 floors? 12 Q And was there a concern about whether or not
13 A Yes. 13 the floor was dangerous with that little bit of liquid
14 Q Now, have you ever seen anyone use the food 14 onit?
15 court and leave the food court with drinks? 15 MR. ROYAL: Objection, form.
16 A Sometimes, yes. 16 THE WITNESS: Yes. It also gets stained.
17 Q And how about the Bouchon Bakery; have you 17 BY MR. GALLIHER;
18 ever seen anyone order drinks from the Bouchon Bakery 18 Q And is that why you cleaned it up, to
19 and leave from it? 19 protect the customers?
20 A No, hu-huh. 20 A Yes.
21 Q Have you ever seen anyone walk around with 21 Q That was your job; right?
22 liguor or alcohol in a glass or cup? 22 A Yes, and I would also get tips.
23 A Everyone does it in the casino; yep. 23 Q When you say you get tips, who would give
24 (3 Sowould it be fair to say that you have 24 you tips?
25 seen that? 25 A The guests, when they say that you are
Page 20 Page 22
1 A Oh, yes. 1 keeping an eye to make sure that they didn't fall.
2 Q Now Il want you to isolate, on a given 2 Q During your time at the Venetian, had you
3 shift -- we'll say the day shift. 3 ever seen a customer fall on liquid on the marble
4 On the average, what's your best ¢stimate of 4 floor?
5 how many spills you would see during the day shift 5 A Yes.
6 when you were a casino porter at the Venetian? 6 Q And how many occasions?
7 A Sometimes | did, but [ did not work always 7 A The one I recall is a lady that fell with a
8 atthe same station. 8 coffee.
9 Q Well, I understand. What ['m looking for is 9 Q And you recall a lady that fell with a
1C your best estimate of the number of times on one shift 10 coffee?
11 that you would see spills when you were emplayed at 11 A Yes.
12 the Venetian. 12 Q And how do you recall that?
13 MR. ROYAL: Object to form. 13 A Well, we were cleaning and suddenly I think
14 THE WITNESS: At times two or three times. 14 alady came out with a coffee from a bakery, the
15 BY MR. GALILIHER: 15 Bouchon Bakery on the first floor.
16 Q Would that be an average? 16 Q And so was that a fall that you personally
17 A Yes. 17 saw?
18 Q@ And we're talking about spills that would be 18 A Well, we saw her fall and we were close by.
19 in the area that you were responsihle for? 19 1 had been checking the floor.
20 A The floor close to the food court and Lux 20 Q So is that the only time that you've seen a
21 Cafe, it's floor. But there arc areas that are 21 customer fall at the Venetian on the marble floor?
22 carpeted. 22 A Oh, many, but they were drunk.
23 Q Well, I'm talking strictly about the marble 23 Q So you've seen a lot of drunk people fall on
24 floors. 24 the marble floor at the Venetian?
25 A In rare occasions. 25 A No, just that they had fallen because they
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Page 23 Page 25
1 were drunk. 1 showed a fall on November 4, 2016; right?
2 Q And how do you know that? 2 A Yes,
3 A Because you can see it. 3 Q And you watched the video?
4 Q Did you witness those falls? 4 A Yes.
5 A Yes. 5 Q And that fall was a fall that you personally
6 Q So how many of these falls did you witness? b saw when it occurred?
7 A Well, about three I would say, the ones that 7 A Yes. | was there.
8 1 watched. 8 Q  So when you talked about a fall involving a
= Q  When you saw these people that you described 9 lady with coffee, is that the fall you were talking
10 as drunk fall, were they hurt? 10 about?
11 A These people were not alone. There were 11 A She's the one.
12 other drinkers. 12 (Q  So how is it that you determined that she
13 Q All right. But my questicn is when you saw 13 fell carrying coffee?
14 these peopie fall, were they hurt? 14 A Because | was there,
15 MR. ROYAL: Objection, form. 15 Q@ Did anyone discuss this fall with you?
16 THE WITNESS: I don't know because we can't 16 A No, but I remember it. ButT no longer work
17 getinvolved with that. And if they're drunk, they 17 atthe Venetian,
18 getup. They are to get up on their own or someone 18 Q [lunderstand. Did you meet with anyone in
19 picks them up. 19 preparation for today's deposition?
20 BY MR. GALLIHER: 20 A 1just received some documents stating that
21 Q So it sounds to me like you are saying you 21 1had to come,
22 don't know whether they were hurt or not. 22 Q Did you -- so you did not meet with anyone
23 A Well, no. No. 23 to discuss today's deposition?
24 Q Is that right? 24 A No.
25 A Yes, because if they were drunk, they would 25 Q Did you discuss today's deposition with
Page 24 Page 26
1 justgetup and go. We can't stick our hands in that 1 anyone over the telephone?
2 situation. 2 A 1 was only called and teld to be here today.
3 Q [ understand. But you don't know whether 3 Q  So what I'm trying to determine is, where
4 those people, when they got up, were hurt? 4 did you form your cpinion that the lady was carrying
5 A No. 5 coffee?
6 Q We're here today basically to -- because 6 A Because | know that she was coming from
7 we're involved in a lawsuit as a result of a fail 7 purchasing coffee.
8 occurring on November 4, 2016. It happened in the 8 Q And you testified that she was coming from
9 early afternoon hours. 9 purchasing coffee at the Bouchon Bakery; right?
10 A Early wasn't it? 10 A Ithink so, because she was coming down next
11 Q Yeah. Do you know? 11 to the area where they sell coffee.
12 A ['was in that morning shift. 12 Q  Soyou did not discuss your testimony of
13 Q So how is it that you know which fall I'm 13 today's deposition with anycne before you showed up?
14 talking about? 14 A No.
15 A Because | was sent the video. 15 Q And [ want to make sure I'm clear on this:
16 Q  And you were sent the video by whom? 16 That you personally witnessed this fall when it
17 A Tdon't know who. 17 happened, separate and apart from what you saw in the
18 Q So you've seen the video showing the fall? 18 video?
15 A Yes. 19 A Yes.
20 Q So you didn't see the fall until you saw the 20 Q So you actually saw the fall twice. You saw
21 video? 21 the fall in person when it happened and then you saw
22 A No, [ remember that lady. 22 it again on the video; is that right?
23 Q Do you remember seeing the lady fall? 23 A Yes, yes. | was there. [ was cleaning in
24 A Yes. 24 the surroundings.
25 Q Allright. So you were sent a video that 25 Q When the video was sent to you, was it sent
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Page 27 Page 29
.1 toyouina letter? 1 Q So when the person that talked to you on the
Y A No. 2 telephone about this case, did they tell you they were
3 Q How was it sent (o you? 3 from the Venetian?
4 A ldon't know. I received -- no. The next 4 A Yes. It was from the Yenctian, about an
5 day I received these papers. 5 accident that happened at the Venetian.
6 Q Well, my question was, how was the video ) Q Did the video that was sent to you, was it
7 sent to you? 7 accompanied by any type of a message?
8 A ldon't know. 8 A No.
9 Q Well, did you receive it at your home? 9 Q No text or anything of that nature?
10 A No, my phone. 10 A No. I was only sent the video and that
11 Q Allright. So the video that you described 11 paperthat I recetved.
12 was sent to you on your telephone? 12 Q Allright, So vou were sent the video, vou
13 A Uh-huh, yes. 13 were sent the paper, which is the subpoena to today's
14 Q And you don't know who sent it? 14 deposition,
15 A No. 15 A And [ don't even know why.
16 Q Did the sender identify themselves in any 16 Q And you weren't sent anything else?
17 way to tell you who sent it to you? 17 A No. [ don't even know why I'm here.
18 A No. 1was only mailed these papers and then 18 Q  So have you understood all my questions
19 [wascalled from the telephone. 19 today?
20 Q Allright. When you say you were called 20 A Yes.
21 from the telephone, did the call from the telephone 21 Q Anything you want me to repeat or rephrase
22 result in the video being sent to you? 22 foryou?
23 A Tbelieve so. That's how [ got it. 23 A No.
24 Q So when the person called you on the 24 MR. GALLIHER: Pass the witness.
25 telephone, did they identify themselves? 25 11177
Page 28 Page 30
1 A Yes. [ was fold that it was from here. 1 EXAMINATION
2 Q From where? 2 BY MR, ROYAL:
3 A From this page, what it says on this page. 3 Q Okay. I just have a few questions for you.
4 Q Sodid someone tell you that the video was 4 A Again?
5 coming from my office? 5 Q I'm going to show you -- strike that.
6 A No, no. 1didn't pay attention. They only 6 You testified that you saw a video, and I'm
7 send me a vidco and this letter stating that [ had to 7T going to show you what's been identified -- I'm not
8 be here, And 1 don't know why I'm involved in this. 8 sure how you want to do this, but I've got it right
9 Q@ [I'm still trying to figure out how you 9 here.
10 received the video. 10 MR, GALLIHER: Okay. Just for the record,
11 So when the person called you on the 11 you are showing her your -- the video on computer.
12 telephone, did they -~ how did they get your telephone 12 MR. ROYAL: Exactly.
13 number? 13 BY MR, ROYAL:
14 MR. ROYAL: I'm going to -- I'm sorry -- a 14 Q Soit's been identified as VENO19, And |
15 belated objection as to form. 15 have alaptop and I'm going to try and turn this so
16 Go ahead. 16 wyou can see it with the witness as best [ can, A
17 BY MR. GALLIHER: 17 little bit tricky here. Onc second. You can scoot
18 Q So when the person called, did you ask them 18 back just a little bit.
19 how they got your telephone number? 19 Okay. I'm just going to -- and what I'm
20 A No, but since it was coming from the 20 going to do for the record, I'm just going to indicate
21 Venetian, they know my telephone number, 21 numbers so we can identify what we're looking at,
22 Q Allright. So then, you knew that the video 22 Right now it's paused. It's at 12:31:33 ofthe - of
23 that was being scnt to you on your telephone was 23 the footage.
24 coming from the Venctian; is that right? 24 Do you recognize the area?
25 25 A That's in front of the Grand Lux Cafe.

A Yes.
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Page 31 Page 33
! Q And when you said that you patrolled an 1 What was that person doing?
2 area -- strike that. What would this - 2 A Me?
3 When you're assigned to work this area, what 3 Q Yeah. What were you doing?
4 would the area be called? 4 A Checking around.
5 A Station 2. 5 Q Okay,
6 Q Okay. And you kind of broadly told us what 6 A We went to the bathroom to check the towels
7 you did in Station 2. Did that include cleaning the 7 to geta clean towel.
8 restroom? 8 Q Okay. Do you recall, or can you tell
9 A No, not -- the bathrooms were something 9 watching this at 12:33:52, whether or not you noticed
10 separate. 10 there was anything on the floot in the area to your
11 Q Okay. Soyou weren't cleaning bathrooms? 11 immediate right?
12 A No, no. 12 A No, no. [ was - [ would have walked right
13 Q Do you know who was cleaning bathrooms on 13 overit
14 the day this happened? 14 Q  You didn't see anything?
15 A Idon't remember. 15 A No.
16 Q Okay. So ifyou are not cleaning bathrooms, 15 Q Allright. You were -- okay.
17 what was your general job - strike that. Let me ask 17 I'm going to continue and we're now moving
18 itagain. 18 ahead to about 12:38:40, we'll call it. There is a
18 Looking at VENO19 at 12:31:33, does this 19 woman depicted sitting on the floor and a couple of
20 depict an area that you would have been patrolling on 20 men in suit jackets.
21 the day of the incident? 21 Do you remember this scene as it's depicted
22 A That's called the rotunda. It's a big round 22 here generally?
23 circle and then you take the hallway on the way to the 23 A You mean where she fell?
24 corner. Around the corner by security that passes in 24 Q Yes. Doyou remember seeing something
25 front of the Grand Lux Cafe, that's Station 2. 25 similar to this?
Page 32 Page 34
1 Q Okay. Okay. I'm going to let this run 1 A That's not the lady that fell.
2 starting at 12:33:10, and I'm going to make it go a 2 Q Well, okay. Let's move to --
3 little bit faster to kind of move it along here. 3 A Orthis is her,
4 There's a - at 12:33:35, there's a woman 4 Q Okay. At 12:39:37 we see a PAD -- a male
5 approaching a man. He's looking down. Do you know S PAD person. Do you know who that is kind of at the
6 who that woman is? 6 top of the screen? Okay. I'm just trying to identify
7 A No. 7 people. Maybe you can't tell from this.
8 Q@ I want you to watch from the left over here. 8 At 12:39:48, do you see yourself?
9 Okay. It's 12:33 -- I'm going to go back here, sorry. 5 A Yes,
10 12:33:52, 1want - there's a woman coming from the 10 Q Okay. And that's you on the right?
11 left with a broom and so forth. 11 A As | said, the other one is David.
12 Do you recognize that person? 12 Q There is a man with a bucket at 12;39:51.
13 A No. Maybe it was me. 13 Who is that?
14 Q@ Well, that's my question. I want you to 14 A That's David.
15 watch again. 15 Q David Martinez?
16 A Ithink I am, 16 A Yes, uh-huh.
17 Q Okay. 17 O Now he's pointing to someone at 12:40:01.
18 A Yes. 18 Do you know whe that is?
19 (Q Do you think that was you? 19 A Tdon't know.
20 A Yes, it's me. It's me. 20 Q Okay. Now, Mr. Martinez, you see him
21 Q Sostarting at -- [ want to get the times 21 mopping up an area?
22 right. So starting at 12:33:52, on the left side 22 A But it wasn't wet there.
23 that's a person. You think that's you? 23 Q Okay. Do you know - well, that was my
24 A [think so. 24 question. You see him -- we're at 12:40:15, He's got
25 Q Okay. And what was -- what did you notice? 25 abucket,
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What's your recollection of what he was
doing at this particular time depicted here on the
video?

A It seems like she dropped something -- she
spilled some coffee.

Q Okay. Did you actually sec anything on the
floor?

A No.

Q And then I'm going to fast-forward a litile
here. Okay. I'm going to go back.

At 12:41:07, do you see yourself?

A Before she fell, you mean?

Q No. I'm looking at -- right now it's at
12:41:09, the video. Do you see yourself in the
video?

A Yes.

Q Okay, I'm going to let it run now., What are¢
you doing?

A Drying whatever the other one has been
cleaning.

Q Okay. So just tell me the process. You've

got a towel on the floor that you are using under your
foot.

A Todry whatever. To dry whatever is being
wet by the other one with a bucket, but there was
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but...

Q Okay. So...

A What happened to -- the floor right there
you see is waxed.

THE COURT REPORTER: I'm sorry, I'm having a
hard time.

THE INTERPRETER: "It was waxed."

THE COURT REPORTER: Could you repeat the
whole response?

MR. ROYAL: Well, I don't think there's a
question pending, but go ahead.

THE WITNESS: The floor is heavy with wax
right there.
BY MR, ROYAL:

Q Okay. Now, do you remember cleaning the
area beyond what we watched on the video as you
remember what you did?

A Yes. We clean the entire surroundings,
People left beer, soda, coffee.

Q When you say the entire surroundings, what
were you making reference to?

A Well, look, we have to be careful going
around this column because the floor -- everything
that has to do with cleaning.

Q Well, okay. I just want to make sure. I'm

O~ W=
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nothing there.

Q I see, okay.

So when Mr. Martinez goes over an area with
a mop, your job was to follow with a dry towel?

A Well, yes. At that moment, yes.

Q Okay. Now I'm going to go back. I'm going
to go back to - okay. I'm going to go back to
12:36:49 and 1 want you to watch. ['m going to start
it.

A They are in suits.

Q [s that something that you recall seeing,
what we just watched there? I stopped it at 12:36:58.

A Yes. I remember the lady falling.

< Did you ever talk to the lady who was --

A No, youcan't. You can't.

Q Do you remember hearing any conversations
between the lady who fell and anyone else as you were
at the scene?

A No, because the security guards are the ones
that speak to them.

) Okay. You didn't hear any of the
conversation?

A No.

Q Now, I heard you say something about shoes.

A Some people fake falls to get something,
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going to show you -- I'm just going to show this. I'm
not going to run it at 12:43:17,

Okay. You mentioned something about beer,
sodas and so forth. What are you making reference to?

A Right there at the corner, people leave beer
cans, soda cans, so we have to clean it.

(@ I meant in what we're looking at at
12:43:17. Do you see any beer cans or soda cans
there?

A No, no. No, but this is the least busy
time.

Q Okay. All right. 1just want to focus on
this time. So I'm clear with my question, do you
remember completing the task of cleaning up this area
or working with David Martinez afler the woman got up
and left?

A Well, yes. It was cleaned. We had to clean
because she spilled coffee.

Q Okay. Other than her - the woman spilling
coffee, did you see anything else on the floor when
you were cleaning after she fell?

A No, but we have to check everything anyway,

Q Okay. Now, earlier when you're talking
about equipment, I heard you say you have cleaners,
towels, broom and dust pans.
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Page 35 Page 41
A A Yes. 1 A Yes, It's the most recent. She's the one
2 Q Okay. Because I made a note here that [ was 2 that 1 remember,
3 confused whether you had a dust pan or dust mop. 3 MR. ROYAL: Thanks. TI'll pass.
1 A Dust pan. |
5 Q So when ] showed that video of you earlier 5 FURTHER EXAMINATION
6 walking around the area when you were carrying some 6 BY MR. GALLIHER:
7 things, can you tell us what you had in your hands? 7 Q I heard you remark during your testimony in
8 A Dust pan and a broom. 8 response to Mr. Royal's question, some people, they
9 (@ Okay. You were also asked about the tower. 9 fall to get something. What did you mean by that?
1.0 Daoes that area have, like, the bridge? Does that have 10 A Sometimes they look like they fall.
11 abridge that goes over the Las Vegas Boulevard? 11 Q And is that what you saw in the video,
12 A No. 12 someone who locked like they fell?
13 Q [ wasn't clear what you meant by "tower." [ 13 A [don't know. Idon't know her intentions,
14 know there's a bell tower or a clock tower. 14 but there was no water there.
15 A 1was talking about the small tower where 15 Q Did she look like she fell or not?
16 there was sun coming in. 16 A Yes, she slips, but it must have been her
17 (Q  Oh, [ see what you mean. I see. [ was 17 shoe. It wasn't water.
18 confused. 18 Q And you mentioned also that the area where
19 A And now they have Bouchon Bakery around it, 19 the fali happened had been heavily waxed. What did
20 but the restaurant is at the small tower. 20 you mean by that?
21 (Q Okay. Allright. You were asked earlier 21 A ] wasn'ttalking about that area in
22 about when mops and a bucket would come to an area. 22 particular. Those floors are eleaned every night.
23 And in this particular case, what we just saw in the 23 Q Arcthey waxed every night?
24 video was a mop and a bucket came to the area. 24 A No, no. They clean them with a machine.
25 A David is the one who brought it to see if 25 Q And that's every night?
Page 40 Page 42
1 there was a big spill. 1 A No. [ don't recall.
2 Q  Was there a big spill? 2 Q Do you know one way or the other?
3 A No, no, there was not. | had just walked by 3 A Yes, they do it.
4 that area. 4 Q Soas I understand what you are saying, you
5 Q Was there a little spill? 5 never saw anything liquid on the floor whete the fall
6 A No, no. & happened at any time that day; is that right?
7 Q Were there pieces of ice that you found on 7 MR. ROYAL: I object. Misstates testimony.
8 the floor? 8 THE WITNESS: No, no, that is correct.
9 A No, no. 9 BY MR. GALLIHER:
10 Q You testified about drunk people that you 10 Q Allright. So you didn't see any water on
11 have seen in the past fall. 11 the floor, you didn't see any coffee on the floor, you
12 A Yes. 12 didn't see anything wet on the floor; is that right?
13 Q For any of those people, do you recall 13 A No -- yes, that is correct.
14 inquiring as to why they fell? 14 Q So the only fluid you saw in connection with
15 A No. What for? They drink and then they 15 this fall on that day was a dry floor?
16 fall and then between each other, they pick up each 16 A Yes. [ think what you see is that she
17 other. They usually are not alone. 17 slipped, but it was her shoe,
18 (Q Okay. And I want to make sure I understand. 18 Q Allright. So your testimony is that she
19 When you were asked about falls and you said the lady 19 didn't slip because she hit anything wet, she slipped
20 that fell with coffee, is that the lady that we saw in 20 because of her shoe?
21 the video that [ showed you that's been marked as 21 A Because of her shoe.
22 VEN019? 22 Q Allright. So the answer to my question is
23 A Yes. Iremember the Jady falling. 23 yes?
24 Q And that's the lady you were making 24 A Yes.
25 reference (0? 25 Q Thank you. Nothing further.
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THE WITNESS: Is that it?

MR. ROYAL: Yes. Nothing for me.

MR. GALLIHER: Okay, we're done. Thank you.
(The deposition concluded at 3:09 p.m.)

Canyon Court Reporting, Inc. (702) 419-9676

13 (Page 43)

VEN 2748



MARIA CONSUELO CRUZ 4/17/2019

10

11

12

13

14

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

REPORTER'S DECLARATION

STATE OF NEVADA)

)
COUNTY OF CLARK)

I, Pauline C. May, CCR No. 286, declare as
follows:
That I reported the taking of the deposition of the
witness, MARIA CONSUELQC CRUZ, commencing on Wednesday,

April 17, 20192 at the hour of 2:00 p.m.

That prior to being examined, the witness was by me
duly sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
and nothing but the truth.

That I thereafter transcribed said shorthand notes
into typewriting and that the typewritten transcript
of said deposition is a complete, true and accurate
transcription of said shorthand notes taken down at
said time, and that a request has not been made to
review the transcript.

I further declare that I am not a relative or
employee of counsel of any party involved in said
action, nor a relative or employee of the parties
involved in said action, nor a person financially
interested in the action.

Dated at Las Vegas, Nevada this day of
, 2019,

Pauline C. May, CCR 286, RPR
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
JOYCE SEKERA, an Individual,
Plaintiff,
Case No. A-18-772761-C
Vs, Dept. 25
VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC,
d/b/a THE VENETIAN LAS VEGAS,
a Nevada Limited Liability
Company; LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC
d/b/a THE VENETIAN LAS VEGAS,
a Nevada Limited Liability
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Page 5

1 MIKI KUZMANOVIC, SERBIAN INTERPRETER, 1 THE INTERPRETER: On the phone, he had
-2 having been first duly sworn to interpret Serbian into 2 someone interpreting over the phone.
3 English and English inte Serbian, interpreted as 3 BY MR. GALLIHER:
4 follows: 4 Q@ All right. So who was the person who
5 MILAN GRAOVAC, 5 interpreted over the phone?
& having been first duly sworn to tell the truth, the 6 A The girl, | don't know the name. Justa
7 whole truth and nothing bui the truth, was examined 7 girl that was interpreting. Her name, [ don't
8 and testified as follows: 8 remember,
9 g Q@ Did you arrange for the girl to be on the
10 EXAMINATION 1C phone to interpret, or someone else?
11 BY MR. GALLIHER: 11 A Tasked for interpreter because I'm not very
12 Q Would you state your name, please. 12 good in English, so they arrange it.
13 A Milan Graovac. M-i-l-a-n. Last name, 13 (@ When you say "they," you are referring to
14 G-r-a-o0-v-a-c. 14 Mr. Royal's office?
15 Q Your address. 15 A Where [ was. 1fthat's his office, that's
le A 7660 West Eldorado, Apartment Number 140. 16 where it was. I'm not sure.
17 ZIP code is 89113, 17 Q And how long were you in the office
18 J Isthatin Las Vegas? 18 preparing for your depesition?
19 A Yes, 19 A What I was asked, | answered, and it was
20 (} Have you ever had your deposition taken 20 maybe half an hour to 40 minutes at most.
21 before? 21 Q  So your preparation consisted of meeting
22 A No. 22 with Mr. Royal, having an interpreter present,
23 @ Do you understand that you are under oath 23 responding to the questions and reviewing surveillance
24 today? 24 video; is that right?
25 A Yes, 25 A That's correct.
Page 4 Page ©
1 Q And the oath you've been given today carries 1 Q How long have you worked at the Venetian?
2 with it the same solemnity as if you were testifying 2 A Twenty years.
3 in court before a judge or a jury? 3 Q  And when you started at the Venelian, what
4 A Yes. 4 was your job title?
5 Q And it also carries with it the penalties of b A Casino porter.
6 perjury. Do you understand that? 6 Q [s that still your job title?
7 A Yes, [ understand. 7 A Yes, itis,
8 Q  How did you prepare for foday's deposition? 8 Q Have you remained with your same job title
9 A Assoon as | got the paper, what I know I'l 9 over the past 20 years?
10 tell you and what I don't, I don't. 10 A Yes, itis.
11 Q Did you meet with anyone before today's 11 Q Inreviewing the surveillance video of this
12 deposition to prepare? 12 fall, did you see yourself?
13 A Yes; [ met with the gentleman. He showed me 13 A Yes, Lhave. When | was watching it, I saw
14 the picture of what happened and that's all. 14 myself.
15 Q Allright. You said you met with the 15 Q Did you actually see the fall happen?
16 pgentleman, who was the gentleman in the room with us? 16 A When [ was watching the video, then I saw
17 A Yes,itis. 17 the fall. But they called us when there was a spill.
18 Q That would be Mr. Royal and you say he 18 Q And when you say "they called us," do you
19 showed you a picture. Is that what we cali the 19 know who called you?
20 surveillance video? 20 A My supervisor.
21 A Yes, itis. 21 Q Who is your supervisor?
22 Q  And when you met with Mr. Royal, did you 22 A Maybe Dina or somebody. They change them
23 bring your interpreter with you? 23 every six months to a year.
24 A 1t was a megaphone connected, 24 Q You said Dina?
25 Q A what? 25 A Dina,
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Q Is that a male or female?

A Female.

Q And you see the video. You are the person
in the video that's holding the mop.

A Yes. My colleague was holding it.

Q Allright, so your colleague was holding the
mop?

A Yes.

Q So what did you do at the scene?

A When the spill happens, they called for us
to come immediately. If we don't have the equipment
that we need to clean it, we got to stand there so
nobody else -- nobody falls.

Q Sodid you arrive at the scene before the
colleague with the mop arrived at the scene?

A Yes, 1did.

Q How long were you at the scene before the
colleague with the mop arrived?

A Very short. [t was couple of minutes.

Q Did you make any calls that day?

A No, Ididn't. They were calling us to come
there and stand there.

Q And did you bring any equipment with you to
the scene?

[
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Page 9

one.

(3 Soinyour 20 years, have you only used a
mop once on a spill?

A If it's soaked, then we wipe it up and then
we take a small mop to go over it. For that
particular time, it wasn't needed to do that.

Q SolI'mtrying to get the answer.

During the 20 years that you've worked at
the Venetian, have you only cleaned up one spill with
amop?

THE INTERPRETER: He still didn't answer
your question. He said: People walk around with a
cup and they spill. 1warn them not to keep spilling
it and 1 go over with them with a rag and I clean it
after them.

Would you like me to explain?
BY MR. GALLJHER:

Q  We'll try a little different. Why is it
that you immediately clean up the spill at the
Venetian? And 1 presume you are talking about the
marble flcor.

A Yes, marble floor.

Q And is that because the floor becomes
dangerous when it's wet?

25 A No, because I don't know if [ was in the 25 A They're very dangerous. Even one drop.
Page 8 Page 10
1 bathroom or just passing by when I heard that on the 1 Q Sotell me about that. What makes you think
2 radio, so [ came there. And maybe the rag was in my 2 it becomes very dangerous witi one drop?
3 hand that | was cleaning the machines with. 3 A The shoes, if it's -- you know, the shoes
4 Q So the coileague that arrived with the mop, 4 and contact with the shoes, and the drop of something
5 do you know his name? 5 on marble, it's like ice. You can slip and fall real
6 A David. 1 know that his name was David, 6 easy.
7 Q So how long after vou arrived at the scenc 7 Q Have you, in your 20 years, ever seen
8 did David arrive? 8 anybody slip and fall on a wet spot at the Venetian on
9 A Very short time. 9 the marble floor?
10 Q What did David do with the mop? 10 A No, [ have not,
11 A T was standing on the left side next to the 11 Q Go back to the question earlier. During
12 pillar and he was standing on the right side of me. 12 your 20 years, on how many occasions have you had to
13 Q And so what did he do with the mop? 13 clean up a spill on the marble floor at the Venetian?
14 A 1don't know if there was a drop of 14 A It's not every day. When they call us, we
15 something there. He was looking down to see. 15 go and we clean it up.
16 Q Did you see him mop the floor? le Q So can you give me your best estimate of,
17 A  Yes. 17 say, how many times a week you would clean up a spill
18 Q Did you see him wring out the mop in the 18 at the Venetian on the marble floor?
19 pail? 19 A Maybe once, maybe not at all. And I'm not
20 A No. 20 the only one.
21 Q Did you see that on the video? 21 Q And 1 think we had previous testimeny
29 A Yes. 22 regarding the number of PAD worlers that were
23 Q Have you ever used a mop at the Venetian to 23 stationed on the marble floors at the ground floor at
24 clean up a spill? 24 the Venetian.
25 A Yes. Not that particular one, but another 25 Do you know how many there are?
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Page 11 Page 13
1 A Onthe marble floor? On the cleaning? 1 A Inthe garage.
-2 (3 How many are stationed for the marble floor? 2 Q So how long did you work in the garage?
3 A There's six or eight stations in the casino. 3 A Six months or three months, you know. It
4 I'm the only one in my station, 4 depends.
5 ) And how about the other stations? Do you 5 Q And where else have you worked in the
6 only have one? & Venetian as a PAD employee?
7 A We have the first shifi, second shift and 7 A Casino. ,
8 third shift. 8 Q I'm talking about the past five years.
a9 Q How many pecple are stationed in each 9 A The garage, Las Vegas Boulevard, the casino
10 station? 10 station and the balconies, casino.
11 A Just one. 11 Q  When you talk about Las Vegas Boulevard,
1z Q  So on the day of'this fall, were you 12 what does that mean?
13 stationed in the restroom? 13 A We have -- towards the Las Vegas Boulevard,
14 A Ithink I was. Icannot guarantee. 14 if there's anything, or any trash or anything, we have
15 @  How often are you stationed in the restroom 15 to ciean it up.
16 as a PAD employee at the Venetian? 16 Q I[s that outside work?
17 A [ am there nonstop, my eight hours. 17 A Yes, it is.
18 Q  Allright. So would it be fair to state 18 Q Okay. So you work outside, you have worked
19 that in your time at the Venetian as a PAD employee, 19 in the garages, you've worked in Restroom Number 2 and
20 you've been principally stationed in the restroom? 20 then you said you worked in casino stations?
21 A Notall the time. We were being shifted 21 A Yes, everywhere. We keep rotating.
22 around like every three months, six months, but now 22 Q Is that correct in terms of all the
23 for a year we've been staying in the same place. 23 locations you've worked at over the past five years?
24 Q And when you say you've been staying in the 24 A Yes,itis.
25 same place, where is that? 25 Q When you talked about the casino stations,
Page 12 Page 14
1 A Restroom Number 2. 1 can you tell me where you are positioned when you are
2 Q And Restroom Number 2 is ofT the marble 2 working with the casino stations?
3 flooring in the casino? 3 A Cleaning the machines, carpet, ashtrays for
4 A Yes, itis. 4 cigarettes, pick up the glasses from the machines, put
5 Q Soyou've been stationed solely in Restroom 2 them away. Ifthere's any spill, we clean it up. If
& Number 2 over the past year. And did you mention to € not, not.
7 me that you were in the restroom at the time that you 7 Q  When you talk about spills, sounds like when
8 learned about this fall? 8 you were working at the casino you are talking about
9 A Most likely I was working then there, but 9 spills on the carpeted areas.
10 it's been more than two, two and a half years. 10 A If someone spills something on the carpet,
11 (Q When you say working then there, you mean 11 then you got to stand there and the machine -- they
12 working in Restroom Number 27 12 bring the machine to vacuum it and special cleaning so
13 A Yes. 13 that it's not wet anywhere there.
14 Q  So we'll say over the past five years, how 14 Q@ So when you work in the casino station,
15 would you allocate the time that you spent as a PAD 15 would it be fair to say, when there are spills, the
16 employee at the Venetian in terms of the restroom 16 spills happen on carpet?
17 wversus other stations? 17 A Yeah. I have to call the supervisor if
18 A We have like a poker room close by that | go 18 there is a spill to send the machine over.
19 and I check two bathrooms there and immediately 1 go 19 Q Butis it your experience, as a PAD employee
20 back to my station, and then 1 go to lunch for one 20 in the casino station, that when you clean up the
21 hour and that's all. 21 spill or someone cleans up the spill, it's on the
22 Q Isthat your station for the past five 22 carpet?
23 years, you're stationed in Restroom Number 27 23 A Yes,itis.
24 A Last one year. | was working in the garage. 24 QQ  Solet's go back to the scene of this fall.
25 Q@  Working in where? 25 You said you arrived, you were called to the scene.

Ratinapesiann
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Page 15 Page 17
1 Do you remember who called you? 1 A No, ldidn't. The enly way to see it, we
-2 (Crosstalk.) 2 looked at the video.
3 THE COURT REPORTER: Wait, wait. Your words 3 Q Did you -- did you see any liquid on the
4 are drowning his out. 4 floor after the fall?
5 BY MR, GALLIHER: 5 A I'saw some drops from the liquid, 1 was
6  Q Yeah. Wail until you finish to interpret. & telling her, but I've seen it on the video as well.
7 I know what you're trying to do here. 7 Q Allright. So you have seen drops of liquid
8 A What I said is, Dina or some other 8 on the floor when you came to the scene of the fall?
9 supervisor -- but I know it was some other supervisor 9 A Yes, and they were reaching a little bit to
10 who called. 1didn't remember the name. 10 the carpet as well.
11 Q When you arrived at the scene, did you do 11 Q Allright. So but you don't know where that
12 anything in terms of cleaning up the spill or anything 12 liquid came from?
13 ofthat nature? 13 A Ttcannot come from anywhere except from
14 A Tcouldn't clean anything because she was 14 her. Yeah, you could see when she was there and the
15 still sitting on the floor. 15 other guests are walking by, if there was a little
16  Q So the answer to my question is you didn't 16 more of liquid, some other guest could have slipped.
17 do anything to clean up anything that day? 17 (Q Butdo you know whether there was any liquid
18 A Nothing. We cannot touch it until the 18 on the floor before she fell?
19 person is moved from there. 19 A You cannot see it because she was on the
20 Q And the only person you saw clean it up is 20 floor sitting, so yon can't see it whether it was or
21 David? 21 nat.
22 A David was cleaning it behind her back, but 22 Q So the answer to my question is, you don't
23 we couldn't see anything there. The mop was kind of 23 know whether there was any liquid on the floor before
24 dry. 24 the fall?
25 Q And so did you actually watch David clean 25 A That's -- [ couldn't have seen anything
Page 16 Page 18
1 the floor? 1 then.
2 A Yes, ldid. 2 Q Allright. 1 want to make surc we're clear
3 Q  Se you then saw David take his mop and put 3 on this.
4 it in the bucket and wring it out? 4 A 1am sure on myself.
5 A No, no. 5 Q Allright. So you do not know, as you
6 Q You didn't see that? 6 testify here today, whether there was any iiquid on
7 A No. 7 the floor before the fall?
8 Q Did you see it on the video? 8 A ldon't know.
9 A Tthink I have seen it, but [ can't reaily 9 Q Allright. How long did you remain at the
10 recall it. 10 scene?
11 (¢ What else did you do at the scene other than 11 A ldidn't stay much there becanse David was
12 stand there? 12 there. 1 left the scene,
13 A 1didn't do anything because | didn't see 13 Q Sodid you leave the scene after David
14 anything that [ needed to do. But there's a 14 arrived?
15 possibility that when she's carrying her own glass, 15 A Yes. He came with a mop and T left.
16 that something could have spilled from her own glass. 16 Q So how long after David arrived did you
17 Q And what glass was she carrying? 17 leave?
18 A lthink that she was carrying the white 18 A VYery short time,
19 plastic glass, from what I've seen on the picture. 12 Q  Were you there when the EMT security guard
20 Q And how is it that you assumed that she was 20 arrived?
21 carrying a glass and that's what resulted in water or 21 A No, I don't think I was there.
22 liquid on the floor? 22 Q Did vou leave your name with anyone?
23 A When she was falling in the picture, she 23 A No.
24 threw away the glass from her hand. 24 Q Did anybody contacted you after the date of
25 (Q Did you see the lop come ofT the cup? 25 the fall to get a statement from you?

T B R N M S T L T
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Page 189 Page 21
1 A One time | went to see the -- to view the 1 When people are walking around with a glass
- 2 footage, if T can remember anything, and that was such 2 in their hand, they are looking around and a lot of
3 along time ago. But no. 3 times they accidentally, you know, turn the glass and
4 Q So when did you go review the footage? 4 start spilling. So we have to remind them to watch it
5 A Three or four months ago. 5 so that whatever they have, they don't spill around.
) Q And it was at somewhere other than 6 Q And that's because one drop on a marble
7 Mr. Royal's office? 7 floor at the Venetian makes it extremely dangerous?
8 A This gentleman wasn't there. It was just a 8 MR. ROYAL: Objection, foundation,
9 secretary and in the office. 9 Go ahead.
10 Q What office? 10 THE WITNESS: Very dangerous,
11 A This gentleman's office; yes. 11 MR. GALLIHER: Pass the witness.
12 Q  So you went to Mr. Royal's office and you 12
13 watched the video with the secretary present? 13 EXAMINATION
14 A Well, where the secretary is sitting, that's 14 BY MR.ROYAL:
15 wherel-- 15 Q  When you reviewed footage of the incident,
16 Q But that was at Mr. Royal's office? 16 did you have to leave the Venetian property?
17 A Where | was sitting with him, it was a 17 A [ continued to work after,
18 different office. 18 Q Okay. Today you are at a deposition. Did
19 Q Was it the same location? 19 youdrive here?
20 A Same location. 20 A Yes, | have.
21 Q Soapart from the two times you've seen the 21 Q When you reviewed video either of the times
22 surveillance video at Mr. Royal's office, have you 22 that you referenced in your responses to
23 seen it anywhere else? 23 Mr. Galliher's questions, did you ever have to drive
24 A No. Just with him at this office and the 24 and leave the property?
25 lady's office. 25 A After I finished work, I drive home.
Page 20 Page 22
1 (Q Have you told me everything you can remember 1 Q Okay. Okay. When you first arrived at the
2 about the fall and your involvement in it? £ scene -- strike that. You know what? Hold on, strike
3 A Everything. 3 that.
4 Q Is there anything else that you can recall 4 I'm going to show you what has been
5 about the fall that we haven't talked about? 5 identified as VENO19, and this is a video and it's at
6 A [ wouldn't have anything, and 1 wouldn't 6 12:39:34, .
7 want to add anything that I'm not sure of and that 7 MR. GALLIHER: Ifhe's going to commentate,
8 don't know about. 8 [ think we need to know what you're saying.
9 Q Have you understood all my questions today? 9 THE INTERPRETER: I'm going to come from the
10 A Yes, yes, | understood questions and my 10 left side.
11 translation. 11 BY MR.ROYAL:
12 (Q And any questions you want me to repeat or 12 Q So wait for a question. All right. At
13 rephrase for you? 13 12:39:34, I'm going to start this. I want you to
14 A Notreally. What bugs me is when somebody 14 watch for yourself, okay? I stopped it at three --
15 falls and won't move from that spot until security 15 sorry - 12:39:36. Can you see yourself?

16 comes so that we can see if there is any water or 16 A Yes, right here.

17 anything there, 17 Q Is that you in a PAD uniform?

18 Q Sowhat if that person is injured to the 18 A Yes,itis.

12 point where they were unable to move? 19 Q And there's a column to your right in at

20 A Then they should sit and wait and see who's 20 least what's depicted here?

21 spilled that, whether it's their spill or somebody 21 A Yes, it is.

22 else. 22 Q Do you see a woman on the floor?

23 Q And is that what the lady you saw on the 23 A Yes.

24 floor did in this case? 24 Q As you look at this, does this refresh your

25 A She was waiting for security and | left. 25 memory about anything you've testified to?
A S R i S R N I G bl T T et

T
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Page 23

Page 25

1 A Yes, it does. 1 stand there so that nobody goes into it.

-2 Q In what way? 2 Q Oilcay. Now at 12:40:04, you have now left.

3 A That when [ came, [ saw that she was 3 A Yes, to my station.

4 sitting. 1 was bending my head to look at the spill 4 Q@ Okay. Now, David's mop at that point is in

5 and I didn't see any at all where I'm looking at. 5 the area where you are pointing with your foot

& Q Did you look anywhere ¢lse in this area for 6 earlier.

T aspill? 7 A Yes,itis,

8 A That part, the part over there, I couldn't 8 Now he's draining it,

9 seeit. 9 Q Okay. So at any time, do you specifically
10 Q Okay. 10 recall seeing something on the floor other than the
11 A I'm moving. 11 woman sitting?

12 Q Hold on. I'm going te let it run from that 12 A Notreally. The only thing it could be was

13 point. I'm going to stop it at 12:39:51, L3 that there was a little -- a little spill from a glass

14 Do you see David? 14 that would be on the floor,

15 A Lthink that's David there. 15 Q What glass do you have -- but did you

16 Q Okay. And that would be at the top right 16 actually see anything on the floor?

17 area of this stopped video? 17 A When I came there, only her spill would be

18 A Yeah, 18 from the white coffee or something,

19 Q Do you see someone else from PAD there? 1 Q Did you talk with Maria or David after the

20 A I think Maria is her name, 20 incident?

21 Q Okay. Do you know Maria's last name? 21 A No. We don't talk about that.

22 A No. On the last name, I don't. 22 Q  You said you worked in the casino area and

23 Q I'm going to now run it a little further. 23 there's a lot of carpet. Is there alsc a marble floor

24 I'm going to stop it at 12:39:55. 24 that goes through the casino area?

25 A They took a mop and they started to clean. 25 A Marble is usually when you're going towards
Page 24 Page 26

1 See how he's bending his head looking for a spill? 1 the exit or to front desk or sports book.

2 Q Okay. You are still there at 12:3%:537 2 Q [Isee. When you were working Restroom 2, 1

3 A Yes, [am. 3 think you testified that you also do poker the

4 Q@ 55, I should say. 4 restroom.,

5 Were you watching David mop at this time? 5 A Yes. That's the same job that [ have,

6 A [ was standing there so nobody walks into it 6 Q  Okay. And how far away are the restrooms

7 to protect the area. 7 between the poker rooms and the one by the Grand Lux

8 Q Okay. Did you see anything on the floor 8 in the casino area?

9 where David was mopping at this particular point, at 9 A Threc or four machines, maybe one table, and
10 12:39:557 10 then [ move into poker room about 20 yards, my first
11 A We have to check and then go over it just in 11 room on the right.

12 case there is something. 1z When 1 finish with that one, T go further

13 Q Okay. Starting again, okay. I'm going to 13 forward on the corner on the left, and then further
14 stopitat 12:40:01. You were just doing something 14 forward on the right side. 1check what 1 need to do,
15 with your foot. Do you recall? I'm going to go 15 I have some paper and then [ go back.

16 backward. le Q Isee, okay. In between the two restrooms,
17 A I'was showing that there was a little bit 17 as you walk in between, do you have any kind of
18 there where it had spilled from her glass. 18 responsibility?

19 Q Okay. Soat 12:39:57, I'm going to start 1% A If1see anything in the way of spill or

20 it. 1 want you to watch yourself. 20 dirty papers or anything, I'm supposed to take care of
21 A Okay. 21 it. I needto clean it up.

22 Q Pointing with your foot. ['l stop it at 22 Q [nyour experience in your 20 years at the
23 12:40:01. Do you remember having a conversation with 23 Venetian as a PAD employee, what are some of the

Mo
fis

25

David?
A Yeah, What I said was -- and he told me to

Mo
=N

25

reasons that you have to use a mop as a PAD employee?
A Topick up spill and clean it so

S S s e i

TR TR
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Page 27 Page 29
1 everything's okay. 1 Q Is the poker room carpeted?
2 Q Do you use a mop in the bathrooms? 2 A Yes, There's one circle of marble and,
3 A Yes. 3 yeah, it's a combination. They're like little squares
4 Q Do you only use it in the bathroom if 4 of marble and then carpet and so on, repeated like
5 there's a spill, or do you use it for other reasons? 5 that,
€ A The complete cleaning for the floor and 6 Q How about where the players walk and sit?
7 everything, 7 A That's carpet there.
8 Q In your experience as a Venetian PAD 8 Q  And would that also be true of the casino?
9 employee, how important is it to you to maintain the 9 A Where the machines are, the casino, yes, and
10 floors in the course of your duties? 10 tables too,
11 MR. GALLIHER: Objection, foundation. 11 Q So wherever the players walk or sit is
12 But you ¢an answer, 12 carpeted in the casino?
13 THE WITNESS: To me, it's the most important 13 A Yes.
14 because of the company and because of me so that 14 Q [think you testified earlier that as a PAD
15 nobody can fall down. 15 employee, you've used a mop on a number of occasions;
le BY MR.ROYAL: 16 is that right?
17 Q Allright. And you saw the woman on the 17 A That mop that we use when there's a spill
18 floor when you got to the scene? 18 outside of the bathroom. Butif it's being used in
19 A Yes. 19 the bathroom, it's not being used outside of the
20 Q How many times have you seen that occur in 20 bathroom.
21 your 20 years? 21 Q Twant to make sure we're clear on this. In
22 A Maybe I've seen a couple of times. [{ 22 your 20 years, you've presumed you've used a mop in
23 doesn't happen to all the stations. I can be here and 23 your 20 years as PAD employee.
24 itcould happen half of the casino, so I don't go all 24 A Ifsomething dirty. There's no people, no
25 the way there to look. 25 spill, I've never used it.
Page 28 Page 30
1 Q I'mjust asking about what you have 1 Q Solet's try this again. In your 20 years
2 personally seen. 2 asaPAD employee at the Venetian, have you used a mop
3 A Personally that I've seen, maybe two times. 3 and a bucket?
4 Q All right. Would this be one of those two 1 A | always use it in the bathroom and then if
5 times? 5 there's a spill outside.
6 A I'm including this time as the second time. ) Q So on how many occasions would you say
7 Q All right. Thank you. 7 you've used your mop and bucket in the last 20 years?
8 g A When I'm working in the bathroom, I use it
9 FURTHER EXAMINATION 9 more than five times a day, maybe 10 times a day
10 BY MR. GALLIHER: 10 because of urinary.
11 Q So let me clarify this. So in the 20 years 11 (Q And so when we talk about using it in the
12 you've worked at the Venetian as a PAD employee, you 12 bathroom, you've used the mop to clean up liquids?
13 have seen two falls on the marble floors with liquid? 13 A Yes.
14 A That's for sure. Two times, but not more, 14 Q And then after you clean up the liquids,
15 Q Two times at the most? 15 what do you do with the mop and your bucket?
16 A From all these 20 years that since [ started 16 A 1 wash itin a bucket, T change the water.
17 working. 17 Q Do you wring out the mop?
18 Q And you've never seen or heard of any other 18 A Of course.
19 falls, other than the two that you've witnessed, of 19 MR. GALLIHER: Pass the witness.
20 the marble? 20 THE WITNESS: I can't allow it if somebody
21 A Only what [ sece with my eyes | believe it's 21 falls, then I carry it on inyself,
22 true, but not what else you talk about. 22
23 Q Allright. Se I want to make sure we're 23 FURTHER EXAMINATION
24 clear. Two falls at the most? 24 BY MR. ROYAL:
25 A At the most, me personally with my eyes. 25 Q In the times you've used - or strike that,

B R L A A
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Do you alsc use a mop to clean up scuffs?

A Yeah. You have to clean it.

Q Have you ever used a mop as a precautionary
measure?

MR. GALLIHER: Objection, vague.

You may answer.

THE WITNESS: Ifthere's anything dirty, any
spill, I have to. I cannot leave it dirty anywhere.
BY MR. ROYAL:

Q You don't -- you don't -- when David was
using a mop in this case or in this instance, when you
arrived at the scene, you didn't see what he was
mopping up; correct?

A Ifthere was a spill, | guarantee that |
would have seen it. If it was a lot of spill, yeah,
you would have seen a lot of spill.

If they spill a big glass, it would be the
size of half of this table, the area.

Q Okay. You didn't see -- strike that,

Did you see anything that looked like water
in the area on the floor when you were there?

A No.

MR. ROYAL: That's it.

1l

wearing; right?

Page 33

A No, ldon't. And I cannot even ask.
MR. GALLIHER: Thank you. Nothing further.
MR. ROYAL: That's it for me.
MR. GALLIHER: All right. Thanks very much,

(The deposition concluded at 3:35 p.m.)

OO~

Page 32

FURTHER EXAMINATION
BY MR. GALLIHER:
Q Buta little spot of water at that location
would have made that lady fall; right?
MR. ROYAL: Objection, form; calls for
speculation.
BY MR. GALLIHER:
Q You may answer.
A Depends on the shoes.
Q So what would make a difference in her
shoes?
A Some shoes that are easily -- you slip with.
Q  Some shoes that would easily slip on a spot
of water?
A One drop you can slip if the shoe is not
good.
Q So one drop you ¢an slip on the shoes on the
marble floor at the Venetian if the shoe wasn't good?
MR. ROYAL: Objection, foundation.
THE WITNESS: Yes, you could.
BY MR. GALLIHER:
Q So did you look carcfully at this lady's
shoes?
A No.
Q Soyou don't know what shoes she was

10 {Pages 31 to 33)
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1 . REPORTER'S DECLARATION

2 STATE OF NEVADA)

3 COUNTY OF CLARK;
>4 I, Pauline C. May, CCR No. 286, declare as

5 follows:

6 That I reported the taking of the deposition of the

7rwitness, MILAN GRAOVAC, ceommencing on Monday,

8 April 22, 2019 at tChe hour of 2:40 p.m.

9 That prior to being examined, the witness was by me
10 duly sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
11 and nothing but the truth.

12 That I thereafter transcribed said shorthand notes
13 into typewriting and that the typewritten transcript
14 of said deposition is a complete, true and accurate
15 transcription of said shorthand notes taken down at
16 said time, and that a request has not been made to
17 review the transcript.
18 I further declare that T am not a relative or
19 employee of counsel of any party involved in said
20 action, nor a relative or emplcocyee of the parties
21 involved in said action, nor a person financially
22 interested in the action.
23 Dated at Las Vegas, Nevada this __ day of
; 2019.

24
25 Pauline C. May, CCR 286, RPR
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Page 3 Page 5
1 LOUIE CALLEROS, 1 Q The oath you've taken carries with it the
2 having been first duly sworn to tell the truth, the 2 same solemnity as if you were testifying in court
3 whole truth and nothing but the truth, was examined 3 before a judge and a jury,
4 and testified as follows: 4 A Correct.
5 5 Q Italso carries with it the penalties of
6 EXAMINATION & perjury; do you understand that?
7 BY MR. GALLIHER: 7 A Correct,

8 Q  Would you state your name, please, 8 Q You've been identified by the Venetian as -
9 A Louie Calleros, 9 this is what | read from the scope here, "The witness
10 Q And your business address. 10 was a reservations front desk employee present when

11 A 1It's 3355 Las Vegas Boulevard South. 11 the subject incident occurred and is expected to
12 Q And that's the Venetian? 12 testify as to the facts and circumstances surrounding
13 A Correct. 13 the controversy."
14 Q How long have you been employed by the 14 That's a description given by the Venetian.
1> Venetian? 15 Isthat accurate?
16 A 15 years May of this year, 16 A Correct.
17 Q  When you started, what was your job title? 17 Q And so you were present when my client fell?
18 A 1 worked as a reservations agent. 18 A 1 wasn't present at the time, but I had seen
15 Q And what's your job title now? 19 it like, out -- something out of the corner of my
20 A Front desk agent. 20 eye.
21 Q What's the difference between a reservation 21 Q All right, let's talk about that. The fall
22 agentand front desk agent? 22 occurred November 4, 2016. Do you understand that? -
23 A Reservation agents book the reservations for 23 A Yes.
24 future guests who are coming out to the hotel, and 24 Q In the early afternoon hours?
25 front desk agents check in the guests who are there 25 A Yes.
Page 4 Page ©
1 present for the hotel. 1 Q  And why don't you start with what you first
2 Q How long were you a reservations agent? 2 saw that day and just move me through it.
3 A Two years. 3 A The day or the time?
4 Q And so you've been a front desk agent for 4 Q  Well, I'm talking about the time of the
5 the past 13 years? 5 incident.
6 A No, kind of different titles between. 6 A Okay, Solwas going to lunch. So on my
7 Q Tell me about the different titles. 7 way, I seen a flash of something fall and 1
8 A I you are a reservations agent, it was job 8 immediately walked over to the area of where the guest
9 duties dealing with e-mail correspondence for 9 was and I seen her on the floor. 1 started to call
10 reservations wholesale company. 1 held that position 10 security and just kind of waited there until they
11 for about two years. 11 came.
12 After that was manager for reservations and 12 @ Now, there's some video surveillance that
13 did the same, two years. After that was a training 13 shows someone wearing a jacket. He's pot his back to
14 quality assurance and communications manager for the 14 the camera. Would that be you?
15 same reservations department. And then after that, 15 A That would be me.
16 went to the front desk. 16 (Q  Okay. Allright. So how long after the
17 Q  So how long have you been at the front desk? 17 sound you heard - apparently you didn't see the fall,
18 A Front desk is going on -~ let me see — 18 but you saw the movement?
12 three years, maybe four. 19 A Correcl.
20 Q So have you ever had your deposition taken 20 Q And so it appears to you that soimeone had
21 before? 21 fallen because you -- what? -- went to the scene and
22 A No, I have not. 272 there was a lady on the floor?
23 Q  You understand today that you are under 23 A Correct.
24 oath? 24 QQ Did she appear to be injured?
25 A Yes, Ido. 25 A Not to my knowledge.

3 (Pages 3 to 6)
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Page 7 Page 9
1 Q So she didn't appear to be injured te you. 1 me?
2 Did you talk to her? 2 A Short, white complexion, bald gentleman,
3 A No, I did not. 3 Q  You said shorts?
4 Q And when you say you walked over to the 4 A No, "short."
5 scene where she was on the floor, teil me what you did 3 Q Short in stature?
6 once you got there. 6 A Yes,
7 A Iseen her on the floor; | immediately 7 Q And you said bald and light complexion?
8 called security. I'm not trained for whatever 8 A Yes,
S happened, so my immediate thing was to call the EMT to 9 Q Do you remember what he was wearing?
10 get her assistance. 10 A ldonot.
11 Q And did you call the EMT because there was 11 Q Did you review the surveillance video before
12 some concern, in part, because she had been injured in 12 you came to today's deposition?
13 the fall? 13 A Yes, Idid.
14 A Correct. 14 Q  And when you reviewed the surveillance
15 Q The EMTs at the Venetian are security 15 video, did you see the bald person you described in
16 officers who receive emergency medical technician 16 the surveillance video?
17 training? 17 A Yes.
18 A 1 would assume. 18 Q But you don't know what he was wearing?
18 Q Do you know? 19 A Tdon't.
20 A ldon't know. |don't know if they go 20 Q Now, apart from the bald man that you
21 through the qualifications or anything, 21 described and Han and the lady on the floor, anybody
22 Q Apparently you knew enough and saw enough to 272 clse that arrived at the scene that you know?
23 call an EMT? 23 A Well, there was the EMT who came and then |
24 A Correct. 24 want to say another casino person, like a lady.
25 Q Now, how long did you remain at the scene of 25 Q Do you know who she was?
Page 8 Page 10
1 the fall after you arrived? 1 A Tdonot; no.
2 A I'm not too sure how long. 1 know I 2 Q Did you see any PAD personnel come to the
3 remained until security was meeting with her. So from 3 scene?
4 the time the event happened until then; and then after 4 A Yes.
5 they left, I departed as well. 5 Q The video appears to show a male and/or a
6 Q@ Do you have a best estimate of how long you 6 female.
7 were on the scene? 7 A 1 believe it was a male.
8 A Maybe 15, 20 minutes. 8 (2 Soyoudidn't see a female at the scene?
9 Q@ During that 15 or 20 minutes, did you speak 9 A No, ! don't remember.
10 with anyone other than my client? 10 Q  So the only one you remember seeing at the
11 A Ibelieve [ spoke with Han and the gentleman 11 scene was the male?
12 who was helping her to let them know that [ was 12 A Correct.
13 calling security. 13 Q And you described him. Did you see anybody
14 Q Yousay "Han." Who is Han? 14 that looked like the fellow that remained in our
15 A Han Sang is an employee at the hotel. He 15 waiting room today?
16 was my supervisor currently at the time, 16 A Possibly. I'm not too sure. Tdon't really
17 Q There appears to be a smaller Asian man that 17 remember.
18 walks over with a suit and tie a little bit later 18 Q  So you wouldn't know one way or the other?
19 after you arrived. Would that be Han? 19 A Yes.
20 A 1 believe so; yes. 20 (@ When that person arrived at the scene, what
21 Q Did you see any other Asian guys at the 21 did you see him do?
22 scene other than Han? 22 A Immediately, like, searching the area to
23 A Not to my knowledge. 23 clean up the spill or if there was a spill or anything
24 Q You said there was a gentleman that was 24 like that.
25 apparently helping the lady. Can you deseribe him for 25 @ Did you see him use his mop on the floor?

R
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A [believe so, yes.

Q Did you see him put his mop in a bucket and
wring it?

A That's -- | don't remember,

Q And you don't remember seeing a female with
towels on the floor either; is that right?

A No; correct,

Q@ Sothe only one you remember seeing from PAD
at the scene would be the male and you do remember,
however, that he brought a mop with him.

Correct,
And he used the mop on the floor?
Correct.
Did you have any conversations with him?
[ did not, no.
Now, during that 15 minutes that you were at
the scene and I'm getting -- that's your best
estimate.
Did you have conversations with anyone we
haven't talked about?

A [ think the security guard.

Q When you talk about the security guard --

A The EMT.

Q@ And do you remember anything about the
conversation; that is, what he said to you, what you
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Q Do you know of any other documents or
information that would give you any more to talk about
today?

A 1do not, no.

Q Have you understood all my questions today?

A Yes,

Q Anything you want me to repeat or rephrase
for you?

A No.

MR. GALLIHER: Pass the witness.
MR. ROYAL: Offthe record for a second.
{Discussion off the record.)

EXAMINATION
BY MR, ROYAL:

Q I'm going to show you some portions of a
video that was referenced in your -- by Mr. Galliher
in his examination of you. For the record, this is
VENQ19. So right now I'm starting this at 12:36:46.

Do you see where I'm looking here on the
time stamp?

A Yes.

Q Before | started it, what's depicted
generally of that area? The video that was asked of
you that you reviewed, does this look like the same --

W oI Wk

Page 12

said to him?

A Just asked him if he needed me for anything
else and that was it.

He said no, and then that was the end of the
conversation,

Q And did the security officer that came to
the scene -- the security officer EMT, ask you for
your contact information?

A No.

Q Did he take down your name or ask you to
give a statement?

A No, he did not.

Q  Would that explain why we don't see you
mentioned in the security report?

A Quile possibly.

Q Now, have you had conversations with anyone
else at the Venetian after you were at the scene after
it occurred?

A Notto my knowledge; no, | don't remember.,

Q So have you told me everything that you
remember about the incident today?

A Correct.

Q And that's even afier reviewing the
surveillance video?

A Correct.

OO~k o
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depicts the same area?

A Yes, correct.

(Q Okay. And by the way, before 1 start it --
again, we're at 12:36:46. Do you see yoursel{?

A Yes.

Q And where are you?

A Here.

Q  Okay. You are pointing to the top center of
the video?

A Correct.

Q And looks like you are standing in the
carpeted area; is that right?

A Correct.

Q Okay. The slot area I guess it would be,
Yes?

A Correct.

Q Okay. So right here at 12:36:50 the woman
goes down, you saw that. And then you see yourself
approaching; correct?

A Correct,

Q And that's you and you are wearing a nametag
and a jacket?

A Right.

Q  You described a gentleman -- and we're at
12:37:07. I'm going to stop it here, 12:37:09.
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Page 15 Page 17
1 ‘There's a gentleman who is bald in a suit. 1 A [donot; no.
2 A Uh-huh. 2 Q All right, now at 12:58. You know, I let it
3 Q There is a gentleman here who is standing, 3 run until 12:58. 1 stopped it again. You kind of
4 it looks like, between two women not far from where 4 turned around, you are looking.
5 the woman fell in front of her; is that right? 5 Do you remember what you are looking for?
6 A Correct. 6 A Security. Their office is directly behind
7 Q Okay. Is that the man that you remember? 7 here to the right.
8 A Correct, 8 Q Behind -- so at 12:39:10, let's say - let
9 Q Okay. And do you remember having any 9 me back up here. Sorry about that.
10 specific conversations with that particular gentleman 10 12:39:06, there is a woman on a phone who
11 atthe scene? 11 shows up, and she would be to your right as you are

P
[N

12 A No. standing facing the woman on the floor; correct?

i3 Q Okay. So I'm going to -- I'm going to stop 13 A Correct.
14 itat 12:37:15. And at this particular time, do you 14 Q  And that's the woman that you referenced
15 remember observing anything about the floor? 15 earlier in your testimony?

16 A Nothing in particular; no. 16 A Correct.
17 Q Okay. Did you notice anything about the 17 (Q  And you don't recall who that is?
1& floor other than the fact that the woman was on the 18 A 1do not; no.
19 floor? 13 Q Youdon't recall having a conversation with
20 A 1donot; no. 20 her?
21 Q Okay, By that I'm asking, did you notice 21 A Tdo not; no.
22 any foreign substances or anything on the floor in the 22 Q Okay. Now we're at 12:39 -- 12:39:18,
23 area? 23 12:39:20, the bald man who appears to be a coworker:;
24 A 1did not; no, 24 correct?
25 Q Why were you standing in this area that is 25 A Correct.
Page 16 Page 18
1 depicted, again, at 12:37:15? Why are you standing 1 (Q Okay. He comes back from the restroom area
Z Tacing the woman on the ground? 2 and looked like he was talking with someone and looks
3 What were you doing there? 3 like he was maybe talking with you.
4 A So there, | would be contacting security. 4 Again, you don't recall any kind of
5 Sojust getting on my phone to call the center number 5 discussion you had with him at the time?
& to get the news to security. 6 A 1can't remember; no.
7 Q Okay. So you were on your cell phone and 7 Q At 12:39:35, the gentleman at the top, do
8 that's what you are doing? 8 you recognize what department he's from by his
9 A Correct, 9 uniform?
10 (@ SoI'm going to speed this up just a tad. 10 A Yes.
11 Okay, now I'm just going to go back just a moment, 11 Q What would it be?
12 Let's goto 12:38:43. 12 A Trom PAD,
13 You see the bald man coming to speak to you? 13 Q Allright. And at 12:39:42, that Asian
14 A Uh-huh. 14 gentleman that you identificd, does he then show up?
15 MR. GALLIHER: Is that yes? 15 A Correct.
16 THE WITNESS: Yes. I'm sorry. 16 Q And what's his name again?
17 BY MR.ROYAL: 17 A Han Sang,
18 Q Okay. I'l stop it at 12:38:52. Do you 18 Q  Now, at 12:39:43, you will notice you are
19 remember anything you had about your conversation with 19 pointing at the floor. Do you see that?
20 him at that time? 20 A Correct.
21 A 1do not; no. 21 Q Youare having a conversation with Mr. Han
22 Q Soat about — or 12:38:52, he points 22 Sang?
23 towards the restrooms; is that right? 23 A Correct.
24 A Correct. 24 Q Do you remember anything about that
25 conversation?

25 Q But you don't recall what he said fo you?

6 (Pége; 15‘to 18;
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A ldonot. Just maybe something along the
line of she fell here.

Q Do you remember at the time of pointing at
the floor, do you remember what you saw on the floor?

A ldon't recall seeing anything on the floot.

Q Allright. You were asked about a PAD
showing up with a mop. At 12:39:56, do you see a
gentleman with a mop?

A Yes.

Q And you were standing there as he was
mopping; correct?

A Correct.

Q And I'm going to stop it at 12:40:00. By
that time, had you neticed anything on the floor that
he was mopping up?

A | had not; no.

Q Okay. And again, you don't recall any
specific conversations that you had with anyone at the
scene up to the point of 12:40:06 in the video?

A Correct.

Q Al right. Now, 12:40:12, you will see that
the PAD man with the mop has gone over by the column.

Do you see that?
A Yes.
Q Do you remember watching what he was doing

ja
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back, do you know who that is?

A Don't know who it is.

Q Do you know what department he's from by the
way he looks here?

A He would be from security as well.

Q Do you remember speaking with him while you
were at the scene?

A Not speaking with him. Not at the scene,
no. Like, the VP was the one | asked, when we
departed, if he needed to speak with me or needed me
any further,

Q@ Okay. Now, as we have looked at the video
where ['ve stopped at 12:43:35, did you notice how
many PAD people were there?

A No, no way.

Q That's okay, I didn't ask vou to watch. So
I'l go back. Ckay.

Right now at 12:39:50, how many PAD people
do you see that?

A Three.

Q Okay. How many of them are men and women?

A Two men, one woman.

Q  Does that refresh your recollection about
anything you testified to? Do you remember there
being more than one person there cleaning up?

—
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Page 20
as you were standing there?
A No, I don't.
(Q  You were just waiting for security to show
up?
A Correct.

Okay. I'm going to stop it at 12:41 -- I'm
sorry, 12:41:41, where a security officer has -- |
assume that’s a security officer.

Could you identify the uniform?

A Yes, that would be a security officer.

Q When you testified earlier about an EMT,
would that be the officer you were talking about?

A Correcl.

(3 Do you remember having any discussions with
that gentleman who is -- at this point, at 12:41:46,
is bent over or kneeled down, squatted down, is
talking (o the woman on the floor?

A At this point, no, [ had not spoken with
him.

(@ Okay. Now at 12:43:17, another person
arrives with something on his back and looks like --
looks like he's got a wheelchair with him,

Do you remember that?
A Yes.
(3 Okay. The man with the something on his
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A Now, yes.

Q Okay. So in having reviewed the video --
you know what? I just had one more. Let me go back
one here.

Okay. I'm going to stop it at 12:39:35 just
for a moment. Looking at the particular point where
I've stopped the video, are you able to identify
anything on the floor that you can recall was foreign
or should not have been there? Any kind of a
substance?

MR. GALLIHER: For the record, are you
asking him to look at the surveillance video on your
computer?

BY MR. ROYAL:

Q No. Let me ask it this way.

My understanding of your testimony is you
did not see anything on the floor; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q  Atany point?

A Correct.

MR. ROYAL: I pass the witness.

FURTHER EXAMINATION
BY MR. GALLIHER:
Q Actually, I just reviewed the surveillance
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Page 23 Page 25
1 video with you and correct me if I'm wrong. In all 1 floor from the time you arrived until you left with
2 the surveillance video that 1 saw, [ didn't really see 2 security; correct?
3 you looking at the floor. You seemed to be focused on 3 A Correct,
4 the bald man and obviously with security and turning 4 Q Did you ever speak with anyone who indicated
S around and looking for security. 3 to you that they saw something on the floor while you
6 Did you ever study carefully the floor and o were there?
7 determine whether there was anything on it? 7 A Tdid not; no.
B MR, ROYAL: Objection to form. 8 Q Did you speak with anyone after the fact
9 BY MR. GALLIHER: 9 that indicated to you that they saw something on the
10 Q@  You may answer. 10 floor?
11 A Okay. Sorry. 11 A 1did not; no.
12 No, I don't recall, like, specificaily 12 MR. ROYAL: Okay. T'll pass.
13 examining the floor for any type of substance. 13
14 Q Itwouldn't have been your function as a 14 FURTHER EXAMINATION
15 front desk person; correct? 15 BY MR. GALLIHER:
16 A Correct. 16 Q Protocol. Protocol at the Venetian was that
17 (@ That would have been the function of 17 if you saw something on the floor, spills, something
18 security and PAD people? 18 of that nature, it was your obligation to call PAD;
18 A That would be correct. 19 right?
20 MR. GALLIHER: That's all I have. 20 A Correct.
21 21 Q Soifthe table games person that you saw
22 FURTHER EXAMINATION 22 with the bald head has testified at deposition that
23 BY MR. ROYAL: 23 when he arrived at the scene, he looked at the floor
24 Q Do you happen to know if that would be the 24 and called PAD, would that be the protocol if one
25 function of a table games supervisor to notice 25 would expect if there was something on the floor?
Page 24 Page 26
1 something on the floor? 1 A T'would assume. I mean it's mostly, like,
2 A I do not; no. 2 the -- kind of instilled with us to take care of the
3 Q 1mean if you notice something on the floor, 3 property, you know, be proud of where you work.
4 was there a pretocol that you would follow? 4 So if I see something, right away -- you
5 A We call PAD to have them come and clean up > know, I call right away and say something. T usually
6 the spill. 6 stay on scene until it's cleaned up just to make sure
7 Q Now, again I showed you at 12:39:40 when 7 that it is taken care of. But what somebody else
8 Mr. Han Sang came. You see how you looked down at the 8 would do, I'm not really too sure,
9 floor at that point -- stopping it at 12:39:44 — and 9 Q  Aliright. Presuming he had the same
10 had a conversation with him? 10 training you had since he was an employee of the
11 A Correct. 11 Venetian that -~ you testified about 15 years?
12 Q Does that refresh your recollection about 12 A Correct.
13 what you testified to today related to your 13 Q  Well, he was employed that long, He
14 observation about the floor? 14 probably would have had the same protocol you were
15 A Correct. 15 taught, that is, if you see something on the floor
16 Q Well, when you looked at the floor and had 16 that you think is a danger, you call PAD?
17 this conversation with Mr. Han Sang, what do you 17 A Correct.
18 remember telling him, if anything, about what was on 18 Q Allright. Thank you. Nothing further.
19 the floor? 19
20 A [don'ttemember speaking about anything on 20 FURTHER EXAMINATION
21 the floor. Just that she fell on -- like, she had 21 BY MR.ROYAL:
22 fallen on the floor, but not any type of, like, that 22 Q That table games gentleman also testified
23 there was something on the floor specifically to cause 23 that he saw water on the floor right in the area in
24 the fall. 24 front of you where you were standing at the time this
25 woman was on the floor.

25

Q Okay. So you didn't see anything on the

R Pl TR L g w5

8 (Pages 23 to 26)

Canyon Court Reporting, Inc. (702) 419-9676

VEN 2770




LOUIE CALLEROS 4/22/2019

W DRI 0w

Page 27

And so, in fact, his testimony was that
there was water right in the area where you're
pointing at 12:39:43. Did you see water on the floor?

A Tcannot recall seeing water on the floor;
na.

Q Ever?

A Correct.

Q And you don't recall having a conversation
with the baldheaded gentleman who indicated to you
that he saw water on the floor; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q And at 12:38:51, that baldheaded gentleman
is standing between you and the woman on the floor;
correct?

A Correct.

Q And at that particular time, you don't
remember him saying anything to you about there being

@D~ W
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Page 29

very -- some kind of] like -- what is it? [ can't
even think of what it's called - like a smudge, you
know, like shoes - a scuff. Like a scuff on the
floor or something like that.

Q Okay. You've never worked in PAD?

A No.

Q Youare not aware of PAD protocol?

A No,sir.

Q And you are not aware of PAD, what they do
when they patrol an area?

A lam not; no.

Q You are not aware of what PAD does when it
routinely just cleans a bathroom or ¢leans a floor; is
that right?

A Correct.

Q  And you don't know what PAD protocols are
when it comes to just responding to someone who claims

18 water on the floor right in front of you; correct? 18 there was something on the floor, whether they find it
19 A Correct. 1% ornot?
20 MR. ROYAL: Nothing further. 20 A Correct.
21 21 Q Okay. Despite the fact that the video shows
22 FURTHER EXAMINATION 22 PAD actually mopping or using a mop or whatever, you
23 BY MR. GALLIHER: 23 stiil didn't see anything on the floor?
21 QQ Justa couple more. All right. Asalay 24 A Correct,
25 person employed at the Venetian - you are still 25 Q You don't know what they were doing?
Page 28 Page 30
1 employed at the Venetian? 1 A Correct.
2 A Correct. 2 Q Allright. Youdidn't give them any
3 Q When I'm talking about lay person, I'm 3 instructions at the scene?
4 talking about a non-lawyer; do you understand? 4 A No.
5 A Yes. 3 MR. ROYAL; That's all.
6 Q Ifyou see a PAD person coming to the area 6
7 of a fall and the first thing you do is take out a mop 7 FURTHER EXAMINATION
8 and mop, and then they put their mop in the bucket, as 8 BY MR. GALLIHER:
9 you just saw on the video, and wring it, what would 9 Q You do know what a mop is for, don't you?
10 that tell you about what was on the floor? 10 A Correct.
11 MR. ROYAL: Objection -- objection, calls 11 MR. GALLIHER: Thank you. Nothing further.
12 for speculation, 12 Okay.
13 BY MR. GALLIHER: 13 MR. ROYAL: Well, just a minute,
14 Q  You may answer. 14 Nothing further.
15 A No --yes, I'm sorry. [ would assume there 15 MR. GALLIHER: All right, we're done. Thank
16 would be something on the floor. 16 you very much for coming,.
17 MR. GALLIHER: Okay. Thank you. Nothing 17 (The deposition concluded at 2:37 p.m.)
18 further. 18
19 19
20 FURTHER EXAMINATION 20
21 BY MR, ROYAL: 21
22 Q Okay. You would assume that. What other 22
23 reasons would someone take out a mop to clean the 23
24 floor? 24
25 A Like debris or dust, like, they have a 25
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REPORTER'S DECLARATION
STATE OF NEVADA}
COUNTY OF CLARK;
I, Pauline C. May, CCR No. 286, declare as
follows:

That T reported the taking of the deposition of the

witness, LOUIE CALLEROS, commencing on Monday,
April 22, 2019 at the hour of 2:00 p.m.

That prior to being examined, the witness was by me
duly sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
and nothing but the truth.

That I therearfter transcribed said shorthand notes
into typewriting and that the typewritten transcript
of said deposition is a complete, true and accurate
transcription of said shorthand notes taken down at
said time, and that a request has not been made to
review the transcript.

I further declare that I am not a relative or
employee of counsel of any party involved in said
action, nor a relative or employee of the parties
involved in said action, nor a person financially
interested in the action.

Dated at Las Vegas, Nevada this day of
, 2019.

Pauline C. May, CCR 286, RPR
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Page b5

1 ‘ SANG HAN, 1 2016, about 1:30 in the afternoon.
2 having been first duly sworn to tell the truth, the 2 Do you understand that?
3 whole truth and nothing but the truth, was examined 3 A Yes.
4 and testified as follows; 4 Q Now, how did you prepare for today's
5 5 deposition?
6 EXAMINATION 6 A I'm sorry?
7 BY MR. GALLIHER: 7 @ How did you prepare for today's deposition?
8 Q  Would you state your name, please. 8 By the way, my voice is not so good because I'm just
9 A Sang Han. 9 petting over a virus.
10 Q And your business address. 10 A Yeah. I was informed that I was being
11 A 3355 South Las Vegas Boulevard. 11 called upon today, and so T was told what I would be
12 Q Atthe Venetian Hotel and Casino? 12 doing generally.
13 A That's right. 13 (Q  When you say you were told, by whom?
14 Q How long have you been working at the 14 A I'was informed by Mr. Royal.
15 Venetian? 15 Q Allright. Tdon't want to know about your
16 A Since October 2012. 16 conversation with Mr. Royal, they're privileged.
17 Q And when you started at the Venetian, what 17 Now let's go back into your preparation.
18 was your job title? 18 Did you review the surveillance video regarding this
19 A Hotel manager for the front office. 19 event?
20 Q And what is your present job title? 20 A Ldid
21 A Assistant director of housekeeping. 21 Q And did you see the entire video or do you
22 Q And have you held any other positions at the 22 know?
23 Venetian since you started there? 23 A ldid,
24 A No, [ have not. 24 Q  And did you see the events leading up to the
25 Q When did you assume your present position of 25 fall?
Page 4 Page ©
1 assistant director of housekeeping? 1 A Ibelieve I have.
2 A 2016, May. 2 Q Did you see the fall itself?
3 Q  And let's start when you first started at 3 A Yes.
4 the Venetian. What were your duties as a manager? 4 Q And did you see the aftermath of the fall?
5 A As a hotel manager? 5 A Yes.
6 Q Yes. 6 Q  You are on the video, right?
7 A ['would describe it as overall 7 A Yes.
8 responsibility for the front desk operation, to kind 8 Q In fact, I see you arriving at I guess
9 of briefly describe it. Different things that go with 9 12:39:40. You leave at 12:42:42 which means you are
10 that, but a general responsibility for the front 10 there roughly three minutes.
11 office. 11 Would that square with your recollection?
12 (3 So was there a reason you moved to your 12 A Tdidn't time myself, but I guess if that's
13 present position? 13 the information you have, yeah.
14 A For career growth. 14 Q  Well, if you are not so sure, you can
15 Q For what? 15 disagree with me. But I timed it, a little over three
16 A For career growth. 16 minutes.
17 Q Is the idea that you need to become more 17 Does that sound about right?
18 familiar with various aspects of the hotel operations 18 A 1would agree.
19 so that, somewhere down the line, you can be the 19 Q Sohow is it you were summoned to the scene
20 general manager of the whole hotel? 20 of'the fall?
21 A That would be one of the reasons, yes. 21 A 1 was not summoned, necessarily. I was
22 Q Any other reasons? 22 nearby at a coffee shop, Bouchon Bakery, on the video
23 A Just learning | guess, yes. 23 and [ saw Louie. So [ went.
24 Q Fair enough. So we're here to talk about a 24 Q  And "Leuie," Lovie who?
25 fall that happened at the Venetian on November 4, 25 A He was at the time a front desk agent and I
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1 believe still is, . 1 that?
2 Q Isthat the -- Louie's the big fellow that's 2 A ldo.
3 very wide, got his back to the camera most of the 3 Q Anddo you recall the conversations you had
4 time? 4 with my client when you knelt down and spoke with her?
5 A Got a mustache. B A Vaguely, yes.
6 Q Yes. Latino fellow, [ believe. 6 Q Can you tell me what you vaguely remember
7 A Ibelieve that would be correct, yeah. 7 about the conversations.
8 Q So you were at Bouchon Bakery. Were you 8 A Iremember asking, you know, if she was okay
9 getting something to cat or drink? 9 and if she's hurt in any particular area and if |
10 A Afterncon coffee. 10 could be of any assistance.
11 Q  What do they sell at Bouchon Bakery? They 11 And, you know, just kind of the whole
12 sell coffee. Do they sell water? 12 purpose of the conversation was to kind of keep her
13 A I'm not quite certain. 13 calm and be empathetic about what had happened to her
14 Q Ordo you know? 14 and just to make sure that she knows that, you know,
15 A I'm not sure, 15 we're here to assist.
16 (Q  When you go there, you go there for coffee? 16  Q Did you ask her what happened to her?
17 A Correct. 17 A Yes,
18 Q And do they have a variety of coffee drinks? 18 Q And what did she say?
19 A Sure. 19 A She informed me that she had fallen.
20 Q Like cappuccinos and espressos and lattes, 20 Q Did she also respond to your questions about
21 that type of thing? 21 whether or not she was hurt?
22 A 1believe so. 22 A She told me that her, 1 believe, left arm
23 Q So when you order coffee there, what do you 23 was -- like the elbow area, was hurting,
24 get? 24 Q Any other areas of her body you remember?
25 A Thaven't visited the establishment in quite 25 A I do not recall her mentioning any other
Page 8 Page 10
1 some time, but just a regular iced coffee. 1 areas.
2 Q Now, at the time that you were -- the day of 2 Q Do you have an intact recollection of all of
3 the fall, November 4, 2016, what was your job title at 3 those conversations?
4 the Venetian at that time? 4 A Thave a general recollection of the
5 A November '167 5 conversation; yes.
6 Q November 4, 2017, 6 Q Have you told me about your general
7 A 1 would have been with the housekeeping - T recollection of all of those conversations today, or
8 department. 8 is there something else that you talked about that we
9 Q So when did you start with the housekeeping 9 haven't addressed?
10 department? 10 MR. ROYAL: I'm just going to object to
11 A May'l7. 11 form.
12 Q And were you on break at the time, or lunch? 1Z BY MR. GALLIHER:
13 A 1 believe so, yes. 13 Q That's the question.
14 Q That would be why you were down at Bouchon 14 A Ifyou are asking if | was working on
15 Bakery? 15 information, I believe I said I answered the question
le A I certainly hope so, yes. 16 fto the best of my ability.
17 Q And what is it that caught your attention to 17 Q Actually I'm not asking you that.
18 the fall?. 18 A Okay.
19 A T saw Louie kind of looking around | 19 Q What I'm asking you, was there any other
20 believe, and so - and | was nearby, And so just 20 conversation you had with her that you and [ haven't
21 being in the position that I'm in, | went over to see 21 talked about?
22 if there was anything that I could be of assistance 22 A Not that I can recall, no.
23 with, 23 Q So the subiect, basically, of the
24 (@ The video seems it shows you kneeling down 24 conversation were: Are you hurt and, if so, where?
25 and speaking with my client. Do you recall seeing 25 A Yes.
= T e T .
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1 Q And: What happened to you? 1 towels, mopping the floor with the towels?
2 A Sure. 2 A That, I don't recall.
3 Q Were those the two subjects or were there 3 Q You see it in the video?
4 others? 4 A Yes. | have, yes.
5 A Those are the main that T can think of. 5 Q You see in the video, you see a female PAD
6 Q How long did your conversations last with my & employee that's got towels on her feet and she's
7 client? 7 moving the feet around on the floor using it to dry
8 A Evidently, not more than three minutes. 8 the floor.
9 Q Very astute on your part. 9 Do you see that?
10 Do you know -- when you reviewed the video, 10 A 1do recall seeing perhaps, too, but I might
11 do you know whether you spent the entire three minutes 11 have missed that detail.
12 talking to my client or did you talk with anyone else 12 (Q So what might have happened, you might not
13 on the scene? 13 have seen that at the time?
14 A linteracted with Louie briefly, seeing - 14 A Uh-huh,
15 you know, asking him what had happened. 15 (@ But you might have seen it when you see the
16 Q And what did he tell you? 16 surveillance video; would that be fair?
17 A [ recall him telling me that she had fallen 17 A You know, 1 can't say that with confidence.
18 and at the location and that the EMT was on the way. 18 Q So we've got a litle bit of a situation
19 Q And did the EMT arrive while you were there? 19 here where you've got some recollection of what you
20 A [ recall a security officer arriving, 20 saw at the time of the event,
21 Q Wasn't that the fellow dressed in blue in 21 A Uh-huh.
22 the video? 22 Q  And you were there three minutes, and you
23 A That would be correct, yes. 23 have other information that you've accumulated now
24 Q And the EMT fellow was dressed with a white 24 that you've seen the video surveillance video,
25 top, black pants and he had a backpack? 25 Would that be fair?
Page 12 Page 14
1 A That would be correct. 1 A Yes.
2 Q Did you see him arrive? 2 QQ  So can you separate the two, while you
3 A 1believe I did, yes. I believe 1 did. 3 testify, concerning what you saw?
4 Q Did you see any PAD employees arrive? The 4 A Not quite sure what the question is.
5 porters? 5 Q Well, can you separate what you saw at the
6 A Yes, I believe I did. 6 time you arrived, in this three minutes, versus what
7 Q How long after you arrived at the scene did 7 you saw when you reviewed the surveillance video?
8 vyou see the first PAD person there? 8 A I'm not quite sure how to answer that
9 A Tdon't know the exact time frame that had 9 question.
10 passed. 1aQ Q Okay. Let's go back, then, to your three
11 Q And when the PAD person arrived, what did he 11 minutes that you were at the scene.
12 or she do? 12 A Okay.
13 A They attended to the general area, just kind 13 Q You talked about the conversations you had
14 of doing their due diligence. 14 with my client; right?
i5 Q When you say "attended to the general area," 15 A Yes.
16 can you describe physically what they did? 16 Q And you talked about the conversations you
17 A 1believe they arrived with a mop and a 17 had with -- what's the gentleman's name?
18 bucket and then they walked around the area, kind of 18 A Louie.
19 generally T guess walking around. I'm not quite sure 18 Q Louie. And you've told me about all these
20 exactly what they were ~- 20 conversations; correct?
21 Q Well, did you see them mopping the floor? 21 A Correct.
22 A I'm sorry? 22 Q And the only thing you can recall about
23 Q Did you see them mopping the floor? 23 those conversations, you asked what happened and you
24 A Yes. _ 24 said the lady fell basically?
25 Q Anddid you see anybody with their foot on 25 A Yes.
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1 Q Did you surveil the scene? Did you walk 1 A So [ believe the immediate area of where the
2 around it? Did you look at the floot? Did you look 2 fall had happened was within my immediate view and,
3 atmy client's clothes? Any of that? 3 from my observation, there was nothing on the floor
4 A Tdid not inspect her clothing. 1 did 4 that came across to me as a concern.
5 observe the nearby area, yes. 5 Q Mr. Shulman's identified water on the floor.
6 Q Did you observe the area before or after it 6 So would you disagree?
7 was mopped? 7 A [ guess -- I guess, yeah, I do.
8 A It would be before because PAD arrived 8 Q And your positicon at the time, you were the
9 afterwards. 9 assistant director of housekeeping?
10 Q Allright. So when you observed the floor 10 A That's correct.
11 before it was mopped, what did you see? 11 Q And housekeeping would be in charge, 1
12 A 1saw her lying on the floor. 12 presume, of the porters.
13 Q Okay. Did you see any liquid on the floor? 13 A Porters as in --
14 A No. 14 Q PAD employees.
15 Q Did you see a gentleman there at the time 15 A No.
16 you arrived, a bald fellow who worked in the casino? 16 Q So they're not part of the housekeeping
17 A Iremember seeing a gentleman in a suit, 17 department?
18 yes. 18 A That is correct.
15 Q A bald fellow? 19 Q So do you have any supervisory control over
20 A [ believe that fits the description, 20 any PAD employees?
21 Q He's been identified as a Gary Shulman. Did 21 A Not in the general sense, no.
22 you know Mr. Schulman perscnally before that day? 22 Q s this the first fall that you've been part
23 A [ did not. 23 of or witnessed as an employee of the Venetian on the
24 Q Have you ever had any conversations with 24 marble floors?
25 him? 25 A That's correct.
Page 16 Page 18
1 A Tdon'trecall having a conversation with 1 Q Soyou've never seen another one?
2 him, no. 2 A That's correct.
3 Q Do vou remember seeing him point out 3 Q Have you ever heard about any falls on the
4 anything on the floor while you were there? 4 marble floors at the Venetian?
5 A [ don't remember him pointing anything out 5 A Not that I can recall, no.
6 o the floor while [ was there. & Q And so you've been there since what year?
7 Q And do you remember anyone else pointing out 7 A 2012
8 anything on the floor while you were there? 8 Q Allright. So, since 2012, this is the only
S A Ido not remember anyone pointing out 9 fall that you ever witnessed in the sense of being
10 anything on the floor. 10 partof?
11 Q Did you walk completely around the area 11 A That's correct.
12 where the fall occurred in order to examine the floor 12 Q  And your part of this fall was basically you
13 when you arrived? 13 arriving after it happened?
14 MR. ROYAL: I'm going to just object to 14 A That's correct.
15 form. 15 Q  Youdidn't see it happen?
16 BY MR. GALLIHER: 16 A That's correct.
17 Q  You may answer. 17 Q And when you arrived after it happened, you
18 A So I observed the floor of the immediate 18 had a conversation with my client which you've told me
19 area 19 about, right?
20 Q So [ seeyou kneeling down and talking with 20 A That's correct.
21 myclient. That's what 1 see in the video. 21 Q You also had a conversation with your
22 A Yes. 22 co-employee that you told me about?
23 (@ Is there anything on the video that would 23 A That's correct.
24 show me that you walked around and inspected the floor 24 Q And it's your testimony that -- did you
25 when you arrived? 25 perform a complete inspection of the floor in the area
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Page 21

1 where the fall occurred when you arrived? 1 Q Okay. Pass the witness.
2 MR. ROYAL: Object to form. 2
3 THE WITNESS: [ observed the immediate area 3 EXAMINATION
4 of where the fall had occurred. 4 BY MR. ROYAL:
5 BY MR. GALLIHER: 5 Q I'm going to show you - I've got some
€ Q And could you have missed anything? 6 stills that I'm just going to show you and mark. This
7 MR. ROYAL: Object to form. 7 one I'm going to mark as Exhibit A is VEN950.
8 THE WITNESS: From my recollection, what 1 8 (Defendants’ Exhibit A marked for
9 observed of the immediate area of the fall 1 did not 9 identification.)
10 see ofany concern. 10 MR. ROYAL: I'm not marking the whole thing,
11 BY MR. GALLIHER: 11 just giving those to you. So if you don't mind, 1
12 Q All right. So you wouldn't have missed 12 might want these back at the end of the depo. It's
13 anything because your inspection was thorough; is that 13 just so you can look at them.
14 right? 14 MR. GALLIHER: Okay.
15 MR. ROYAL.: 1 object to form. 15 BY MR.ROYAL:
16 THE WITNESS: From my immediate observation 16 Q Sowe're going to mark that as "A," and just
17 ofthe immediate area, 1 did not see anything of 17 for the record, this says 12:39:43. And so
18 concern. 18 Mr. Galliher provided you with times and you didn't
19 BY MR. GALLIHER: 12 have the benefit of looking at times, but that's
20 Q Let's go back, then. You had not had a 20 pretty close to what [ think he said.
21 chance to see the fall itself, right? 21 I have, at 12:39:42 -- T have your arrival
22 A In the -- not -- not in person, 22 at 12:39:42 on the video and your departure at
23 (@ But you saw it on the video surveillance? 23 12:42:32. You are not going to know that unless you
24 A That's correct. 24 look at the video.
25 Q So when you saw the fall on the video 25 A Yes.
Page 20 Page 22
1 surveillance, what does it look like the woman slipped 1 Q SoI'mshowing you Exhibit A.
2 on? 2 MR. GALLIHER: What's the Bates?
3 MR. ROYAL: Object to form. 3 MR. ROYAL: VEN950. | have it marked on the
4 THE WITNESS: Ican't answer that question 4 side,
5 intelligently. 5 BY MR. ROYAL:
6 BY MR. GALLIHER: 6 Q So do you recognize yourself in this?
7 Q Do you know? 7 A Ido.
8 A ldonot. 8 Q And which one would you be?
9 Q Okay. Does the fall in any way look like 9 A That handsome fellow.
10 she slipped on liquid? 10 Q So your back is to the camera?
11 MR. ROYAL: Object to form. 11 A Correct.
12 THE WITNESS: I can't answer that question., 12 Q And you would be to the left. Do you see
13 BY MR. GALLIHER: 13 the woman on the floor?
14 Q Soyou don'tknow one way or the other? 14 A ldo.
15 A [ can't answer whether the -- how the person 15 Q Now, Counsel asked about a bald gentleman
16 may have fallen. 16 who was a coworker who is also in a suit. Do you see
17 Q Allright. But as you testify here today, 17 him also in the photo?
18 you don't know whether or not she slipped on water or 18 A Yes, [ believe I do.
12 liguid. All you know is she feli? 19 Q And what's he doing?
20 A That's correct, yes. 20 A Seems to me that he is speaking with the
z1 Q Have you understood all my questions today? 21 lady who's on the floor.
22 A Ibelieve I have. 22 Q Okay. And then you also identified -
23 Q And anything you want me to repeat or 23 there's a man to your right?
24 rephrase for you? 24 A Yes.
25 A No, I don't believe there is anything, 25 Q And who is that?
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. Page 23 Page 25
1 A That would be Louie Calleros. 1 A Correct.
2 Q Okay. Now, in this particular still, what 2 Q And then Mr. Calleros is on the very
3 is Mr. Calleros doing? 3 right - far right?
4 A He is asking -- he is identifying to me the 4 A Correct.
5 area in which the fall had occurred. 5 Q Okay. Asyou are having -- and I'm sorry.
6 Q Okay. Now, and what are you doing at this 6 This is at 12 -- can you read what that says?
7 particular time as depicted in this still? 7 A 12:40:37.
8 A Iam acknowledging the area where the fall 8 Q So at 12:40:37 that's you talking to the
9 had occurred and observing the immediate area of the 9 plaintift, asking her the questions that you've
10 fall, 10 already gone over today?
11 Q Okay. Now, you were asked questions about 11 A Right.
12 observations and inspections and so forth. What were 12 Q Do you remember her saying anything during
13 you inspecting at this particular time? 13 that conversation about how she fell?
14 A I 'was inspecting, looking to see if there 14 A No.
15 would be any, 1 guess, conditions that may be of 15 QDo you remember her saying anything about
16 concern. 16 what caused her to fall?
17 Q Elaborate on that. What do you mean by -~ 17 A No.
18 what would be of concern? 18 Q During the three minutes that you were there
19 A Anything that shouldn't be there naturally. 19 as depicted on the video, did you ever see any foreign
20 Foreign objects including, you know, liquid or 20 substance on the floor anywhere that you recall?
21 anything of that matter, 21 A No, I did not,
22 Q Okay. And what did you observe at that 22 Q Do you recall at any time while you were
23 time? 23 talking with the woman, the plaintiff, her -- strike
24 A 1did observe the floor. 1didn't see any 24 that,
25 foreign material -- 25 Okay. What I'm going to do before
Page 24 Page 26
1 Q  Okay. 1 complete this, I'm just going to -- since we're only
2 A - at that time. 2 talling three minutes here, I'm going to have you
3 (Q  When you had a conversation with Louie at 3 watch the three minutes of video while you were there,
4 this particular time, or that started around this time 4 I'm going to start this at 12:39:40, And then | just
5 as indicated on Exhibit A, do you remember him saying 5 want you to watch it. ['ve got a couple questions,
6 anything about what he had observed? & then I'll be done.
7 A He had informed me that the lady had fallen 7 (Video Plays.)
8 in that particular area. 8 BY MR.ROYAL:
9 (@ Okay. Anything else that you recall? 9 Q  Sol've stopped it at 12:42:43, You've just
10 A Not -- not that I can recall; no. 10 now watched all that.
11 Q All right, so we'll mark this next one as -- 11 Did any of that refresh your recollection as
12 VEN953 and we'll mark that as B. I'm just going to 12 to what you testified to today?
13 show you that, put that in front of you here and ask 13 A Seems like pretty much in line to what I've
14 if you can identify yourself. 14 answered today.
15 (Defendants' Exhibit B marked for 15 Q Okay. Did you see PAD mopping in the area,
16 identification.) 16 in the video?
17 THE WITNESS: Yes, that would be me. 17 A 1did, yes.
18 BY MR. ROYAL: 18 Q Do you have any idea what they were mopping
19 Q Okay. Sothe woman in the center is the 15 up -- why they were mopping the floor?
20 woman that we have referred to as the plaintiff. You 20 A Not quite sure what exactly they were
21 don't remember her name, do you? 21 mopping up or why.
22 A 1donot, no. 22 Q  All right. Now, you saw at 12:39 -- I'm
23 Q Now, you were kind of squatting down; right? 22 poing to go back to — let's go to 12:40:33. Maybe
24 Tdon't know. Kneeling. The knee indicates you got 24 1l go back to 12:40:24.
25 your knee on the ground, but that's you? 25 At 12:40:24, there's Mr, Shulman, the man —

8 (Pages 23 to 26)
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. Page 27 Page 29
1 the bald man who's talking to the woman on the floor 1 Q Yeah. If you see a spill on the floor, you
2 and you are on the far right. Do you see that? 2 report it to PAD and they clean it up, right?
3 A [do. 3 A That would be, generally speaking, yes.
4 Q Okay. Do you recall having any discussion 4 Q And of course, you also see the other
5 with Mr, Shulman, who is depicted in this video, where 5 photograph here -- I'm looking at 952. And let's look
6 he indicated to you anything about what he had 6 at 952, Mike, do you have 952 to show him? This is
7 observed at the scene? 7 part of the package that you've already reviewed.
B A 1don't believe I did, no. 8 This is 952, so we have a PAD employee there.
9 Q So you talked with Officer Johnson when he 9 MR. ROYAL: I'm sorry. 1'm sorry, | was
10 arrived, the officer in blue? 10 just going to say the time.
11 A Yes. 11 BY MR. GALLIHER;
12 Q Do you remember anything specific about that 12 Q Al right, that's fine. It's 12:39:59, We
13 conversation? 13 have a PAD employee, he's wearing the black-and-red
14 A No. Well, just that and what the lady had 14 uniform; is that right?
15 informed me about her, you know, hurting her arm and 15 A Okay. Yes.
16 then that, You've got it, and so essentially excused 16 Q And looks like the PAD employee is using the
177 myself, handing it over to the security officer. 17 mop on the floor.
18 Q Okay. Let me see if | have anything else. 18 A Right.
19 That's all I have. 19 Q And as you testify here today, you don't
20 20 know what he was mopping?
21 FURTHER EXAMINATION 21 A Correct.
22 BY MR. GALLIHER; 22 Q And then look at the next photograph, which
23 Q Just acouple more. I think we established 23 would be 953, that's at 12:43:37, That would be
24  earlier that your job title as assistant manager of 24 VEN953, following 952.
25 housekeeping did not include any supervisory control 25 MR, ROYAL: Okay. That's already marked as
Page 28 Page 30
1 over the PAD employees; is that right? 1 "B."
2 A As the assistant director of housekeeping, 1 Z BY MR. GALLIHER:
3 do not on a daily basis have direct control over PAD 3 Q So again looking at that photo, is that the
4 employees. 4 same PAD employee with a mop on the floor?
5 Q So do you have any managerial control over 5 A [ believe 50, yes.
6 them at any time? 6 Q And you don't know what he's mopping?
7 A The answer to the question would be no. 7 A Correct, yes.
8 Q So the safety of the floors at the Venetian 8 Q Then we have VEN954 and that's at 12:40:15.
9 would not be really your department, it would be 9 And would it be fair to say, it iooks like the same
10 within the PAD department? 10 employee and the mop's on the floor as well?
11 MR. ROYAL: I'm just going tc object to 11 A I'm sorry, could you ask that question
12 form. 12 again?
13 THE WITNESS: So generally speaking, 1 do 13 Q Looks like the same PAD employee and there's
14 not oversee the Public Arca Department as being that 14 amop in his right hand?
15 I'm with the housekeeping department. 15 A Correct.
16 BY MR. GALLIHER: 16 Q You don't know what he's mopping?
17 Q Right. 17 A Correct.
18 A However, at any given point, should [ feel 18 Q And then the next photo, which is VEN9535,
19 that there's any conditions that exist on the floor 19 that'sat 12:41:01. Do you see it's -- looks like the
20 that may need further attention, it would be my 20 same PAD employee?
21 responsibility as a Venetian employee to make sure 21 A Correct.
22 that is addressed. 22 Q What's he doing with his right arm, if you
23 Q Sothat responsibility is a responsibility 23 know?
24 of every Venetian employee, not just you? 24 A Not quite surc what he's doing in that
25 A People who would -- who can, yes. Sure. 25 picture.

A
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. Page 31 Page 33
1 Q Is he restraining the person who's got the 1 A I'm not quite sure what she's mopping up.
2 backpack on, trying to get his attention? 2 Q@ Now, you said you've also seen the video.
3 A I'mnot sure, 3 Let's go -- as a matter of fact, let's go to VEN95S,
4 (Q Let's go, then, back to VEN956, next 4 and that's the last photo I'll be asking you about.
5 photograph. Now, would you agree with me it shows the 5 MR. ROYAL: Okay.
6 same PAD employee with a mop on the floor mopping? 6 BY MR. GALLIHER:
7 A Correct. 7 Q Would you agree with me, that's the same PAD
8 Q And you don't know what he's mopping, right? 8 employee and that's his mop on the floor? Talking
9 A Not quite sure, no. 9 about the gentleman.
10 Q And you see - just to the left of him, you 10 A Yes,
11 see it looks like a female PAD employee wearing 11 3 And again, do you know what he's mopping?
12 pglasses, 12 A Not sure, no.
13 Do you see that? 13 Q  You've seen the surveillance video?
14 A ldo. 14 A Thave.
15 Q You see down by her feet, what her feet are 15 Q  And you see there in the surveillance video,
16 ontopof? 16 after he mops the floor, he puts the mop in a bucket?
17 A In the photo | cannot tell. 17 A Yes, [ do.
18 Q You can't tell what they are. How about the 18 Q And he wrings it dry in the bucket?
19 video? Would the video help you there? 19 A ldo.
20 A Perhaps. 20 Q Do you know what he was wringing in the mop?
21 Q TI'll represent these are towels and she's 21 A 1do not, no.
22 using her feet to move the towels on the floor. 22 Q Thank you. That's all I have.
23 Does that seem logical, what you are seeing? 23 MR. ROYAL: I'm going to mark these all
24 A I[n that particular still photo, it's not 24 collectively as "C."
25 certain what I'm looking at. 25 1111
Page 32 Page 34
1 MR. GALLIHER: So, Mike, if you would, can 1 {Defendants' Exhibit C marked for
2 you show him just that spot on the video and see if it 2 identification.)
3 helps him? 3 MR. GALLIHER: Fine with me. Actually, are
4 MR. ROYAL: Okay. I'll start it at 4 you making them "C" or we can make them joint exhibits
5 12:41:19. She would be on the left. 5 if you want,
6 THE WITNESS: Yeah. 6 MR. ROYAL: I've already referred to these
7 MR. ROYAL: So['m going to stop it at 7 as"A"and "B." Let's just mark them collectively as
8 12:41, g "c.
9 BY MR. GALLIHER: 9 MR. GALLIHER: All right.
10 Q s that a better quality than the photograph 10 MR. ROYAL: And that would be, just for the
11 vou just reviewed? 11 record, VEN952, 954, 955, 956 and 958. And 1 just had
12 A Ttis. 12 acouple of followups.
13 Q And am [ being fair in stating that it looks 13
14 like she's got her feet on top of towels, and she's 14 FURTHER EXAMINATION
15 moving her feet on top of the towels on the floor? 15 BY MR.ROYAL:
16 A Just to be clear, seems on reviewing the 16 Q Solooking at Exhibit C. Looking at
17 video and the photo still, she's got a -- technically 17 Exhibit C, VEN952, do you see where the gentleman is
18 not a towel, but the mop head on the floor. 18 who's mopping -- do you see him in the center of the
19 Q Allright, so she's got her foot on top of 19 still?
20 the mop head? 20 A ldo.
21 A That's what it seems to me, yes. 21 Q Do you see where he's standing?
22 QQ  And is she moving that mop head on the 22 A 1do.
23 floor? 23 Q Isthat -- now I want you to compare that
24 A Appears to be, yes. 24 with Exhibit A, VEN950.
25 Q Do you know what she's mopping up? 25 A Okay.
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. Page 35
1 Q3 Is that the area that Mr. Louie was pointing
2 out fo you that you observed when you first arrived?
3 A It would seem so.
4 Q Okay. Sounds like, when you were there at
5 the scene, you were focused on basically finding out
& what happened and seeing if you could kind of keep the
7 guest calm until security got there.
8 A That would be fair.
9 MR. ROYAL: All right. 1don't have
10 anything further,
11 MR. GALLIHER: We're done.
12 (The deposition concluded at 3:36 p.m.)
13 ’
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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Page 386

1 REPORTER'S DECLARATION

Z2 STATE OF NEVADA)
)
3 COUNTY COF CLARK)

4 I, Pauline C. May, CCR No. 286, declare as
5 follows:
6 That I reported the taking of the deposition of the

7 witness, SANG HAN, commencing on Monday, May 6, 2019

8 at the hour of 3:00 p.m.

9 That prior to being examined, the witness was by me
10 duly sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
11 and nothing but the truth.

12 That I thereafter transcribed said shorthand notes
13 into typewriting and that the typewritten transcript
14 of said deposition is a complete, true and accurate
15 transcription of said shorthand notes taken down at
16 said time, and that a request has not been made to

17 review the transcript.

i8 T further declare that I am not a relative or

19 employee of counsel of any party involved in said

20 action, nor a relative or employee of the parties

21 involved in said action, nor a person financially

22 interested in the action.

23 Dated at Las Vegas, Nevada this day of
, 2019,

24

25 Pauline C. May, CCR 286, RPR
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Page 3 Page 5
1 CHRISTOPHER JOHNSON, 1 Q So did you start at the Venetian immediately
2 having been first duly sworn to tell the truth, the 2 afier getting out of the service?
3 whole truth and nothing but the truth, was examined 3 A No, I went to college. 1went to California
4 and testified as follows: 4 College at San Diego and I started in computer science
5 5 there.
6 EXAMINATION 6 Q Did you graduate?
7 BY MR, GALLIHER: 7 A Yes
8 Q Would you state your full name, please. 8 (3 So you have a bachelor's degree in computer
2 A Christopher Johnson. 9 science?
10 QQ And your business address. 10 A Yes.
11 A I'm -- my business address? 11 Q Congratulations.
12 Q Yes. 12 A Thank you.
13 A [ don't know the address at the Venetian, 13 Q Any aspiration to go further?
14 butthat's where I'm at. 14 A My parents kind of wanted me to, and I kind
15 Q Allright. How long have you been working 15 of like what I'm doing now and so just kind of stuck
16 atthe Venetian? 16 with that.
17 A About six and a half years. 17 Q During your time at the Venetian as a
18 Q When you started at the Venetian, what was 18 security officer, how many cases have you been called
19 your job title? 192 to ascene of an injury fall?
20 A Security officer. 20 A Being called, maybe once or twice because
21 Q s it still security officer? 21 normally it's the EMTs that get called. Sometimes if
22 A Yes. 22 there's not one around, you can be the first responder
23 Q So your title hasn't changed since then. 23 while you are waiting for the EMT,
24 A No. 24 (Q Because I notice in the video, looks like
25 Q By the way, don't mind my voice. I'm just 25 you are the fellow wearing the blue outfit.
Page 4 Page 6
1 getting over a virus so it's not real strong today. 1 A That's correct.
2 Give me just a general description of what 2 3 And the EMT security comes in a white outfit
3 you do as a securily officer at the Venetian, 3 carrying a backpack?
4 A It's actually a myriad of duties. Sometimes 4 A Yes.
5 you work outside at checkpoint checking for drugs, 5 Q So that's the difference between the two of
& stufflike that. Then you also work inside at the 6 you?
7 lobby areas, making sure everybody has a room key 7 A Yeah, I understand he's got his med bag and
8 coming up so there's no - for basically people coming 8 everything.
9 up into the hotel rocoms. 9 Q Butin this particular situation I notice
10 I work on the casino floor doing a variety 10 you are on the video, you are there for a few minutes.
11 ofthings, like you do drops, you know. With the 11 How is it that you got called to the scene?
12 slots, you do slot escorts. If there's fights, you 12 A Tdon't recall how I got called there. 1
13 stop that. [ mean, there is just a lot of things you 13 don't know if I showed up and saw her on the ground ot
14 do. 14 ifI was dispatched to be a first responder. Honestly
15 Q  What was your background before you became a 15 can't remember that.
16 security officer? 16 Q Inotice it appears that an EMT Security
17 A I was in the Navy for about 13 and a half 17 Officer Larsen was the one most involved with
18 years. 18 conversing with her, taking information from her.
19 Q And when you were in the Navy, what did you 19 Would that be correct?
20 do? 20 A That would be correct.
21 A I was inIT, information technology. 21 Q It appears, though, that you did have some
22 Q When you left, what was your rank? 22 conversations with my client at the scene of the fall.
23 A lwas E5. 23 Can you recount or recall any of those?
24 Q Were you honorably discharged? 24 A Just alittle bit. It's been a long time,
25 A Yes. 25 but normally when you walk up and see someone like
T TR S o T T
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Page 7 Page 9
1 that, one of the first things you are going to say is, 1 Were you looking for anything on the floor
2 "Did you hit your head? Did you lose consciousness? Z or anything on her clothes? Anything of that nature?
3 Are you a guest at the hotel? What hurts?" Just 3 A 1 wasn't specifically looking for that. I
4 basic information so you can relay that once the EMT 4 was just trying to go over there and make sure that
5 gets there. 5 she was all right. I didn't specifically look for
6 Q Do you recall if you had that conversation 6 that.
7 with my client in this case? 7 Q And you tried to turn things over to the EMT
8 A lremember her saying one of her arms hurt, 8 security officer when he arrived?
9 1 believe. I'm not exactly sure which arm, and she 9 A Yes, sir.
10 stated that I believe she worked for — inside the 10 Q And as you sit here today, have you seen the
11 hotel, like Grand Canal Shops or something. 11 survecillance video showing the fall?
12 Q Do you remember anything else from the 12 A Yes, I've seen some of it,
13 conversation you had? 13 Q And when did you see it?
14 A That was pretty cut-and-dry. Wasn't a long 14 A Tthink it was a few minutes ago that | got
15 conversation. 15 agood look at it,
16 Q Did you make any notes regarding the 16 Q Where did you see it?
17 conversation? 17 A Atthe Venctian. They took me up and showed
18 A Just for what I specified earlier, whete she 18 me the footage.
19 worked at, she didn't lose consciousness, anything 19 Q  You say "they" took you up. Who took you
20 like that. 20 up?
21 Q Yeah, but did you make any notes yourself of 21 A 1don't know what the department is, 1
22 the conversations you had with her? 22 don't know ifit's legal or -- but they took me in,
23 A Yeah, just what 1 said, she worked at the 23 wanted me to look at the footage,
24 Grand Canal Shops and she hurt her arm or something. 24 Q So the people that took you and wanted you
25 Q And do you know where those notes went? 25 to look at the footage, were they Venetian employees?
Page 8 Page 10
1 A They would be trash-canned once your 1 A Yes,
2 notepad's full, you get rid of it and get a new 2 Q Was Mr. Royal present at the time?
3 notepad. 3 A No, he was not.
4 Q So, in other words, the notes weren't turned 4 Q So when you looked at the video, did you
5 in to security or anyone else at the hotel? 5 have any conversations with any Venetian personnel
6 A No. 6 regarding the contents of the video that you remember?
7 Q So they were basically your notes for your 7 A I'm kind of not understanding the question.
8 purposes and then when your notepad was full, they 8 They walk you through, they say, What did you see, do
9 were tossed? 9 you remember, anything like that kind of information.
10 A That's correct. 10 Q That's what I'm trying to determine, what
11 (Q Because the fall actually occurred, looks 11 the conversation was. So apparently someone set up
12 like November 4, 2016. It looks like at roughly 3:30 12 the video.
13 in the afternoon. 13 Do you remember where it started?
14 Does that sound about right? 14 A It started with a bunch of people walking in
15 A Sounds about right. 15 before [ arrived. They showed me that and then they
le Q Itake that back. About 1:30 in the 16 showed when I finally arrived on the scene and all the
177 afternoon. 17 way up into EMT Larsen took her to the back.
18 A [ couldn't tell you what time, 18 Q Did they show you the actual fall?
19 Q So you don't recall the time of the fall? 19 A [Idon'tremember if they showed me the
20 A No. 20 actual fall, yeah.
21 Q Have you told me about all the conversations 21 Q So as you testify here today, you don't
22 you can remember with my client? 22 remember exactly how the fall occurred, what happened
23 A Yes, 23 to the person who fell, the way her body moved,
24 Q Now, when you went to the scene, did you 24 anything like that?
25 physically observe anything? 25 A No.
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Page 11

Page 13

1 Q Soyou don't remember, as you testify here 1 A Yes, that's correct.
2 today, whether or not you were shown that part of the 2 (@ And then you also saw a female on the phone
3 video; is that correct? 3 who walked into the scene on the phone and then walked
4 A That's correct. 4 away.
5 Q DBut you do remember you were shown the 5 Do you remember that?
6 portion leading up to the fall and apparently the 6 A No.
7 portion after you arrived, after EMT Security Officer 7 Q Sointerms of — and then you remember
8 Larsen arrived and when they left? 8 seeing the EMT Security Officer Larsen in the video?
9 A Yes. 9 A Yes.
10 Q And you don't have a recollection of seeing 10 Q Do you remember secing any other employee of
11 anything else in terms of the video; is that right? 11 the Venetian in the video that you saw?
12 A Yes. ‘ 12 A [think I had direct contact with that Asian
13 MR. ROYAL: Can just ask for 13 male that you were talking about, but other than that,
14 clarification? In your summary, you said you had seen 14 fcan't - don't remember. Idon't remember
15 the portion leading up to the fall; is that what you 15 speaking to anybody else.
16 said? 16 Q Do you remember speaking with any of the PAD
17 MR. GALLIHER: That was my understanding 17 employees?
18 from his testimony. 18 A No, notat all.
19 MR, ROYAL: Just make sure it's clear, 19 Q Sothe only person that you had a
20 BY MR. GALLIHER: 20 conversation with would be that Asian fellow - who ]
21 Q Letme see if I can clarify. 1 understand, 21 think we're deposing next, Sang Han,
22 from your testimony earlier, that you saw a portion of 22 A Ibelieve so.
23 the video that preceded the fall, before the fall, 23 Q And do you remember the conversation you had
24 where people were walking through the area. 24 with him?
25 A Yes, ] was shown that, 25 A [don't remember the actual conversation. [
Page 12 Page 14
1 Q And you don't remember seeing the video of 1 don't know if he was letting me know that the EMT was
2 the actual fall. You remember they started showing 2 already called or what happened with her. [ don't
3 the video of you once you arrived at the scene? 3 recall that conversation; no.
4 A Yes, sir. 4 Q Allright. So sounds like a relatively
5 Q And that was you in the blue outfit? 5 brief conversation.
6 A Yes,sir. b6 A Yes, it was brief.
7 Q And again, is there anything else that you 7 Q DBut as you lestify here today, you don't
8 remember about any conversations with anyone ¢lse at 8 remember the content of the conversation?
9 the scene after the Tall? 9 A That's right,
10 A The people that were there? Are you talking 10 (@ Did you make any notes or any documents that
11 about the pcople that were showing me the video? 11 you can look at that would refresh your memory
12 Q I'mtalking about the people -- I'm going 12 concerning the conversation?
13 back now to the time of the fall, okay. 13 A I don't believe so, no.
14 You've scen the video, Now, in the video 14 Q  And if there were notes, you would have
15 you saw several people. You saw a bald guy ina 15 taken them down and tossed them; isn't that right?
16 suit-- 16 A Any notes that [ would have taken there,
17 A Yes, yes. 17 they would have been gone now.
18 Q --you saw a big guy with his back to the 18 Q Do you know whether you would have taken any
19 camera. 19 notes regarding your conversation with Sang Han?
20 A Yes. 20 A Most likely not, because | had all the
21 Q And then you saw what looks like an Asian 21 information that I needed at that point.
22 fellow who arrived at the scene and knelt down and 22 Q  So primarily, what would have been on your
23 talked with my client. 23 notepad would have been any conversations you had with
24 A Uh-huh, 24 my client?
25 Q Isthat yes? 25 A That's correct.
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Page 15 Page 17
1 Q@ And how about any physical observation at 1 the point of your arrival.
2 the scene; would you have made notes of that? 2 MR. GALLIHER: Can you give me the time?
3 A ldon'tbelieve so. That's not my duty to 3 MR. ROYAL: Yeah, I'm going to. Okay.
4 actually make on the scene. We have engineers that 4 Allright. It's not cooperating with me.
5 come out and they do accident checks and stuff like 5 BY MR, ROYAL:
6 fthat. 6 Q Okay. We're at 12:41:36, and do you see
7 Q Sowould it be fair to state that the only 7 yourself walk into the frame? ‘
8 thing that would have been on your notepad would have 8 A Yes.
9 been your summary of any conversations you had with my 9 Q And you are in blue?
10 client? 10 A Yes. .
11 A Yes,sir. 11 Q And then as you -- now I'm going to go back.
12 Q@ Nothing else you can think of? 12 Then what you did is, you walked in, you walked
13 A No. 13 through an area and then you sort of -- I'll call it
14 Q Is that right? 14 kneeling down.
15 A Uh-huh. 15 You kind of squat down and have a
16 Q Have you understood all my questions today? 16 conversation with the plaintiff, the woman on the
17 A Pretty much. Yeah, kind of going back and 17 floor. Right?
18 forth there for a minute. 18 A Yes.
19 (@ Anything you want me to repeat or rephrase? 19 Q Allright. So I'm going to go back to the
20 A Not at this time. No, sir. 20 point of your entry or arrival at the scene again.
21 Q Thank you. Pass the witness. 21 I'm going to stop it at 12:41:37. At this point,
22 MR. ROYAL: Off the record for a second. 22 there's -- there's someone to the left as you are
23 23 approaching.
24 /111/ 24 Do you -- can you recognize or identify the
25 111 25 uniform?
Page 16 Page 18
1 EXAMINATION 1 A That is a PAD employee.
2 BY MR. ROYAL: 2 Q Okay. Now, you didn't -- you testified you
3 Q Okay. Now, I just wanted to verify a couple 3 didn't have any recollection of any conversations you
4 of things that you testified to, one of which was when 4 had with anybody wearing that kind of uniform near the
5 you started watching this video. 5 scene.
6 A Uh-huh. 6 A 1didn't have any, no.
7 @ Okay. So one of the things that Counsel 7 Q Do you remember them being there?
8 asked you is whether you saw the video before -- and 8 A No.
9 I'm showing you right now the video at 12:40:53. And 9 Q Allright. So asyou--I'm going to
10 it's just a still shot, and it has a woman on the 10 continue it now from 12:41:37 and I'm going to stop it
11 floor and an Asian male who is kind of kneeling down 11 at 12:41:40.
12 in front of her. 12 Okay. Before you kneel down or squat down
13 A Yeos, sir. 13 and talk to the plaintiff, as you walked through that
14 Q  See that? 14 particular area at that time, do you remember seeing
15 A Yes, sir. 15 anything on the floor?
16 Q Are you saying that you saw a video before 16 A No, I don't recall.
17 there was a woman sitting on the floor? 17 Q Do you remember having any trouble walking
18 A Yes. 18 through that arca?
19 Q Okay. You just don't remember actually 19 A No, I didn't have any trouble walking
20 seeing the event that caused her to fall? 20 through.
21 A Idon't recall the event, no. 21 Q Do you remember anyone telling you to stop,
22 Q Doesn't mean you didn't see it, you just 22 don't walk through that area?
23 don't recall it? 23 A No, no one told me.
24 A Exactly. 24 Q All right. Now, as you kneel down at
25 Q Okay, I'm going to advance this, okay, to 25 12:42 -- I'm sorry -- 12:41:42, as you squat down,
B S S e i e
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Page 195 Page 21
1 Mr. Han had been there it [ooked like speaking with 1 statement?
2 the woman on the floor. 2 A As far as filling out a statement, I'm not
3 Do you agree with that? 3 positive on that, but E do believe that you do get the
4 A [ agree with that. 4 pames of the people you can add to the report.
5 Q And you don't recall having a conversaticn 5 Q From your perspective, have you ever been a
& with Mr. Han, just with the woman on the floor? & report-writer at the Venetian?
7 A No, | believe I did have that conversation 7 A T have, yes.
8 with Mr. Han. 8 Q So when you arrive at the scene in
9 Q  Okay. 9 connection with the event, you write a report, do you
10 A Tdid. 10 ask witnesses to fill out statements?
11 Q I'msorry [ missed it. What did he tell 11 A Depending on what the occasion was. So,
12 you? 12 yeah, a counterfeit bill or something like that we
13 A 1don't remember. Tcan't recall exactly 13 have them fill out, but not everything always requires
14 what he told me. 1could guess. 14 avoluntary statement.
15 Q Don't do that. 15 Q And have you ever investigated a
16 A Okay. 16 slip-and-fall like this?
17 Q Do you remember seeing anything on the woman 17 A I've never investigated one, no,
18 by way of -- strike that. 18 (Q  Sodo you know what the policy and procedure
19 You said that she complained about pain in 19 s regarding having people fill out witness statements
20 her arm, but you don't remember which arm; is that 20 when they witness something like that?
21 right? 21 A Tdo not, no.
22 A Yes. 22 (@ That would be beyond your pay grade, huh?
23 Q What kind of -- can you remember anything 23 A Yes.
24 else about what she complained about related to her 24 Q Thank you. That's all [ have.
25 arm? Any specifics? 25
Page 20 Page 22
1 A No, I don't have any specifics, I know | 1 FURTHER EXAMINATION
2 can't remember any specifics. I believe that she just 2 BY MR. ROYAL:
3 stated that her arm hurt. She said her arm. 3 Q Did anyone -- did you speak with anyone,
4 Q Allright. Thank you. 4 once you arrived, who fold you that they had witnessed
5 5 the accident?
6 FURTHER EXAMINATION 6 A No, 1did not.
7 BY MR. GALLIHER: 7 Q  Thank you.
8 Q Allright. Did you notice, when you arrived 8 MR. GALLIHER: We're done, Chris. Thank
9 atthe scene, any people around that were witnesses to 9 you,
10 thefall? 10 (The deposition concluded at 2:22 p.m.)
11 A 1 can't explain if they were witnesses or 11
12 notorifthey arrived later. [ don't know. 12
13 Q [I'mean, would it be your job as security 13
14 officer to ask these people to identify themselves and 14
15 did you, in fact, see anything? 15
16 A No, that would pretty much be an EMT thing. 16
17 I'mjust there for, like, the initial report and then 17
18 the EMT would come and talk with them. 18
19 Q So it would generally be the EMT's job to 19
20 locate witnesses if, in fact, they existed, or pet the 20
21 contact information and take witness statements? 21
22 A Yes, sir. 22
23 Q And at the Venetian, is it practice to, when 23
24 you locate a witness or something like this, you get 24
25 the contact information and ask them to fill out a 25
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REPCRTER'S DECLARATION

STATE OF NEVADA)

)
COUNTY OF CLARK)

I, Pauline C. May, CCR No. 286, declare as
follows:

That I repcrted the taking of the depcsition of the
witness, CHRISTOPHER JOHNSON, commencing on Monday,
May 6, 2019 at the hour of 2:00 p.m.

That prior to being examined, the witness was by me
duly sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
and nothing but the truth.

That I thereafter transcribed said shorthand noctes
into typewriting and that the typewritten transcript
of said depositicn is a complete, true and accurate
transcription of said shorthand notes taken down at
said time, and that a reguest has not been made to
review the transcript.

I further declare that I am not a relative or
employee of counsel ¢of any party involved in said
action, nor a relative or employee of the parties
involved in said action, nor a person financially
interested in the action.

Dated at las Vegas, Nevada this day of
, 20109,

Pauline C. May, CCR 286, RPR

T

i A e e i ek =% T

R RIh E g

Canyon Court Reporting, Inc. (702) 419-9676

Page 23

VEN 2794




EXRHIBIT “J”
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1522 W Warm Springs Road

Henderson NV 89014
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ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
1/4/2019 10:33 AM

RFP

Michael A. Royal, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 4370

Gregory A. Miles, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 4336

ROYAL & MILES LLP

1522 West Warm Springs Road
Henderson Nevada 89014

Tel:  702-471-6777

Fax: 702-531-6777

Email: mroyalt@royalmileslaw.com
Arttorneys for Defendants
VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC and
LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JOYCE SEKERA, an Individual; CASE NO.:  A-18-772761-C
DEPT.NO.: XXV
PlaintifT,

Y.

VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC, d/b/a
THE VENETIAN LAS VEGAS, a Nevada
Limited Liability Company; LAS VEGAS
SANDS, LLC d/b/a THE VENETIAN LAS
VEGAS, a Nevada Limited Liability Company;
YET UNKNOWN EMPLOYEE; DOES I
through X, inclusive,

Defendants.

SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSES TO PLAINTIFF’S REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION OF

DOCUMENTS AND MATERIALS TO DEFENDANT

TO:  Plaintiff JOYCE SEKERA; and

TO: Keith E. Galliher, Jr., Esq.; her attorney:

Pursuant to Rules 26 and 36 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, Defendant VENETIAN
CASINO RESORT, LLC, and LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC, by and through their counsel, ROYAL &

MILES LLP, responds to Plaintiff’s first requests for production of documents and materials as

follows:

R:\vlaster Case Folder\383718\Discovery Produce (Plaintitl) !st (Defendants} - Supp.wpd
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REQUEST NO. 1:

All written, oral, or recorded stafements made by any party, witness, or any other person or
persons with knowledge of the incident described in Plaintiffs Complaint.

RESPONSE NO. 1:

Defendants object to the extent this request seeks information protected by attorney/client
privilege and/or attorney work product privilege. Without waiving said objection, Defendants refer
to their disclosures pursuant to NRCP 16.1, documents 2-9, and all supplements thereto, Discovery
is continuing.

REQUEST NO. 2:

Any and all accident and investigative reports, films, video tapes, charts, plats, drawings, maps
or pictures and/or photographs of any kind which has, as its subject matter, the incident described in
Plaintiffs Complaint.

RESPONSE NO. 2:

See Response No. 1.

REQUEST NO. 3:

A complete copy of the Defendant's insurance carriers and/or risk management pre-litigation

claim file.

RESPONSE NO. 3:

Objection. Thisrequest lacks foundation, assumes facts not in evidence, seeks information that
is protected from disclosure by the attorney/client and/or attorney work product doctrine. Without
waiving said objection all known discoverable documents regarding the investigation of the loss have
been produced. See Defendants' NRCP 16.1 early case conference disclosures, documents 2-9, and

all supplements thereto. Discovery is continuing,

R\vlaster Case Folder\383718\Discovery\3Produce (Plaintift) 1st (Defendants) - Suppwpd =~ 2 =
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REQUEST NO. 4:

The names of all expert witnesses or consuitants that Defendant will use at the time of trial

along with any reports produced by the same.

RESPONSE NO. 4:

Objection. This request is premature, Defendants® expert disclosures containing the requested
information will take place as set forth in the court's scheduling order. It is also an improper request
for production of documents.

REQUEST NO. 5:

Any and all sweep sheets, sweep logs, or other similar documentation which reflects the
maintenance and/or cleaning of the flooring located within the VENETIAN CASINO RESORT
described in Plaintiffs Complaint for the day before, day of, and day after the incident described
therein.

RESPONSE NQO. 5:

Defendants object to the extent this request lacks foundation, assumes facts not in evidence,
is overly broad, vague and ambiguous. This request also presupposes that there was a foreign
substance on the floor causing Plaintiff's fall, which Defendants deny. Italso incorrectly identifies the
subject premises as VENETIAN CASINO RESORT. This request further seeks information not
reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence (i.e. documents related to
November 5, 2016). Without waiving said objection, Defendants respond as follows: See documents
identified pursuant to NRCP 16.1, bates numbers VEN 044-106. Discovery is continuing.

REQUEST NO. 6:

True and correct copies of any and all manuals, documents, pamphlets, flyers, or other

memorandum which has, as its subject matter, the standard operating procedures with respect to the

RMaster Case Folder\3$83718\Discovery\3Produce (Plaintiff) Ist (Defendants) - Suppwed = 3 -
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maintenance, cleaning and sweeping of the floors with respect to the VENETIAN CASINO RESORT
in which the fall occurred.

RESPONSE NO. 6:

Defendant objects to the extent this request lacks foundation, assumes facts not in evidence,
and is further overly broad, vague and ambiguous. This request also presupposes that there was a
foreign substance on the floor causing Plaintiff's fall, which Defendants deny. also incorrectly identifies
the subject premises as VENETIAN CASINO RESORT. This request further seeks information not
reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Without waiving said objection,
Defendant responds as follows: See Response No. 5.

REQUEST NO. 7:

True and correct copies of any and all claim forms, legal actions, civil complaints, statements,
security reports, computer generated lists, investigative documents or other memoranda which have,
as its subject matter, slip and fall cases occurring on marble floors within the subject VENETIAN
CASINO RESORT within three years prior to the incident deseribed in Plaintiffs Complaint, to the
present.

RESPONSE NO, 7:

Defendants object to the extent this request lacks foundation, assumes facts not in
evidence, is overly broad, vague and ambiguous, unduly burdensome and presupposes there was
a foreign substance on the floor causing Plaintiff's fall, which Defendants deny. It also
incorrectly identifies the subject premises as VENETIAN CASINO RESORT. This request
further seeks access to information which is equally available to Plaintiff via public records, and
otherwisc seeks information that is not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of
admissible evidence. Defendant objects as the request as over broad and not properly tailored

to the issues in this case. Without waiving said objection, Defendants respond as follows: Please

R:AMaster Case Folder\38371 $\Discovery\iProduce (Plaintifl) 1st (Defendants) - Supp.wpd ~ ~ 4 -
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see Defendants’ Sth Supplement to NRCP 16.1 Disclosure and all supplements thereto.
Discovery is continuing.

REQUEST NO. 8:

Any and all documents, information, memoranda, paperwork, or other material which relates
to establishes, or otherwise pertains to the affirmative defenses alleged by the Defendant herein.

RESPONSE NO. 8:

See Response No. 1.

REQUEST NO. 9:

Any surveillance video showing the Plaintiffs fall at the VENETIAN CASINO RESORT
from any other angle, other than the one shown in the video surveillance produced by the
Defendants thus far.

RESPONSE NO. 9:

Defendants object to the extent this request incorrectly identifies the subject premises as
VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, and further that the term “surveillance video” is itself overly broad
and seeks information outside Defendants’ knowledge, custody and control (i.e. videos taken by other
persons on the subject premises at the time). Without waiving said objection, Defendants respond as
follows: All known surveillance related to this matter was produced as Document No. 9 in Defendants’
NRCP 16.1 disclosure. Discovery is continuing.

REQUEST NO. 10:

Any other witnesses, documents, or other disclosures required by NRCP 16.1.
/1
/1

Iy
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RESPONSE NO. 10:

See Response No. 1.

DATED this day of January, 2019,
YAL & MILES LLP
j @
Royal
ar No. 43
egoly A. Miles, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 4336

1522 W. Warm Springs Road
Henderson, NV 89014

Attorneys for Defendants

VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC and
LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the ':’ day of January, 2019, and pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I
caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSES TO
PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS AND MATERIALS TO

DEFENDANT to be served as follows:

by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed
envelope upon which first class postage was prepaid in Las Vegas, Nevada; and/or

to be served via facsimile; and/or

\/pursuant to EDCR 8.05(a) and 8.05(f), to be electronically served through the Fighth
Judicial Court’s electronic filing system, with the date and time of the elecironic service
substituted for the date and place of deposit in the mail; and/or

to be hand delivered;
to the attorneys and/or parties listed below at the address and/or facsimile number indicated below:

Keith E. Galliher, Ir,, Esq,

THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM

1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Suite 107

Las Vegas, NV 89014

Attorneys for Plaintiff

Facsimile: 702-735-0204

E-Service: kgalliher@galliherlaw(irm,com
dmoonevfiigalliherlawfirm.com
gramos(gallibherlawdirm.com

sravicdgalliherlawfirm.com

Dl Sl

An'employee AROYAL & MILES LLP

RiMaster Case Folderd837 I R\Discovery\3Produce (Plaintith) kst (Defendants) - Suppwpd — ~ 7 -
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Electronically Filed
3/25/2019 9:06 AM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE C(ﬁ
RTRAN Cﬁ:««f

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JOYCE SEKERA,
Plaintiff,

CASE NO.: A-18-772761

DEPT. XXV
VS.

VENETIAN CASINO RESORT
LLC, ET AL.,

Defendants.

— e e e e e e e e e

BEFORE THE HON. ERIN TRUMAN, DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER
WEDNESDAY, MARCH 13, 2019

RECORDER’S TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING
DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER

APPEARANCES:
For the Plaintiff: KEITH E. GALLIHER, JR., ESQ.
For the Defendants: MICHAEL A. ROYAL, ESQ.

RECORDED BY: FRANCESCA HAAK, COURT RECORDER
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Wednesday, March 13, 2019
[Case called at 9:06 a.m.]

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Sekera versus Venetian.

MR. GALLIHER: Good morning, Commissioner. Keith
Galliher, on behalf of the Plaintiff.

MR. ROYAL: Mike Royal, on behalf of the Defendants, Your
Honor.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Good morning. All right.
This is on for Plaintiff's motion for protective order.

MR. ROYAL: This is Defendant’s motion, Your Honor.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: All right.

MR. ROYAL: This is --

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Do | have the wrong -- okay,
no, I gotit. Sorry. | had the wrong note on my thing. Sorry about that.
Here we go. Defendant’s motion for protective order.

MR. ROYAL: Your Honor, this relates to a motion we filed
regarding the disclosure of our incident reports. They were requested by
counsel. Prior to our disclosure of these reports, we requested that
counsel enter into a stipulation for a protective order as relates to the
information that we couldn’t get at, counsel wouldn’t agree, so we
provided him with redacted copies.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: So all the redacted copies of
the incident reports have already been provided.

MR. ROYAL: That’s correct. They've been provided. There

Page 2
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were 65 prior reports, somewhere in the neighborhood of 650 pages that
we produced.

Mr. Galliher objected to the fact that they were redacted. We
had some further discussion about how we could resolve this, perhaps
entering again into a -- to get a protective order so that if we disclose the
identities of these people, that they’re not going to be passed around to
the world, legal community or the world. We don’t know where it's going
to go.

And so we had a disagreement. | went ahead and filed this
motion, and while this motion was pending learned that some of the
redacted copies that we’ve already produced to Mr. Galliher have been
provided to other Plaintiffs’ attorneys outside this case, which is exactly
what we were trying to protect against.

And so in my reply | just asked the Court to just simply enter
an order that we can have a 26(c) protective order in this case related to
these documents and that they remained in redacted form, and that if
Mr. Galliher has a specific case factually that he believes is potentially
relevant on point where he wants to contact individuals, perhaps use
them as witnesses for whatever reason related to this case, that we can
meet and confer on that, and then if we can't agree, we can bring it to
the Court.

But to just give him carte blanche information to everybody at
this point | think is just not something my client wants to provide. It has
concerns about exposing all of these people, prior guests, nonemployee

witnesses, to not just contact from Mr. Galliher’s office, but from any
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VEN 2806




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

other attorney that this information is provided to, any other person, we
believe that there’s other privacy issues that are play here, there’s
HIPAA related information in these reports, and so just to provide them
to counsel with carte blanche access to all this information, to all these
people, that can be passed around to the world we think is just simply
not reasonable. So for that reason we move the Court for an order -- or
rather a Report and Recommendation granting our motion for protective
order as it relates to the redacted copies that we provided and that Mr. --
and that if Mr. Galliher sees something that he believes is relevant to our
case, that again we meet and confer and we can discuss disclosing
personal information of those particular people.

Now, if | can add just one other thing. We contest that this slip
and fall in this case was the result of foreign -- any kind of foreign
substance on the floor. There’s no objective evidence that there was, in
fact, any foreign substance on the floor causing her to slip and fall.
Regardless, we still provided Mr. Galliher with 65 prior incidents, and all
of them that | can think of -- | can't think of one that did not involve a
foreign substance. So these are even, in our view, dissimilar cases. We
went ahead in good faith and provided these to counsel, so | only give
that to the Court just to realize or -- so the Court knows that we’ve acted
in good faith. We're doing everything we can.

Our primary issue is protecting the privacy of our prior guests
and our relationship with those guests.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: And all those guests and

witnesses, their names have been redacted prior, the reports that were
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disclosed.

MR. ROYAL: That's correct.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: And just so that I'm clear,
the allegation is that there was water or some other substance on the
floor so it was a transient condition, is that correct?

MR. ROYAL: That’s the allegation.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: That'’s the allegation, okay.
That’s the -- that's what | meant to ask. Okay.

All right. Mr. Galliher.

MR. GALLIHER: Thank you, Your Honor.

First of all, | don’t doubt what Mr. Royal is saying in good faith,
but The Venetian’s certainly not in good faith in this case, and I'll explain
why.

First of all, you know that prior falls are relevant to the notice
issue, and a foreseeability issue, which, of course, it’s our obligation to
prove in this case, so prior falls are always discoverable.

Now, the thing that surprises me is that the defense actually
makes the argument late in this argument that they contest that my client
slipped and fell on liquid or water. There’s a surveillance video, and
whoever wrote the brief could not have looked at the surveillance video.
The surveillance video shows what is clearly a slip on liquid and a fall.
She hits her head on a big marble post as she falls. There are two
women that see it and are right next to her when she falls.

Shortly thereafter we’ve got three security personnel from The

Venetian at the scene with shirts and ties and radios. Someone’s talking
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to someone upstairs. While they’re talking, one of the women who sees
the fall walks over, points to the spill, and the guy, the security officer,
looks at it, then summons porters who come to the scene, one of the
porters takes out a mop, mops up the spill, another walks on with some
towels and wipes up the spill around the very area where my client fell.
That’s pretty clear, that this was a slip and fall on water.

Now, here’s the problem. The Venetian has polished marble
floors throughout its entire ground floor and also on the Bouchon floor,
which | think is floor number 10. They’re very pretty, very attractive, and,
as the expert report attached to our opposition shows, also very slippery
when wet.

So when we talk about a transitory condition, not really. This
is a marble floor that’s been at The Venetian from the get-go.

And then we start talking about the number of falls. Well, |
deposed their -- one EMT security officer who said that during the nine
years that he had been there he had personally investigated 100 --
approximately 100 injury falls on the marble floors at The Venetian.

Now, there are two EMT security officers per shift, sometimes
three, so if we do the math, we’ve got at least six security officers
working the three shifts at The Venetian, up to nine. So if we do that
math -- this one’s -- this fellow has investigated personally 100 injury
falls, and we assume he’s average -- then that means that there are
somewhere between 600 and 900.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Well, didn’t three respond to

this one alone, and so that would be a, you know --
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MR. GALLIHER: Well, no, no. Those weren't the same
security people.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Oh.

MR. GALLIHER: See, there -- The Venetian, Commissioner,
has security officers/EMTs. They are the ones that go to the injury
falls -- the other people do not -- because they’re trained. Well, that’s
who | deposed. So he’s the one that told me under oath two security
officers/EMTs per shift, sometimes three, three shifts, very simple math.

Now we go from 100 falls investigated by one, to somewhere
around 900, and then we take it and we back out the nine years and
make it five -- ‘cause that’s what | was looking for. We're somewhere
between five, six hundred falls at The Venetian.

Now, what | received was 62 reports for a five-year period.
Well, that doesn’t compute with my math, so the other thing that -- and
we talk about sharing information. Peter Goldstein has a case against
Venetian. In that case The Venetian furnished him 26 reports for the
same time frame. Well, how does that happen? Then what we did is we
compared the reports that he received with reports that we received. He
didn’t get 26 of ours, we didn’t get four of his; well, how does that
happen? Then we find out there’s three defense firms representing The
Venetian in these three different cases; they’re all different.

So what we're finding and what I’'m alleging in this situation is
what The Venetian is doing is they're selectively distributing reports to
their defense firm to distribute to the Plaintiffs in individual cases, and

they’re not giving everybody all the reports. It's very easy to determine
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when | get a situation like this and | compare and find that Mr. Goldstein,
who got 26 has four | don’t have for the same time frame. A couple of
them were on the same day; | got the one in the afternoon; he got the
one in the morning. Well, sorry, it's not Mr. Royal’s fault. The
Venetian’s not a good corporate citizen, that’s for sure. They are
withholding these reports and selectively giving them to the Plaintiffs’
attorneys through the different defense firms that they’re hiring. So
that’s why this information needs to be disclosed.

But also, when we talk about the identification of the people
who fell -- you have probably tried slip and fall cases, I've tried my
share -- what does a defense attorney normally do in these cases?
They try to establish comparative negligence, particularly if there’s liquid
on the floor. Well, weren't you looking where you were walking? Didn’t
you see the spill on the floor? Why didn’t you see it? It was right there.
Look at it. Comparative negligence, that’s what this is about.

So if we have the identity of people who previously fell on
these same floors at The Venetian in liquid, we put on five of 'em or ten
of 'em to say -- very simple questioning -- what’s your name; did you
stay at The Venetian; were you walking through The Venetian; did you
fall; did you fall on liquid; were you injured; did you see the liquid before
you fell; pass the witness.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Don’t you already have an
expert who's going to testify regarding the coefficient of friction or, as
you allege --

MR. GALLIHER: Sure.

Page 8
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DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: -- the slipperiness of the --

MR. GALLIHER: Absolutely.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: -- the floor?

MR. GALLIHER: We have. That’s attached to our opposition.
But that’s a separate issue ‘cause he’s talking about the fact these floors
are slippery when wet; we know that. However, the comparative
negligence issue is a big one because invariably juries will come back
and apportion the negligence in the case. It’s a little --

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: But the comparative
negligence of another party versus your own party wouldn’t be relevant
to this action.

MR. GALLIHER: Well, | disagree, and I'll tell you why. If
you’ve got a situation like this where people are slipping on the same
floor on liquid -- and all the floors’ identical, it's not like it’s different -- and
these people don’t see the liquid before they fall, which is why they fall,
why would that not be relevant to the question of comparative
negligence? Because if five people didn’t see it, or ten people didn’t see
it, why should my client have seen it? Very relevant.

| mean, remember, we’re not talking just about admissibility,
because that’s the call that’s going to be made by Judge Delaney.
We're talking about discoverability, that’s all.

So the bottom line -- and there’s this privacy concerns, and
HIPAA violations, and -- these aren't medical records. They’re security
reports. The Venetian doesn’t have standing to reserve privacy

concerns on behalf of people who fell and were injured in their place, so
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I’'m not even sure where that argument comes from.

The question is whether or not it’s discoverable. The question
is whether or not it leads to discoverable evidence; certainly does
because Judge Delaney will make the call concerning how many prior
fall victims she will allow to testify; she may say one; she may say five;
she may say ten. | have a case before Judge Crockett --

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: She may say none.

MR. GALLIHER: -- right now where he’s -- Judge Crockett’s
given us ten.

So bottom line is it’s still discoverable, and they should be
forced to give us the information, and we’ll contact the people, if we
choose to, and they’ll talk to us, if they choose to, or not.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Mr. Royal.

MR. ROYAL: Just regarding -- | mean, | certainly could give
the Court the video; | don’t think it's necessary. But there’s issues in this
case regarding her shoes. | have an expert who's going to testify her
shoes are what caused the accident, that there was nothing on the floor,
and certainly everything counsel represented as far as indisputable
evidence regarding something on the floor, they’'re wiping something up.
She had coffee cup in her hand at the time that she fell.

I mean, Your Honor, to me that -- well, let me just get back to,
you know, our position simply is this -- we’re happy -- we’ve given them
the information. They want to make arguments about notice, great,
they've got that. They want to make arguments and extrapolate

information from some -- from an employee who is -- who worked at the
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property for nine years, great, they have that. They can make all their
notice arguments, their mode of operation arguments, they’ve already
got all that.

Contacting all of these people to march 'em -- just because
they may want to march 'em in, you know what, if there are certain
cases, certain people, certain facts, that are sufficiently related that Mr.
Galliher says, you know what, I'd like to bring the people in for this, or I'd
like to bring the people in for that, that’s fine, | can deal with that, and |
think that’s fair.

But to just give him carte blanche, here’s everybody, go ahead
and contact them, share 'em with Mr. Goldstein, Mr. Bochanis, anybody
else that you want | think is -- | just think that’s unreasonable.

And so | believe, Your Honor, at least it's our position that the
motion for protective order should be granted, that we've already
complied by giving them redacted information. If they want something in
addition to that -- and, by the way, you know, he’s already shared this
information with Mr. Goldstein. | don’t know who else this information’s
been shared with, and counsel’s allegation that there has been some
kind of conspiracy associated with The Venetian and how they’re
handling one case, another case. These cases are different insofar as
what kind of information is being requested, and | should add that it's my
understanding from defense counsel in the Goldstein case is he got
redacted copies as well, and they were not -- and, in fact, | believe the
Discovery Commissioner even ordered that they could be redacted.

Regardless, Your Honor, | think the motion for protective
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order, in our -- it's our view should be granted.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: All right. The motion for
protective order is granted in part as follows -- The Venetian may
continue to provide redacted reports as previously done. However, with
regard to Mr. Galliher’s claim that not all have been produced, The
Venetian is recommended to produce all reports that fit within the
requests made by Mr. Galliher, and if there are more, that needs to be --
they need to be supplemented immediately.

With regard to the reports that are produced, they are to be
redacted for the names and the contact information for all witnesses and
individuals who reported incidents.

With that said, if the Plaintiff goes through the reports and
identifies incidents that occurred in substantially the same location as
this incident occurred or have substantially similar facts as to the
incident at issue -- because The Venetian is a huge place, and so it
needs to be sufficiently identified to be in the same location or under
similar facts -- then I'd ask that the two of you have a 2.34 conference
about disclosing the contact information for those particular incidents
because I'm sure that's a much more narrow scope than all of them.
And if you cannot agree following that 2.34 conference, then bring it
back to the Commissioner’s attention and we will have a hearing
regarding the disclosure of the contact and privacy information with
regard to those individuals.

| do believe there is -- there are privacy and HIPAA issues that

are to be considered, and so my inclination is not to disclose the names
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and contact information for all people on all reports. It needs to be much
more narrow than that.

And, finally, | am going to issue a protective order that the
reports that are disclosed in this case are not circulated outside of this
case and for use only in this case.

Mr. Royal, would you please prepare the Report and
Recommendation?

MR. ROYAL: Yes, Your Honor.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Is there anything that | didn’t
cover that the two of you wanted me to address, or does that cover all
the issues?

MR. GALLIHER: Not that I'm aware of.

MR. ROYAL: Think that covers everything.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: So if there’s any more that
your client has, the entirety, of all of the falls for the -- if there are any
other reports that your client has not disclosed, they are recommended
to produce all reports for the relevant time periods that have been
requested by the Plaintiff in this case.

MR. GALLIHER: If they've produced -- well, okay. Certainly.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: And this just goes to the
issue he’s claiming there are more than what have been produced to
him. And certainly Mr. Galliher can identify the ones that he has gotten
that supposedly were not produced and inquire further into that matter.

So if you would please prepare, Mr. Royal, the --

MR. ROYAL: Can | just ask, Your Honor --
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DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Certainly.

MR. ROYAL: -- as to the scope, | mean, we’re talking about
common areas, ‘cause what was produced to Mr. Galliher was common
areas on the casino level floor.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Okay. And | don’t know.
He’s raised the issue that there are reports that he was not given. | think
you said that there were four --

MR. GALLIHER: That’s pretty obvious.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: -- that another attorney
had --

MR. ROYAL: Well, I'm not aware of --

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Okay.

MR. ROYAL: -- of those four.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: And so that’'s something that
the two of you need to discuss in a 2.34 before you bring it back to me,
and --

MR. GALLIHER: | think what he was getting at was, | mean,
we have a casino floor that’s large, and the floor is identical throughout
this casino floor. It's not like there’s anything different. The linoleum’s
the same color, the same configuration, same design, same slip
resistance. It's uniform throughout the ground floor of The Venetian, and
also, for that matter, the Bouchon floor.

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Okay. Well, | think that the
two of you need to work through the four reports at issue that you

believe you were not provided, have a 2.34 to discuss; if there is a
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continuing issue regarding that, bring it back.
And I'm going to ask, Mr. Royal, can you please provide that
within ten days?
MR. ROYAL: Yes, Your Honor.
DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER: Thank you very much.
MR. GALLIHER: Thank you.
[Hearing concluded at 9:25 a.m.]

* k k k k k%

ATTEST: | do hereby certify that | have truly and correctly transcribed the
audio-video recording of this proceeding in the above-entitled case.

FRANCESCA HAAK
Court Recorder/Transcriber
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Michael A Royal®
Gregory A Miles*

*Also Admirred in Urah

RovAL & MILES wup

March 25, 2019

Sent Via US Mail &

Facsimile: 702-735-0204

Keith E. Galliher, Jr., Esq.

THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM
1850 E. Sahara Avenue, Suite 107
Las Vegas, NV 89014

Attorney for Plaintiff

Re, Venetian ady. Sekera, Joyce
Our Clients: VENETIAN CASINO RESORT, LLC and
LAS VEGAS SANDS, LLC
Date of Incident: November 4, 2016
Our File No.: 3837-18

Dear Keith:

1522 W. Warm Springs Road
Henderson, NV 89014
Telephone:
702471.6777
Facsimile:
702.531.6777

Email:
mroyal@ rovalmileslaw.com

I have been through all prior incident reports that, to my knowledge, were produced in the
VCR adv. Carol Smith matter you raised before the Discovery Commissioner. Since you did not
identify the documents for either the Court or me, T went through each of them and identified three
matters that pre-date November 3, 2013, and one that occurred on the fifth floor of the parking
garage. None of these reports are responsive to your production request. Consequently, I have no
additional documents to provide related to production from the VCR adv. Carol Smith litigation.
If you have other information that is inconsistent with the above, please advise,

Very truly yours,

ROYAL & MILES LLP

~
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VEN 2820



4505133900 P.01/01

TRANSACTION REPORT
MAR/25/2019/MON 10:21 AM

FAX(TX)
# DATE START T. |RECEIVER COM.TIME | PAGE | TYPE/NOTE FILE
001 |MAR/25 10:20AM | 7027350204 0:00:53 2 MEMORY OK ECM | 4914

Michawl A- Royal® 1522 W. Wartn Sprlogs Read
Gregory A Miles* Henderson, NV 5014
* Als Admired i Ut Telephone:
TO2.A471.6777
Facsimils
7025316777

E-Madl:

ROYMJ &z MH.J.ES LrP rpyalirovaloily

Hlaw.com

FAX COVER SHEET

To: Keith & Galliber, Jr., Esq Fax No:  702-735-0204
THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM
From: Michael A. Royal, Esq.
Assistant: Ashley Schmitt
Date; March 25, 2019
File No: 3837-18

Subjectk: Yeneticon adv. Sekerg

Number of Pages 2
(including cover);

Mess‘ﬂgé: Plecse see attached comresporidence dated March 25,
2019; your immediate attention is appreciafed. Thank youl

NOTE: If you exparience any problems in recaiving this fransmission, pledse call {702) 471-6777. fwe
do not hear from you, we will assume that you have seceived all pages, and that they are legible.

This message is intended anfy for the use of the individual or enfify fo which it is addressed, and may
contajn information that is privileged, confidential and exemp! from disclosure under applicable law. if
fhe reader of this message is nof the infended reclpient, or the employee or agent responsible for
delivering the massage fo the intended reclplent, you ure hereby nolified that any dissemination,
disfribution or copying of this communlzation Is sttictly prohibited. If you have received this
communicalion in error, please nofify us immediately by telephone and refurn the original messoge to
us ot the above address via the United Skates Postal Service. THANK YOU

VEN 2821




EXHIBIT “M”



W

ol

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

TRAN
CASE NO. A-18-772761-C
DEPT. NO. 25

DI STRI CT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

*x * * * %

JOYCE SEKERA,

Pl aintiff,
REPORTER S TRANSCRI PT
OF
PLTF' S MOTI ON TO AVMEND
DEFT' S MOTI ON TO STRI KE

VS.

VENETI AN CASI NO RESORT,

Def endant .

N N N N N N N N N N N N

BEFORE THE HONORABLE KATHLEEN DELANEY
DI STRI CT COURT JUDGE

DATED: TUESDAY, MAY 28, 2019

REPORTED BY: SHARON HOMRD, C.C.R NO 745
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APPEARANCES:

For the Plaintiff:
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* * * * %

KEI TH GALLI HER, ESQ.
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA; TUESDAY, MAY 28, 2019
PROCEEDI NGS

* * * * %

THE COURT: Page 8, Joyce Sekera vs. Venetian
Casi no Resort.

MR. GALLIHER  Good norning, your Honor. Keith
Gal | i her and Kathl een Galliher on behal f of Joyce
Seker a.

THE COURT: Good to see you back. Now, you're
all seasoned. You don't get any special --

MR. GALLIHER:  Very experienced now.

MR. ROYAL: M ke Royal for Defendants, your
Honor .

THE COURT: Good norni ng.

So this is Plaintiff's notion for |eave to anend
the conplaint, and the Defendant's notion to strike
related to information that was included in the reply to
t he Defendant's opposition. And the strike was geared
toward what has been styled as unaut henticated evi dence or
alternatively to all ow defense the opportunity to respond
on order shortening tine.

The way this all boils down, | really think we can
address it here today. They want to add punitive damages.

The argunent is this is essentially a negligence claimand
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at the Venetian are very dangerous, very dangerous. And
if there is a spot of water, a slight anount of water on
the floor a custonmer can slip and fall. This is com ng
from managenent. So it's not |like they don't know that
their floors are very, very dangerous to their custoners.
So that's com ng again fromtheir own enpl oyees

t esti nony.

Then we've got the David Elliot situation. This is
somet hing which is recent which we have yet to discover,
but we intend to. And that is the Venetian in the
m d- 2000s -- 2005, 2006, 2007 -- hired David Elliot -- who
the court is probably famliar with. He's a court
gual i fi ed bi o-nechani cal engineer, PE. They hired himto
eval uate their floors at the Venetian and nmake
recommendat i ons concerni ng how they can make the floors
safer.

The one thing we've determned so far, M. Elliot
told himthat under no circunstances is marble an
acceptable surface for a floor such as a hotel/casino Iike
t he Venetian. He nmade reconmendati ons concerni ng how t hey
could go frommarble to tile and increase the co-efficient
of friction -- slip resistance -- to the .5 industry
standard fromwhere it is now

As we know from Dr. Jennings report the slip testing.

Wien wet the slip resistance was .33. It's far below the

VEN 2826



aa o W

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

15

i ndustry average. Now we've got the Venetian hiring
sonmebody, who's an expert, to conme in and advi se
concerning the floors and how to nake them safer. Nothing
has changed. The floors are still marble. They're stil
not slip resistant. W' ve got that information as well.

Also we've got the fact that there are now coati ngs
avai l abl e for these types of marble floors. And if you
use a coating on the marble floors you can nmake them nore
slip resident. And the Venetian has elected -- what we
know so far -- remenber, we're tal king about an amendnent,
so we need an opportunity to discover information. But
what we know is that the Venetian has not utilized all of
t he substances available to it to coat the marble floors
and, perhaps, nmake themnore slip resistant.

THE COURT: Let ne turn your argunment back to
you, M. @lliher, that you nade to M. Royal on his
notion, which was |ike where is the law to support this.

You know that if we're going to have punitives that
ultimately -- and it's a viable claimin a case, then it's
ultimately going to have to be proven by clear and
convi nci ng evidence that there was oppression, fraud,
malice. That type of things. What you' re arguing is just
sheer quantity of accident and that that converts what
occurred here into oppression, fraud, or malice. Were is

the case | aw that woul d support, in a negligence action,
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In the Matter Of:
LIVIA FARINA vs DESERT PALACE, INC.

A542232

DAVID A. ELLIOTT, P.E.
February 13, 2009
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DAVID A, ELLIOTT, P.E. February 13, 2009
LIVIA FARINA vs DESERT PALACE, INC. 1

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

LIVIA FARINA,
Plaintiff,
Vs, CASE NQ. AB42232
DEPT. NO. XITI
DESERT PALACE, INC. dba
CAESARS PALACE HOTEL AND
CASINQ, and DOES 1 through 20,

inclusive,

Defendants.

DEPOSITION OF DAVID ALLEN ELLIOTT, P.E.
Taken on Fridéy, February 13, 2009
At 12:16 p.m.
At 2300 West Sahara Avenue

Suite 770
Las Vegas, Nevada

Reported by: John L. Nagle, CCR 211

@ ESQUIRE 800.211.DEPO (3376)

DTFOS TION SOLUTIONS EsquireSolutions.com

VEN 2830




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

18

20

21

22

23

24

25

DAVID A. ELLIOTT, P.E.

February 13, 2009

LIVIA FARINA vs DESERT PALACE, INC.

2

APPEARANCES :

For Plaintiff:

For Defendant:

ZIMMERMAN & ASSOCIATES, LTD.

7251 West Lake Mead Boulevard

Suite 230

Las Vegasg, Nevada 89128

BY : BRIAN F. ZIMMERMAN, ESQ.
BRIAN W. GOLDMAN, ESQ.

Ph. (702)228-8916; Fax (702)228-89

bzimmerman@za-law.com ‘

ROBINSON & WOOD, INC.

5556 South Fort Apache Road

Suite 100

Las Vegas, Nevada 89148

BY: THOMAS E. McGRATH, OF COUNSEL
Ph. (702)363-5100; Fax (702)363-51

17

0L

2 ESQUIRE

800.211.DEPQO (3376)
Esquire Solutions.com
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DAVID A. ELLIOTT, P.E.

LIVIA FARINA vs DESERT PALACE, INC.

February 13, 2009
4

Deposition Exhibits

Entryway Analysis

EXHIBITS

41 -Farina v. Caesars Palace Comparable Hotel 73
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DAVID A, ELLIOTT, P.E. 7 February 13, 2009

LIVIA FARINA vs DESERT PALACE, INC.

5

DAVID ALLEN ELLIOTT, P.E.,
having been first duly sworn, was

examined and testified as follows:

EXAMINATION
BY MR. McGRATH:
Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Elliot. Could you

please state your full name for the record?

A, Yes. 1It's David Allen Elliott, A-1-l-e-n

and E-1-1-0-1i-t-t.

Q. My name is Tom McGrath. I'm here for
defendant Desert Palace, Inc. It's my understanding
you've been designated as an expert by the plaintiffs
in this case.

How many times have you been deposed
before?

A. Over a hundred.

Q. Are you comfortable, then, with me
skipping the admonitions which explain to you the
deposition process?

A. I am.

Q. Okay. Good.

Can you briefly summarize for me, starting

after high school, your educational background?

A. Starting after high school, I went to

@ ESQUIRE 800.211.DEPO (3376)

DEFOSITION SOLUTIONS ESquireSolutionS-Com
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DAVID A. ELLIOTT, P.E. February 13, 2009
LIVIA FARINA vs DESERT PALACE, INC. 6

school at the University of Arkansas, where I obtained
a Bachelor of Science degree in mechanical engineering.

While I was there, I also received the
National Engineering Merit Award and I was an Academic
All-American.

My studies there were primarily in
mechanical engineering, end for those who don't know
that, that deals with physics, dynamics, statics,
strength of materials, and design safety.

Q. I'm sorry to interrupt. Go ahead.

A. From there, I worked at General Dynamies
in Fort Worth, Texas, where I was an advanced design
engineer. I did work on the F-16 designs and the YF-22
designs.

I also had to design proof stations, which
involved a lot of training right there in-house for
ergonomics and human factors, and I also had to
reconstruct mid-air collisions of airplanes when they
do shows and things that you never hear about on the
news.

From there, I went to work at Renfro
Engineering, where I did design work a little bit, but
mostly it was accident reconstruction.

Vehicle dynamics was really heavy there.

We did a lot of rollover-type cases, ATV dynamics.

@ ESQUIRE 800.211.DEPO (3376)

EsquireSolutions.com
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DAVID A. ELLIOTT, P.E. February 13, 2009
LIVIA FARINA vs DESERT PALACE, INC. 7

And then I came here and worked for
WM Morrison & Associates for a short time before
starting my own business.
Q. How long have you been in Nevada? I'm

sorry to interrupt.

A. I've been here since 1995.

Q. Do you currently hold any licenses in
engineering?

A, Yes. I have a professional engineering

license in mechanical engineéring in the state of
Nevada.
Q. Well, this is compound, but have either of

those licenses ever been revoked or suspended?

A, No, sir.

Q. They're in good standing?

A Yes, sir.

Q. How many times have you testified at trial

as an expert?
A. Over 50.
Q.. When you've testified as an expert, has it

been in the field or concerning the field of

biomechanics?
A. Yes.
Q. Of the 50 times you've testified in trial,

can you give me an estimate of how many times you were

@ ESQUIRE §00.211.DEPO (3376)
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DAVID A. ELLIOTT, P.E. February 13, 2009
LIVIA FARINA vs DESERT PALACE, INC. 8

testifying on behalf of the plaintiff as opposed to the

defendant?

A. Probably -- you know, I might be better
off counting that, because just -- I know where you're
going.

I'd say that probably 85 percent of the
work I bring in is for defendants, and 15 percent is
for plaintiffs, and that's not by choice. It's just
how it comes in.

When it comes to trial, it seems like it's
probably pretty close to 50/50 when it actually comes
down to testifying.

Q. Understood.

Have you ever testified at trial on behalt
of a plaintiff where Mr. Zimmerman was the attorney for
the plaintiff?

A. No, I don't believe I ever have.

Q. How many cases currently do you have open
with Mr. Zimmerman's office?

A, This is the only one that I'm aware of.

Q. What was the last Nevada case that you
testified at trial at as an expert?

A, It was last week. I don't remember the

name. Let me see if it's in my list.

Q. You don't need to find it. I'm just kind
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of getting a general overview here.

A. I've testified twice in the last three

weeks in trial.

Q. I see you brought a three-ring binder with
you today.

A. I did.

Q. Doeg this three-ring binder hold all of

the documents that you have retained for your file on

this case?

A, Yeah. There's some other documents that
would be in books if I had to refer to them or if

someone wanted to look at them, but this is everything

I need to testify.

Q. When you're talking about the books that
aren't in there, these are bocks and treatises that

you're relying on in part for your opinions?

A. Sure.

Q. Do you mind if I just open this up? I'd

like to briefly kind of summarize what's in here --

A. Be my guest.

-- if that's possible.

I see color photographs, and I have read
your report. Are there any color photcgraphs in here
that depict the other casinos that I believe you

indicated you investigated to determine whether they
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put mats down on the marble floors?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And then there's also photos of the site
where the incident occurred?

A, Yes, sir.

Q. 'And then I see you have your October 13,
2008, report in here. Do you have your billings in
here?

A. No. They're maintained on computer. We
don't ever print them out, but I could get you a copy
if you'd like.

Q. That's okay for now.

Do you know off the top of your head the
approximate amount of time you've billed on this file?
I'm not asking the amount, just the hours.

L. No, sir. It was quite a bit, you know,
because we had the walk-around looking at all those
casinos, and we visited the site twice.

I could call my secretary and ask her and
she could tell you exactly, if you want to know.

Q. Doeg the file alsc include documents that
you were provided by plaintiff's attorney that they
received from the defendants' production of documents

in this case, or at least a portion of them?

A It's my understanding that some of these
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documents came from defendants' production.

Q. What I'm specifically interested in
knowing, if you have copies in there, is there's some
spec sheets that have been referenced in Mr. Moffott's
deposition regarding the specifications for the marble
flooring.

What I'm trying to find out is what spec
sheets you have and, therefore, determine what you're
relying on in forming your opinions in this case.

A, I think it all starts right here with
Allard Design or Allard & Cﬁnversano.

Q. These were provided to you by counsel?

A, That's correct.

Q. Did you attempt to review the approved
plans and specifications for the Caesars Palace that
are applicable to the area in question?

A. No. I haven't seen any approved plans.
This is what wag requested, and it was what was
provided.

Q. So you don't know if the specifications
that you have in your file that are on Allard &
Conversano letterhead were actually part of the
approved plans and specifications for the project?

A. I don't know one way or the other.

Q. Have you looked at the flooring
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subcontract for the Caesars Palace project?

A, If it's included in the documents you
provided, I did, but I didn't rely on that for
anything.

This was just -- I just noted in here that
they wanted a wet .6 coefficient of friction or slip
resistance.

Q. There's quite a lot of documents in here,
and we have quite a loﬁ of this stuff. I'm not going
to mark this as an exhibit. I'm just going to ask that
you agree to maintain your file and that if you add
anything to it, you or your counsel indicate to defense
counsel what has been added to it.

A. Okay.

Q. I want to try to summarize what I think
you're going to be offering opinions at trial, sd this
is agree/disagree questions.

You're going to be offering opinions about
the cause of plaintiff's slip and fall, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And that includes opinions regarding the
coefficient friction rating for the marble flooring
where she slipped?

MR. ZIMMERMAN: Do you mean coefficient of

friction?
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MR. McGRATH: Yes.
THE WITNESS: No. It would be slip
resistance.

BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. That's a better term, "slip resistance"?
A, Tt is.
Q. Have you reviewed the video surveillance

that depicts the plaintiff immediately before and
during the slip-and-fall incident? |

A. I've reviewed a provided DVD with some
surveillance footage that shows the incident to some
degree, but I only have one view. I don't know if
there's other views that exist. |

0. Then are you also offering opinions
relating to the standard of care that's applicable to
the owner of a casino as it relates to the safety of
the flooring surfaces?

A. I think to some degree. I think that
there's another expert that's an architect that may
cover that more thoroughly, but I'll be going through
the standards and what they say and how they would
apply to this situation.

Q. The reason I ask that question is we
deposed Mr. Moffott, and I understand that he's

offering opinions on that subject. This is my summary
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of what he said, but he seems to be relying on you for
the wet test that you conducted on the floor.

Do you agree with that?

A, Well, I can't say what hefs thinking of,
but I did do wet testing, and he mentioned it in his
report.

Q. But he didn't participate in the wet
testing, correct?

| A. No, sir.

Q. Okay. And I think he's also relying on
you for the survey that you discuss in your report
regarding what other casino properties do in terms of
putting mats down on marble floors..

MR. ZIMMERMAN: Well, that misstates what
the testimony is. It's not what he talked about. He
didn't talk about putting mats down on floors. He
talked about different types of flooring surfaces and
different types of slip-resistant preventive measures.
You say putting mats down, so it misstates what Moffott
said.

BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. Do you understand the question?
A, I do, and I think what would be the
easiest thing here would be I can't -- I can't tell you

what Mr. Moffott relied upon, and I'm not going to
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comment upon his opinions.

But I can tell you what I -- well, you've
asked -- you said and it's true that Mr. Moffott is
relying on this. I don't know if he's relying. I did
it. And I‘did it for myself. What he relied upon in
my file, you'd have to ask him.

Q. Let's ask the question another way.

You're not relying on any surveys
Mr. Moffott conducted regarding what casinos do with
their marble flooring in terms of making it more slip
resistance?

A, No, I'm not relying on anything of

Mr. Moffott.

Q. Let's turn to your October 13, 208,
report. |

A Okay.

0. Do you have that in your file?

A. I do.

Q. First of all, when did you conduct the wet

testing of the flooring area in question?

A. It would have been during my first
ingpection, which is on March 24th, 2008.

0. How many times did you visit this area for
the specific purpose of working on this case?

A. Two times.
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Q. And the first time you went there, you did
the wet test?

A, That's right.

o. How did you determiné what areas of the
floor to test?

A. Well, it was my understanding that she
entered through the double doors that were the handicap
entrance, and there's a variety of tile there.

It's mostly homogenous, so I just tested a
likely area where a person may be walking, and I tested
all the different colors of tile that were available.

and I would expect that every spot on that
tile would be the same as what I measured, because all
three tiles measured the same thing.

Q. And I notice that in your report, is it
fair to say that you apply no significance to the fact
that the tiles have different color in certain areas in
terms of slip resistance?

A. Right. I negated the possibkbility that
there may be a difference in glip resistance on the
various tile by testing all of them. I didn't go in
with the perception they would all be the same. That's

why I tested each one.

Q. Now, what wet testing procedure did you
apply?
@ ESQUIRE 800.211.DEPO (3376)
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A. I followed the procedure that you find in
ASTM F1679, which pertaing specifically to the English
XL.

Q. And when you say it pertains to 1t, can
you elaborate for me? What do you mean by that?

A. It gives you the guidelines for the
testing procedure, the things that should be followed,
the way you prepare the machine, the way you prepare
the test foot, what you set the pressure at. It's
just -- it's basically an instruction guide for
operating the English XL. |

Q. Did you conduct any dry test?

A. No, I didn't.
Q. Why not?

A. Because the slip and fall didn't occur on
a dry floor. '

Q. Are there any regulations, written
regulations, that you're aware of, that require an
owner who puts a marble floor in his property to
install it in a manner that the slip resistance would

pass the wet test that you conducted?

A, Yes, I believe go.
0. Could you tell me what those are?
A. You find it -- you're just talking about
marble?
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Q. Correct.
A. You'll find language to that effect in the

ADAAG manual.
MR. ZIMMERMAN: What does "ADAAG" stand
for?
MR. McGRATH: Thank you.
THE WITNESS: It stands for Americans With
Disabilities Act Accessibility Guideline.
BY MR. McGRATH:
Q. Teg that the same as the ADA?
A. Well, the ADA is the group. The ADAAG is
the publication.
Q. And do you know if the -- I'm going to use
ADAAG instead of ADA. Do you know if the ADAAG was --
well, first of all, has that been adopted by Clark
County?
A, Yes, it has. 1It's a federal standard.

C Q. So when this marble flcoring was
installed, do you believe that the contractors were
required to comply with ADAAG?

A. Yes, because not only is the ADAAG manual
there, but you also have ANSI 81 -- 87 -- 117.1, which
igs essentially exactly the same as the ADARG manual,

and that has been officially adopted by Clark County.

Q. Who promulgates 117.17
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A ANST.
Q. And tell us what "ANSI" stands for.
A, American National Standards Institute.
Q. So it's your testimony that both ADAAG and

ANSI require marble flooring installed in public
accommodations to pass the wet test similar to the one
you conducted at Caesars Palace?

A. I think T probably need to clean up your
statement a little bit.

Q. Thank you.

A. It would require that you provide flooring
that is slip resistant under the foreseeable
conditions.

Q. So is that another way of telling me that
if it's foresgeeable that the floor is going to have
some type of 1iqﬁid substance on it at any time, that

the marble flooring must comply with the wet test

standards?

A. No, I don't think so.

Q. Why ig that an incorrect statement?

A, Because there's other things you can do
to -- for example, you can etch marble. You can groove
it.

You could apply a sealant that containg an

aggregate. You could have mats and runners over it.
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You could have a doorman that's right there to
instantly clean up any spill that he sees.

But in the situation we have here, that
the area doesn't appear to be policed that often, and
given.the time it tock them to respond to the plaintiff
in this case, I'd say that they really don't have the
opportunity to clean up spills in this arena in a
timely manner.

And it's foreseeable that that area could
become wet from water tracked in from rain or from
someone spilling a drink or someocne throwing up, as in
this case.

And since they're not able to police that
in a timely manner, I think that they should havé
provided a floor that would be slip resistant under
those foreseeable conditions.

Q. Do you know what time the slip-and-fall
incident occurred?

A. Well, on the tape I remember it was
something like 18 -- I can't remember. It was in the

evening, early evening, maybe 10:00.

Q. 10:00 p.m.?
A.  Yeah. I don't know what time it was.
Q. When you conducted your surveys of the

other casinos, did you go to these casinos at the same
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time that this incident occurred?

A. No, sir. I went to the casinos during
working hours.

Q. Casinos are open 24 hours a day, right?

A. Right.

Q. So what do you mean by working hours, your

working hours?

A. Yes.

Q. You didn‘t go to any of these casinos at
10:00 at night, right?

A, Well, I've been to all the caginos
probably at least once in my life, but not with the
intention of doing a survey of how they watch their
floors or prepare -- and prepare those floors.

Q. When you visited these casinos with the
intention of doing the survey, did you go to any of
them at 10:00 at night?

A. No, I didn't.

Q. Did your survey attempt to determine
whether other casinos had doormen present for the
purpose of identifying spills and cleaning them up?

A Well, yes. There's one hotel I could
think of in particular that doces.

Q. Other than this October 13, 2008, report,

did you make any written notes or another report
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regarding the results of your survey?

A. I have notes from it.

Q. Are your notes in your file?

A, Yes, sir.

Q. Can you find those for me?

A. This page, the back of this page, and that
page.

MR. McGRATH: I would like to ask our

court reporter -- well, we can take break or even do-

this afterwardsg, but I would like to mark that as a
separate exhibit. I believe we're on No. 40. Let's
say 41, just in case, okay?

We're going to mark as Exhibit 41 a
two-page document that has handwritten notations on the
back, at least of one of the pages. It has Farina

Caesars Palace --

BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. Can you read that for me? I need
bifocals.
A. Yeah. I'm getting to that point, too. It |

says "Farina v. Caesars Palace, Comparable Hotel
Entryway Analysis."

Q. And if you wouldn't mind, would you go
through each of the columns that you appeared to create

and tell me what the columns indicate? I don't want
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you to read the name of each casino, but just tell me
the subjects or categories.

A. Okay. The categories are the name of the
casino; the address of the casino; what type of entry
it had, whether it was a double-door entry, meaning it
has a vestibule; what sort . of flooring surfaces they
had at the entrance just off the exterior.

0. I'm sorry to interrupt you.

So the fifth c¢olumn from left to right is
the column that shows what type of flooring surface was
present at the casino you investigated?

A. Right. Flooring surfaces. Some casinos
have varicus surfaces.

Q. Okay.

A. And then they just have was nonslip
material used and what it was, and then any other given
notes that you might find.

Q. Now, how were you able to tell whether
nonglip-resistance material was used?

A. Well, based on my experience, I've tested
lots and lots of different flooring, and I can tell you
that carpet, you can pretty much count on being slip
resistant under any condition for a contaminant like a
spili. T guess if you were to spill motor oil on it,

it might not be.
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Q. Let me ask a better question. Well,
slip-resistant material includes carpet, but could it
also include any type of sealant that a layperson could
not identify?

A, Well, the sealant -- I guess I'd have to
give you a little background in slip resistance. For
dry slip resistance, I can't think of a single walking
surface that you would find that's not slip resistant
when clean and dry.

And you can put sealants and other sort of
waxes on there that will actually make it more slip
resistant when dry, but they're not going to do
anything for youlat all in the wet sense unless you add
an aggregate to it that's stuck to the surface and that
requires a lot of maintenance, because it will get worn
off.

And when you coat something with a
sealant, you're actually filling the surface
disparities that are naturally present on the surface
and can potentially make it more slippery in a wet
condition.

So when you add this nohslip wax to the
surface, you might make it more slip resistant dry, but

you're making it less slip resistant wet.

Q. Did any of the casinos that you
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investigated that did use some type of slip-resistant
material use anything other than carpet?

A. There were tiles that were -- that were --
had greater surface disparities than the marble. There
were grates, things ofrthat nature, that wouldn't allow
the buildup of a contaminant, that the contaminant
would fall right through.

Q. So tile flooring? When you say tile, is
it tile flooring?

A. Right. There's tile out there that is
slip resistant when wet.

Q. Well, is it your opinion that the
slip-resistant material only needs to be applied at or
near entrances, or do you have to put it on every
section of marble flooring in the property?

A. Well, I think that kind of goes back to my
answer a while ago. I think that it depends on the
circumstance.

I think that entrances to buildings,
particularly if they're not monitored, would -- you'd
have a duty to put in a nonslip flooring.

0. Was it raining on any of the days that you
visited these other casinos specifically to conduct

this survey?

A, No, sir.
0.211.
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Q. Do you know if it was raining on the day
plaintiff's slip-and-fall incident occurred?

A. It's my understanding that it didn't.

Q. Is it your opinion that owners of casinos
should be putting down carpets, whether it's raining or
not or whether there's inclement weather or not?

MR. ZIMMERMAN: I'm sorry. It's vague and
ambiguous as to where. You mean at the entry area?

MR. McGRATE: At the entry vestibule
areas. Yes.

THE WITNESS: I would say if you're going
to put down something like marble that's -- such as We
had at Caesars Palace, that it would be my opinion that
ves, you should have some sort of additive
slip-resistant feature, whether it be a mat or runner,
or you etch it or replace it with a slip-resistant
tile.

BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. and that's regardless cf whether it's
raining or not?

A, Right, because it's very foreseeable that
someone could throw up or spill a drink in the
entryway, and it's just in an area that they're not

going to catch.

O. Okay. In locking back at what we've
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marked as Exhibit 41, and in that sixth column
regarding the slip—resiétant material, some of the

columns are blank --

A. Right.

Q. -- for the properties. What does that
indicate? |

A, Well, the initial matrix you see there was

provided to me just as a guide of what my clients, the
Zimmerman law firm, wanted, and T basically just
collected the information I felt was important.

Q. Well, if vyou look at, say, for example,
New York-New York --

A, Uh-huh.

Q. -- it looks like there's no indication of
whether they used slip-resistant material at all.

A. They didn't. New York-New York is one of
the few hotels in this town that I found that is very
gimilar to Caesars Palace.

Q. Okay. So if it's blank, that means they
didn't do anything at all?

A. I'd have to look at each one specifically.

Q. The cnes that I see that are blank are
Golden Nugget. \

A. No. The Golden Nugget has a great system.

They have runners and attendants.
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Q. But that's not indicated in this chart
here? _
A. I didn't do that chart.
Q. Did you prepare anything that's in written

form that would tell me, for example, what you found at

the Golden Nugget when you investigated it?

A. Sure. That would be in the downtown
section. It says Golden Nugget entry type is -- it's a
double door. It's -- the flooring surface are mats,

carpet, carpet, permanent runners.

And there is marble. I didn't put that
down, but they have the mats and runners. Nonslip
material used, carpets, and there are attendants there.

Q. I thought I noticed that you conducted
this survey in May of 2008; is that correct?

A. No. That would have been done -- let me
see here. Yeah. It was done on May 5th and May 13th.
My apologies.

| Q. So all the properties you visited for the
specific purpose of conducting this survey, you did
that all in two days? |

A, Two separate days, yes.

Q. On two separate days. I'm sorry.

And did you go to Caesars Palace to

investigate the entrance to the vestibule area where
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the incident occurred on either of those two days?

A, No, sir.

wet test, did you observe any carpet or any other
slip-resistant material in that area?

A, No.

area?
MR; McGRATH: Yes.
BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. Unlesgss I specify otherwise -- and your
counsel can object whenever he wants, obviously --
that's what I'm talking about, is the vestibule area.

MR. ZIMMERMAN: I just wanted it to be
clear because the lobby has carpet in with the tile,

and I didn't know if vyou were referring to that.
BY MR. McGRATH:

manual, which is part of ADA, right?

A. That's their publication, vyes.

that's required, not just recommended, because when I
deposed Mr. Moffott -- and we were talking perhaps

about something different, but I think what we were

Q. On the first day you went there to do your

MR. ZIMMERMAN: You mean in the wvestibule

MR. McGRATH: 2And I wasn't, but thank you.

Q. I want to go back to something, the ADAAG

Q. I want to make sure that it's your opinion
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talking about was ADA Section 4.5, and he acknowledged

to me that that's a recommended, not required,

regulation.

A Well, the actual numbers they give are
recommended.

0. So ADAAG is recommended, correct?

A, The number is recommended. The overall --

the overall meaning of the document is not.

Q. When you say "the number is recommended, "
what are you specifically talking about?

A. The number they threw out there of .6,
that's their recommendation, but the bottom line is
they want it to be slip resistant under the foreseeable
conditions.

Q. Okay. So what you're telling me is that
it is not required in Clark County that if you're going
to install a marble flcoor in a public accomodation
building, that it meet a 0.6 wet testing score?

A. No. The number thaﬁ's been accepted by
the court system of the United States and is accepted
by all professional safety individuals 1s .5.

Q. Okay. I'm sorry to interrupt. Go ahead.

A. The .6 1g just scomething that they threw
out there because it's recognized that people who

ambulate in a pathological manner or abnormal manner
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would require greater traction, and so they just pumped
it up a little bit from the .5 that's already been
accepted.

If you want to read directly from 4.5, it
says, "Slip resistance is based on the frictional force
necessary to keep a shoe heel or crush tip from
slipping on a walking surface under conditions likely
to be found on the surface.™

and the recommendation they make is slip
resistance should be specified according to the
conditions likely to be found on the surface.

Exterior routes and spaces that are not
protected, such as lobbies, entrances, bathing
facilities and other areas where floor surfaces are
often wet, should have a higher level of slip
resistance. _

Q. Does ADAAG expressly say anything about
whether the 0.5 that's required is a 0.5 under a wet
test or a dry test?

A, It doesn't specify. It says, "Under the
foreseeable conditions.™"

Q. And 1if I understand you correctly, 1it's
your position or it's your opinion that -- well, let's
back up a little bit.

Just so I understand what your opinion is
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based upon, what are the factors that make it
foreseeable that a floor will be wet as opposed to dry?

A. That would be responsible engineering,
responsible design. You'd look at this, and I don't
think anybody would argue with the fact that it's
likely that a drink would be spilled in an entryway of
a casino, that water could be tracked into an entryway
of_a casino, that somecne could vomit in the entryway
of a casino.

Q. Let me ask a better question.

Is it your opinion that the wet test
criteria applies to any public accommodation building
because it's foreseeable that any guest of a public
accomodation can spill a drink?

A, It would depend on your ability to police
up the drink. If you have somebody that's vigilant,
that's standing there, I would say that you could
probably let it go. | |

But in this case we didn't have that. I
think you have a duty to provide slip-resistant
flooring in public places.

Q. But you do agree that ADAAG does not
expressly indicate whether the 0.5 that you say is

required is measured by a wet test or a dry test?

A, No, it doesn't specify. It's for whatever
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foreseeable conditions are there.

Q. How about ANSI? First of all, the 0.6, is
that a recommendation in ANSI or a reguirement?

A. They don't mention .6 at all in ANSI.

Q. So they don't even have a measurement, a
required measurement, for the friction rating?

A. No, sir. It just has to be slip resistant
under the foreseeable conditions.

Q. And is there anything in ANSI that you
believe mandates that the floor pass a wet test at 0.5
as opposed to a dry test?

MR. ZIMMERMAN: This is the floor in the
vestibule?

BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. Any marble flooring in a public
accomcdation.
A, You know, I think we're just beating a

dead horse here. I understand the definition of slip
resistance, and what is slip resistant.

Being a pedestrian safety professional, I
can tell you exactly what number, in my opinion, and
the same opinion of everybody else that does this, is
slip resistant.

It wouldn't do you any goocd to test a

floor dry, because I can already tell you it's going to
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be slip resistant when it's dry, but it's not going to
do you any good, again, to take that same floor and run
sprinklers'on it all the time and tell peopie to walk
across it, because we tested it dry. It makes no
sense.

Q. Have you ever tested marble flooring in a
casino in the Las Vegas area using the wet test where

the marble flooring passed the 0.6 standard?

A, Never.

Q. How about the 0.5 standard?

A. No, sir. Marble is a horrible checice.

Q. Essentially if you don't have carpet down,

it's slippery when it's wet, right?

A, No, sir. There's other tile that you can
use that is very aesthetically pleasing that will meet
that standard. |

Q. Give me some examples, if you don't mind.

i You can go into the Venetian. I do a lot
of work for the Venetian and consulting and litigation,
and their tile is slip resistant when wet, and it looks
good.

But it's not marble flooring?
No, it's not marble flooring.

Is it tile?

Tt's a ceramic tile.
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Q. Any other properties that you can give me
a specific example of where they don't use marble?

A. Well, no pool deck uses marble, cbviously,
and sidewalks accessing pool decks are concrete, and -
they usually have a very rough surface on them.

Whenever I've had a client that has had
marble in their casino and I'm working for the defense,
I've just told them that "Hey, this is slippery when
it's wet. You shouldn't be using it. If you want té
continue using it, you got to take certain things into
account. You have to take other preventive measures to
prevent slipping."

And sometimes they're receptive to those
ideas and sometimes they're not. These are just my
opinions as a pedestrian safety consultant.

0. What are you assuming in terms of how far
in terms of feet the plaintiff slipped -- withdraw the
question.-

I'm trying to ask you abouf the location
of the slip-and-fall incident. How far into the
property past the entrance door are you assuming that
it occurred?

A. Well, if T remember right, the depth of
that vestibule is about 12 feet, and it looks like

she's maybe halfway, maybe a hair over halfway, so
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she's probably six, seven, eight feet into the
vestibule at the time it occurred.

Q. What is your recommendation in terms of
any areas similar to the vestibule area, how far should
the carpet extend that you think the casino should be
putting dowﬁ if they don't have somecone right there to
immediately clean up any spills?

MR. ZIMMERMAN: That mischaracterizes his
testimony because he hasn't said that it's only carpet
that needs to be there.

BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. You know what, I understand that --

If I use the term "mét," would you be more
comfortable with that? Is that more all-encompassing
in terms of putting something down, other than
something --

I understand ceramic tile is a different
flooring material than marble, but if you're going to
use marble -- I know Mr. Moffott said this, and I think
it's your opinion, that it's okay to use marble as long
as you put mats, carpet or something, the equivalent of
that type of a mat down, right?

A, If you're going to insist on using marble
in the vestibule, you have to do something, and the

easiest thing to do would be to put down mats and
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runners.

Q. But is it your copinion that you have to
put down mats and runners over every section of marble
flooring in the property or just near the entrances?

4. That's up to the discretion of the hotel.
I mean, whatever they're comfortable with, if they
think they can police that area.

I would think that a spill would be more
recognized if it happened in the actual foyer beyond
the vestibule because we've got people that work for
the hotel right there.

But that's still no guarantee because,
again, in this case we had somecne break her hip and
laying on the floor for 10 to 15 minutes before anybody
even came to help her, and that's an emergency
situation.

A little spill on the ground, I don't
think anybody would really take that seriously until
someone breaks their hip.

Q. You don't have any information about how
long the vomit was on the surface before the plaintiff

slipped on it, correct?

A. I do.
Q. Ch, you do?
A, Yeah.
800.211.DEPO (3376
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Q. What i1s that informatien?
A. It's about -- from the videotape, I saw

the woman vomit in the wvidec.

Q. Okay. How much time elapsed -- based on
what you reviewed in the videotape, how much time
elapsed between the time the woman got sick and Ms.
Farina came along and slipped?

A. It was a short amount of ﬁime. It was a
little less than a minute.

Q. Your October 13 report indicates that you
came back to the property on April 1, 2008. What was
the purpose of that second visit?

A. When I went back out there the second
time -- and it is April 1 -- was just to look at it at
night in the conditions that were present supposedly at
the time, and just to get an idea of that.

I took some pictures, tried to get
pictures that looked like that, but you really can't
take photographs at night, particularly color
photographs, and say at all that they represent what a
person may or may not see because film and digital
cameras are all color adjusted for sunlight, which is a
brcad specﬁrum. Tt has all sorts of different colors.

If your area is, say, lit by sodium

lights, the film will look different.
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Q. What time in the evening did you visit the
property on April 1?

A. It was -- I don't remember specifically,
but it was dark. It was fully nighttime.

0. Assuming you could tell who was an
employee of Caesars Palace, did you see anything that
indicated to you that there was an employee stationed

at that vestibule entrance that you visited on April 17

A. No. There was no employee there that I
saw.

0. And whén you reviewed the DVD of the
incident -- now I understand that you reviewed the
video at 1eést a minute before her slip and fall -- how

much total time on the video did you review?

A. Well, I reviewed it all at once just to
make sure I got everything, but I focused primarily on
the time of the vomit and the time when Ms. Farina was
walking up to the entry vestibule, entering the entry
vestibule and falling. That was the area I
concentrated on.

Q.  Did you observe depicted in the videotape
someone who you believed to be an employee or who you
assumed to be an employee of Caesars Palace in the area

anytime before Mrg. Farina's slip-and-fall incident?

A. I didn't look for it with that -- in that
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respect, but I didn't see anybody that clearly looked
like a casino employee to me.

Q. | And am I correct in assuming that you
didn't attempt torreview the video to the extent it
depicts time anytime five minutes or further back
before the incident occurred?

MR. ZIMMERMAN: It assumes that that was
provided.

MR. McGRATH: I understand.

THE WITNESS: I don't remember how much
was provided beforehand, but I know that I didn't have
to go very far to the point where the lady threw up.
BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. Okay. The 88 photographs that you
reference on page 2 of your October 13 report, Bullet
Point Item No. 4 regarding your surveys of the other
casinos -- I don't want toc look through all 88 of them
right now -- I just want to know, when you took a
photo, was it to document whether there was or wasn't
some type of slip-resistant material?

A. Yes. It was to show the entryway, and as
you can see, my notes are somewhat chicken scratch
because they're just notes to remind me of what's going

on, but the real proof is in the pictures.

Q. And you took a picture of every area you
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visited on the casinos that are listed in Exhibit 417

A, Yes, sir.

Q. I think we already discussed this, but you
reviewed provided specifications and bid forms prepared
by Allard & Conversano Design. That's the specs we've
already discussed that are in your folder, correct?

AL Yes, sir.

Q. And you haven't reviewed anything that's
not in the folder that came from Allard &VConversano
Design?

A. No, sir.

MR. ZIMMERMAN: Can we go back one second?
You had asked questions about what standards he had
reviewed, and he started to give testimony about that,
and then you've gone now to a different subject.

I just wanted to make sure whether you had
finished your answer on that, because I know he
interrupted you. Were there any other standards that
you had in your book?

THE WITNESS: Well, yes. I have quite a
few standards that I've copied.

MR. ZIMMERMAN: Okay. 8o he can, if he
chooses to, ask you guestions about that.

BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. And these are standards that apply to a
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wet tesgt?

A, Yes.
Q. I will get to that.
a. Okay.

MR. ZIMMERMAN: I just wanted to make su
that you didn't then ask him, "Well, have you told me
everything, " because I think that's what you tend to
do.

BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. You indicated that you reviewed a
transcript of the deposition of Donald Trujillo. Fir
of all, was that important to you in any respect in
terms of the opinions you're going to offer at trial?

A. Let me take a look at my notes for a
minute and make sure.

It's not essential to my opinions. It's
just basically he's the director of public areas, and
he indicated that the site would be dust mopped three
times a day.

He's been there since the Augustus Tower
opened. He's aware of other slip-and-fall incidents
that have occurred in the vicinity of the subject
incident. Things of that nature.

But as far as anything of the meat of my

opinions, no.

re

st
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Q. Is the same true in terms of you've
indicated you reviewed the deposition of Richard
Duclos, D-u-c-l-o0-8.

A. I understand that he's a surveillance guy,
and he just basically said that he had footage on
Camera 2102, that he couldn't say if any other camera
was checked by someone other than himself.

He says that he saw Caesars employees'put
down mats when it rains outside, along with wet floor
signs.

He says unfortunately guests frequently
spill liquid on the flooring surfaces throughout the
premises. Vomit is not as common.

Just basically -- nothing that's really
substantial to my opiniong, but as I said, the people
are aware that slip and falls occur and that people
spill drinks. It doesn't take a genius to know that
that's going to happen in this environment.

Q. Let's turn to page 3 of your October 13
report, under thé gection with the heading
"Digeussion." Would it be easier if I gave you this
copy, instead of turning that thing around?

A, Sure.

Q. I'm going to read the very first sentence.

"The three described test areas proved to not provide
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slip resistance consistent with the industry accepted
minimum required value of 0.50 when contaminated with
tap water."

I think we've kind of discussed this
already, but I want to make sure I understand if
there's any additional reason why you're using'the word
"required" as opposed to "recommended."

A. Because I know what's required to keep
people from slipping.

Q. QOkay. Asg an engineer, in other words, you
know that if there's water or any liquid on marble
flooring, it's going to be slippery. Is that what you
mean by that?

AL Well, I didn't go in there with that
immediate assumption. I did the testing to prove it,
but yeah, I would say that any marble that's not
treated in a manner that I've described in my report
will not be slip resistant when wet.

Q. What written or codified industry accepted
minimum required value requires 0.507

A. “Well, there's OSHA standards that require
0.50 when wet. There's -- and, you know, it sort of
falls under the blanket because you don't want to --
yoﬁ don't want to limit it.

You have to have the foreseeable
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conditions, and it's got to be slip resistant. The
definition of "slip resistant" is clearly defined. I
understand it completely.

Q. Let me ask a better guestion.

What written or codified standards
expressly state that marble flooring wmust meet a 0.50
slip-resistant standard?

A. There is nothing that says that marble
flooring has to meet.specifically 0.5, but that's the
number, as I saild, that's been accepted by the U.S.
court systems for over 50 years. No cne has ever
challenged it.

It's the number that's been accepted by
professionals in the pedestrian safety industry, and
it's not based -- it's not a number that's just grabbed
out of nowhere. It's a scientific number.

Q. Well, when you say it's been accepted by
the U.S. court systems, what do you mean by that? On
the cases you've testified at trial, the juries decided
that that's the standard or the judges decided?

A. No. 1It's the number that's always been
accepted. If you -- just like primeary perception and
reaction for an automobile accident is accepted at 1.5.
Nobody challenges that.

Q. We're not going to do this very long, but
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in law scheol I learned that you either get laws out of
statutes or cases or there's things called standard of
care.

There's no case law that you're relying on
that says 0.50 is the accepted standard, right?

A. Well, there is things, but not
specifically marble floors. That's what you asked
about.

So if you want -- if you're looking for a
statement that says "Marble floors, 0.5, wet," you're
not going to find that.

Q. On the second paragraph of your report,
you write, "Because the depth between the inner and
outer doors of the vestibule was only approximately
12.5" --

Is that --

A Feet.

Q. -- "feet, Ms. Farina would have had little
chance to visually notice the vomit, as it would have
been well beneath her Frankfort plane as she focused
upcn the inner door, which would have been her next
visual target as she entered and began to transverse
the vestibule.™

As I read this sentence, the first thing

that comes to mind is that it seems that you were
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offering opinions that are outside the scope of your
expertise, and what I mean specifically is you're
assuming where she would be looking.
MR. ZIMMERMAN: That's argumentative.

He's a human factors biomechanical expert.
BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. That's what I want you to explain to me.
Does part of the field of biomechanics include how

pecple walk?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Where their eyes are directed when they're
walking?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Other than loocking at the video, what

other information are you relying upon to form the
opinion that her fieid of vision would not have been
directed at the spill area when she entered the
vestibule area?

A. Well, you could find that in any book on
human factors that deals with the way people take
information with their eyes, and it's simply that you
have what's called a cone of vision.

and people always think of peripheral
vision as just being far left and far right, but you

also have peripheral vision high and low, and in order
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to see something in your peripheral vision, it has to
have great contrast.

And people, when they walk, they look out.
They don't -- especially if they have a new target, the
handle at the next door they're going to grab. They
don't walk looking at their feet.

So you have what's called the Frankfort
plane that sort of defines your lower peripheral
vision, and it's basicélly a line that goes from your
ear hole to the bottom of your orbit, and anything
that's below that is going to be in your peripheral
vision. It's going to regquire very high contrast,
usually motion, for you to detect it.

When you walk in the door, that door is
tinted, and you can't really see anything through that
door when you open it.

Now you've opened it and you've got 12
feet before the next door. If you're walking normally,
you're going to focus cut in the distance. You're not
going to look at-your feet. Or you're going to focus
right where you're going to grab.

And you can figure out where a person's
peripheral vision starts and where their central vision
starts bésed on how tall they are and the Frankfort

plane and how far that Frankfort plane will extend.
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Anything that's below that, a person is
not likely to perceive unless it is in high contrast.
Q. When you reviewed the video surveillance
DVD, were you able to discern the color of the marble
flooring where the spill area was?
A, I don't recall that I could discern one
way or the other. I wasn't looking to see if I could

discern that.

Q. Were you able to discern where the spill
was?

A, No, I couldn't see where the spill was.

Q. Is that part of the reason you're assuming
there was no -- I think your word was there was no

contrast between the vomit and the marble flooring?

A. Well, no, that's not my reasoning. I
mean, I know what color the flooring was, and I'm
assuming that this, being vomit, was probably from a
lot of alcoholic drinks, so it was probably pretty much
alcohol.

But liquids don't show up that well on
floors. A lot of times I'11 do testing, and during the
test, I'll take pictures of the test I'm doing, and
it's very hard to see the water on the floor in my
photcgraphs.

You'd have to have great contrast, like
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stark white on top of the black, green on top of red,
where everything is red and all of a suddeﬁ you've got
a green spot, or something that's moving. Moving is
the best contrast.

Q. This isn't water, though. We're talking
about vomit. So'you're not assuming it was colorless?

A. No, but I think it would be wvery hard to
pick up. And the other thing is that it would never be
in her central vision.

It -- she would never have the opportunity
to look right at that and say, "Hey, that's vomit on
the floor. I better watch out.”

Q; Just sb I understand, once she opens the
door -- this is a hypothetical. Once she opens the
door, where is her field of direction at that point?
What I mean by that is, how many feet off in the
distance is her field of vision?

A. Well, yoﬁ can -- your eye is taking
information for everything that you can see, but
whether it actually perceives that and sends
information to your brain on what it is depends on the
strength of the signal.

In this case it's going to be the strength
of the contrast. When she walks through that dcoor, as

I said, when that spill would be maybe within her
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central vision, she's probably too far away for it to
be in contrast. |

And we know that the doors are tinted, and
she comes into the door, and now with the next door,
shé will be focusing on where she's going to place her
hand.

And if she wasn't doing that, she's still
going to be looking off in the distance, and the spill
is below that. 1Is it within her visual plane? Sure.
But it's in her peripherals.

Q. When you say she's going to be looking off
in the distance, how many feet off in the distance are
you assuming most people.in that situation would be
loocking?

A. They look quite a ways down, and it

depends on their height.

0. Twenty feet? She's only 4'11", correct?
A Well, if we were to do the calculation --
Q. You're going to do a calculation for a

4'11" person?
A. Yeah.
Q. Ckay. Thank you.
(Discussion off the record.)}

THE WITNESS: If you have a person that's

41'11", their central vision is going tc extend -- or
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their peripheral vision will extend out about 17 to 25
feet from where they're currently standing.
BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. Okay.

A. S0 anything that's less than 17 feet, you
could be pretty sure that they won't pick it up unless
it's in high contrast.

Q. Unless it's in their central wvision?

A. Well, in order for it to be in their
central vision, they would have to look down on the
ground.

Q. If it was 12 feet in front of them, they
wouldn't have to look right down at the ground.

I understand what you've been saying about

the Frank -- is it the Frankfurt field of vision?
A. Frankfurt plane.
Q. Another way of asking these questions is

to try to find out how far off in the distance that
begins.
A, Right. And it could begin as close as --
for a 4'11" person, it could begin as close as 17 feet.
Q. If you go down to the last paragraph of
. page 3 of your October 13 report -- and we've talked
about these already, the specs and bid forms in your

file from Allard & Conversano Design. In your report,
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you say that those documents indicate that the flooring
must be tested to meet a 0.6 wet coefficient of
friction.

MR. ZIMMERMAN: You misgstated it. It said
must be treated. You saild tested.

BY MR; McGRATH:

Q. I'm sorry. Must be treated. I agree.

Can you find for me the exact
specifications that you're relying on to support your
opinion that the project specifications required the
marble flooring to meet a 0.6 wet coefficient of
friction?

A. Well, it's exactly what it says. 1It's the
documents that I reviewed from Allard & Conversano
Design. I have to take all these pictures out.

Q. What I'm really trying to get at is, is
there just one spec or is there more than one that says
that?

A. Well, they all basically say it. It Jjust
says -- under "Notes," it says, "Stone flooring must be
treated to meet .6 wet coefficient of -friction ADA.
Finish may require adjustment and/or slip-resistant
topical post-installation procedure.

Q. And you don't know if that was actually a

part of the approved set of plans and specifications?
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You're assuming that, correct?

A. Well, I'm just reading what it says.

0. No, I understand that, but what you're
reading, you don't know if that was a part of the
approved plans and specifications for the project?

A, No, I don't know, but --

MR. ZIMMERMAN: If you had produced those,
then he may. |

MR. McGRATH: It's a speaking objection.

THE WITNESS: That's what I was going to
gay, 1s just that this is what these documents said,
and if there's other documents that have greater weight
than these, they probably should have been provided
with the disclosure of documents.

This is what I'm relying on. I didn't use
it for any of my opinions whether the floor was safe or
not. I'm just saying that the person who made out this
form was aware of what the ADA recommendation is, and
they understand that those areas could become wet, and
those are foreseeable conditions, so, therefore, they
would héve to be in a wet condition.

BY MR. McGRATH:
Q. Well, you believe that the marble flooring

can't pass that standard, correct?

A. That's not what I said. I said you'd have
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to etch it. You'd have to do something. The marble
the way it is, it will never pass unless you do
something to it.

Q. When you etch it, what does it typically
lock like after you're done etching it?

A. Tt'g dull, a matte finish. 1It's not as
aesthetically pleasing, but are we talking about
aesthetics or safety?

Q. Well, is it your opinion that if this is,
in fact, what Allard & Conversano was requiring, that
it was negligent on their part to do so because marble
flooring can't pass that criteria unless you etch it,
as you've described?

A. I mean, what they're saying is that finish
may require adjustment and/or slip-resistant topical
post-installation procedure, so they're recognizing
that -- well, they're saying it may not meet this, but
I think they probably know it's not going to.

Q. If you wrote that, you wouldn't use the
word "may," would you? You'd say "definitely will.
require"?

a. I wouldn't have written this thing in the
first place. I wouldn't have recommended marble.

Q. That's where I'm going. You think it's

negligent for a designer to recommend marble in a
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public accomodation building like this one unless they
say you've got to put carpets and mats down?

A. No. I think you have to consider the
area, and in this case we have an entry vestibule that
has no surveillance within it. You can't see through
it.

The only way that hotel management is
going to find out about a spill that's in there is if
the person that created the spill told them or somebody
glse walked in and noticed it.

And I wouldn't think anybody is going to
notice it walking through there except for the person
that vomited, until somebody falls on it, and in that
area you're going to have falls when spills océur.

You know, you look at all those documents
that I was provided for other instant reports involving
falls, and almost every one of them, it says
specifically occurred on a wet surface. There's some

that doesn't gay one way or the other, but --

- Q. It doesn't surprise you, does 1t?
A, What's that?
Q. That it occurs on a wet surface.
A. No. That's my whole philosophy, that dry

surfaces are not slippery. Wet surfaces can be,

depending on their surface disparities.
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Q. But most people know wet marble is going
to be slippery?

A. If it's shiny, smooth marble, yeah, it's
going to be slippery, but you'd have to have the
foreknowledgé that it's wet.

0. You didn't review any documents that
indicated one way or the other whether the marble
flooring was tested by the flooring contractor after it
was installed, to meet the Allard specification?

A. No, I didn't see that, but if there's
somebody out there that says that it did, I will say
they're a liar.

Q. Let's assume hypothetically that somebody
tested it and it did pass the test. Would the owner
have to do anything in terms of maintenance to maintain
the slip resistance of the original installation?

I guess it's not a fair hypothetical
because you already assume there's no way it's going to
pass the test, but assuming it did immediately after
it's constructed, would you expect the slip resistance

to fade or wear away?

A. Again, it depends. There's a lot of
factors. If -- for example, limestone could start
off -- this isn't limestone, obviously, but it could

start off smooth, and as people walk on it and water
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gets on it, it becomes actually more rough.

There might be some things that may become
more polished and you actually wear away the surface
disparities with your feet almost like you're honing
it.

Q. Would you recommend to any architect that
was going to specify marble flooring in a public
accomodation that it not only be tested after
installation, but every six months, every three months,
to ensure that it has maintained its slip resistance?

A. Well, I think you have to start at the
beginning. I would never recommend marble for this
‘area.

But if -- and if my clients -- if I was a
marble installer or a flecor installer, which I'm not,
and a client said, "I want marble in this entry
vestibule," I'd say, "It's against my conscience. T
can't put it in there, unless we totally dull it down
and make it loock kind of ugly, or I could recommend
other things you could put in there, but I would not
install marble in that specific area."

Q. You don't know one way or ancother whether
the owner asked for marble or it was proposed by a

designer or contractor?

A. Tt's of no issue to me.
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Q. But in your mind, any of the designers
that are involved in either suggesting marble flcoring
or approving the suggestion by somebody else are doing
something you wouldn't recommend?

A. Well, for that area, yeah, but I think
that the person that wrote this out.had some knowledge
of pedestrian safety, and I think that they were
covering their butt by saying that the finish may have
to be treated and taken care of.

Because I think anybody that cares about
pedestrian safety is going to know that shiny marble is
not going to be slip resistant under contaminated
conditions.

Q. Have you reviewed the report by the
defense experts, S.C. Wright Construction, regarding

their dry testing --

A. I have.

0. -- of the vestibule area?

A. I have.

0. Do you recall their conclusions or

opinions as to why wet testing should not be the
applicable standard?
A. Because they don't know what they're

talking about.

Q. I understand.
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What I want you to do is tell me why you
disagree with their opinions and conclusions in that
regard.

A. Let me get down here to the report.

Q. Do you have that in there? Because I
don't have an extra copy. I think what we're focusing
on is the last paragraph of the first page continuing
on to the second.

A. I'd like to start off by saying if they
think they're going to argue with me about this stuff,
they're barking up the wrong tree because, number one,
I was taught directly by William English how to use the
English XL. I am certified. They're not. They were
not taught by William English. They're not a member of
F13.

Q. What ig F13?

A. it's Pedestrian Walkway Safety and
Traction. It's a division of ASTM. And the guy is a
member of ASTM, but he's in construction, not
pedestrian safety.

Also, I've been the chairman of the
standard that governs the English XL. I've written
standards for pedestrian safety for ASTM,

We'll just get down here to --

Q. . That's something different than what 1'm
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looking at. Why don't I give you my copy. What i want
you to do is review the beginning of this last
paragraph on page 1 of their December 3, 2008, report,
which I see you have a December 31. So this is a
preliminary that I'm looking at.

MR. ZIMMERMAN: 1I'd like to see the one
.that wasn't produced that you have.
BY MR. McGRATH:
| Q. Take a lock at it. You guys can make

copies afterwards.

A. Ckay. What was your question?
0. My question is, they're saying that you
cannot use the wet test because you're -- they're

explaining that it is William English, inventor of the
English 40 and author of the book "Pedestrian Slip
Resistance, How To Measure It and How To Improve It,"
defines SCOF as "The force required to initiate
relative motion between an object and a surface it is
in intimate contact with. It is inherent that the two
surfaces must be in direct contact with each other. If
there is anything on the interface, you are not
measuring SCOF. One cannot take an SCOF reading on a
wet floor. It is for this reason that recent ASTM
standards for SCOF measurements specify dry conditions

only."
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The way I understand that is they're
saying if there's liquid between your measuring device
and the floor, you're putting something in between and
then you're not getting a true measurement.

A. What they've done is -- they're either
intentionally trying to mislead the reader or they
don't know what they're talking about, because they
just took a small snippet that kind of meets what
they're trying to say.

I agree with that. I agree that if you
are measuring a dry surface with the English XL, that
you're measuring SCOF.

I agree that if you have anything in
between preventing intimate contact between the two
surfaces, you're not testing SCOF.

That's why in the beginning I said we're
testing slip resistance. SCOF is for pacts. It's for
people that aren't educated in this business.

We all know that SCOF has nothing to do
with pedestrian safety because in order to measure
SCOF, like you pointed out, the surface has to be dry.
And dry surfaces are not slippery, so it's not even

interésting to a person that's involved in pedestrian

safety.
He goes on to say that -- he starts
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talking about that when you measure it wet, that you're
measuring DCOF. You're not.

Q. What is DCOF?

A, Dynamic coefficient of friction, and that
has nothing to do with pedestrian safety either,
because dynamic coefficient of friction is the measure
of the force required to keep an object in sliding
motion at a given acceleration or velocity once sliding
has occurred.

Q. My question is not meant to be
argumentative, but I'm asking it because you've
testified that you have been involved in writing
pedestrian safety standards for the ASTM.

A, That's correct.

Q. How come the ASTM standards, then, don't
expressly state that the wet testing is the applicable
standard for measuring the coefficient of friction?

A, There is nothing that says that that's
what you're supposed to do except for the equipment

that cannot measure anything wet.

Q. My question is, why not?
A, Well, there's a lot of reasons. I mean,
if you want to get all into it -- there's egquipment out

there that's manufactured by people that want to

continue manufacturing it, and it's only good for
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testing dry surfaces, because in order to accurately
meter a wet surface, you have to apply the vertical
forces and the horizontal forces at exactlyrthe same
moment in time.

If you take and you set a test block down
on a wet surface and then you test it, it's invalid
because there's a phenomenon called stiction where
there's a cohesion, and it gives you false high
numbers.

That's why William English and
Mr. Brungraber invented their machines, which do apply
the forces, and those are the only two machines that
are approved for wet testing.

I mean, it says specifically, "Do not use
the HPS for wet testing. Do not use the Model 80.
Don't uge the Tortus," but what it does say is you can
use the English XL or the Brungraber Mark III or II. I
use the English XL.

0. I want to make sure I understand
gomething. So arriving at your opinioné regarding the
application of the wet testing to the marble flooring,
I think we've already discussed, you're relying on the
ADAAG manual?

A. Right.

Q. You're relying on ANSI?
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A. Right.
Q. And ASTM?
A. Right.
Q. Anything else?
A. OSHA.
Q. What OSHA standard specifically?

A. OSHA 1926.754, Section ¢, paragraph 3!
And it says specifically that "You have to achieve a
minimum average slip resistance of .5 when measured
with an English XL tribometer or equivalent tester on a
wetted surface."”

Q. Why is that applicable to this case here?
When I hear OSHA, I think of worker safety standaxds.

A. Well, it's another standard that's talking
about pedestrian safety. I mean, you think that a
person at a job has a greater right to safety than a
guest ét a hotel?

0. It probably was a poor question. I mean,
why do you believe OSHA applies to an owner building a
casino -- well, not building a casino, but after the
construction is complete, why 1s OSHA applicable to
anything?

A. It's not directly applicable. 1It's a
standard for occupational safety and health, but it's a

standard that's out there that says specifically --
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6

where your expert says there is no standard, that says
wet testing or .5. It says exactly that. He's not
aware of what standards are out there.

You know, we can stick our heads in the
sand all we want and we can argue over .5. We can
argue over .6. We can argue over slip resistance.

I use the definition for slip resistant
that's accepted by ADA, by ANSI, by ASTM. And I know
las a pedestrian safety expert, who is thoroughly
invelved in gait analysis, what is required to make a
gafe walking surface.

It does us no good to measure a surface
dry and say this is a great surface when it's going to
be wet sometimes and it's not so great then.

Q. I understand your opinion and I understand
your testimony. The only thing -- you keep saying
"required," and I think we've established that those
are all accepted standards that are recommended by ANSI
and ADA,

AL When I say "required," it's what I know to
be the requirement to prevent people from slipping.

Q. I understand.

Okay. If you give me a moment, I just
want to look through the file.

and you said that your billings are not

VEN 2895
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included in here, correct?
A. No. I can provide those to you, though.
Q. What's your hourly rate for your work on
this case?
A. It's the same as every case. It's 250 an

hour and 350 an hour for testimony.

0. Okay. And trial time?

A. It's 350 an hour.

Q. It's 350 also?

A, Well, the 350 an hour is specifically for

the amount of time I'm sitting on the stand. All the
rest, if I'm sitting in the hallway, it's 250.

Q. First of all, did you notice the plaintiff
to have any discernible gait as she opened the door and
before she actually slipped and fell?

A. Yeah. I read your medical doctor's
report, and I noticed something there.

Q. Did you factor that in in terms of
arriving at your opinions as to why she slipped and
fell?

A. No, because if you have a Trendelenberg
gait, you could likely have a greater traction demand,
and that's why the ADA standard wants to pump it up a
little bit. I'm not holding them to that. I'm only

holding them to .5.
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0. Did you observe what looked like to you to

be a Trendelen gait?

A. Trendelenberg?

Q. Yeah, sorry.

A. Maybe ever so slightly. What we have
is -- there's two types of gait analysis you can do.

There's observational gait analysis, and there's
scientific gait analysis.

Scientific gait analysis involves kinetics
and kinematics that are determined from a force plate
and motion capture systems, whereas observational gait
analysis is where you do nothing more than watch a
person walk.

Q. That's all you could do here, right?

A, Right. And we're kind of at a little bit
of a disadvantage in that observational gait analysis
should be done from directly behind a person, and
obviously you wouldn't want that person to be carrying
anything. She's'got a bag in her -- or something in
her right hand.

But what I can see there is that if there
is a slight waddling, it's on the right side, and what
would that indicate is that when she's walking, when
she's in stance phase with her right leg, it looks like

her body leans ever so slightly to the right, and then
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when she's in stance with the left, it returns to
vertical.

And what that would indicate 1is that she
has a deficiency.in her hip abductors on her right
side.

Now, it's ever so slight because it's
almost imperceivable, and it could be caused by her
carrying that bag on the right side.

But in this case she fractured her left
hip. The left hip is the dominant hip, if you look at
the video. Her left hip is the good hip, prior to the
accident.

Q.  What you observed relating to her right
hip or maybe related to the slight gait you observed,

was that a factor that caused her to slip?

A. It may have been. I don't know.
Q. You don't know. How about the fact that
she's holding -- I believe she's holding a drink, but

she's holding an item other than just having the purse
or the bag around her right shoulder. She's also got

an item in her right hand.

A. Well --
Q. Correct?
A. She's got a -- she had a drink in her left
hand.
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Q. I apolcgize.

So you observe her to be holding a drink
in her left hand, and then she had a bag around her
right shoulder?

A. Okay. Just to straighten this up, I can
cbserve the bag on her right shoulder. I can't observe
anything in her left hand, but her depcsition testimony
was such that she said she had a drink in her left
hand.

Q. Would the fact that someone was carrying a
drink in a hand contribute to or incréase the
likelihood that they would slip and fall?

A, To my knowledge, there's been no studies
done that indicate whether carrying a drink has any
effect one way or another. I would think not.

The bag, it would depend on how heavy it
is and a lot of other factors.

Q. So there's been no studies done on-whether
gomeone holding a drink is more or less likely to lose

their balance?

A. Yeah, T would say that it would make no
difference.
Q. Tell me, because you're an expert and I'm

just as a layperson, it seems to me sometimes people

try to avoid spilling a drink, and they might slip and
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1

fall because they try to avoid spilling a drink. Is
that something that's completely an unreasonable

assumption?

vomit? Incomplete hypothetical.

THE WITNESS: 1In this case we know that

toco concerned about their drink unless they're on
unsure footing.
I think if you have good traction

.underneath and you're walking in a normal manner, I
think that your drink is probably pretty safe and so
are you.
BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. But for someone who sgsteps on a floor
surface that's wet if they're holding a drink in one
hand, in your opinion, does that make it more or less

likely that they're going to fall?

things I know, that it probably wouldn’'t make any
difference because you're most likely going to drop

that drink once you begin to slip and fall.

think or believe that her left hip was her good hip

before the incident.

MR. ZIMMERMAN: And might slip and fall on

she slipped on vomit. I don't think a persoﬁ would be

L. It would be my opinion, just based on the

Q. And we at least have established that you
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A. Ch, clearly.
Q. Did she slip on her right foot or her left

foot, i1f you could tell?

A. Her left foot slipped.

Q. And you didn't observe her right foot to
slip on anything?

A, No. It was during stance phase with her
left foot that the siip occurred.

Q. And describe for me how she fell in terms.
of the mechanics, what you observed.

A. It's very hard to see exactly what
happened, but from watching her walk and when she began
to fall, it is evident to me that it occurred when the
left foot was in stance, and it looked asg if she fell
to her left onto her left hip. |

Q. When you say left foot was in. stance, does
that mean her left leg is extended straight?

A. No. It's on the ground and her right foot
is in swing, was in the swing phase.

Q. I think that's all I have. I want to
thank you for coming here today..

A. Okay.

0. It looks like we went an hour and 35
minutes, so could you give me, so we have it on the

vecord, your tax ID number, if you have it handy?
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Sure. I know it. It's B86-0884947.
Thank you again. It's Dr. Elliot?

It's just David.

° B oo P

Thank you for being here today.

MR. GOLDMAN: The plaintiff reserves the
right to have Mr. Elliot review his deposition
transcript and make any changes he desires to make.
BY MR. McGRATH:

Q. I'd just ask before we go off the record
again that you maintain this file and that if you add
anything to it, you indicate to counsel so that we know
if there's anything else put into the file.

A. Okay.

MR. ZIMMERMAN: Are you going to give us a
copy of that -- |

MR. GOLDMAN: Are we off the record? Are
you done?
MR. McGRATH: Yes.
THE COURT REPORTER: Do you want a copy?
MR. GOLDMAN: No.
(Deposition Exhibit 41 marked.)

(Whereupon the deposition

was concluded at 1:35 p.m.)
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DEPOCSITION CORRECTION SHEET
PAGE LINE CHANGE FROM TO REASON
DEPONENT'S SIGNATURE:
STATE OF COUNTY OF
Subscribed and sworn to before me this day
of , 2009,
NOTARY PUBLIC .
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CERTIFICATE OF DEPONENT

I, DAVID ALLEN ELLIQOTT, P.E., deponent herein,
do hereby certify and declare the within and foregoing
transcription to be my deposition in said action; that
I ﬁave read, corrected, and do hereby affix my

gignature to said deposition.

DAVID ALLEN ELLIOTT, P.E.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this

day of , 2009.

Notary Public
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